PRECISIONSM RESOLUTION TARGETS



PM-1 3½"x4" PHOTOGRAPHIC MICROCOPY TARGET NBS 1010a ANSI/ISO #2 EQUIVALENT





National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your life Votre référence

Our the Notre référence

AVIS

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

NOTICE

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments. La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'universite nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SPC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

Canadä

University of Alberta

Moisture Movement Through Municipal Solid Waste

by

Mark Anthony Uguccioni



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

in

Environmental Engineering

Department of Civil Engineering

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 1995



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

THE AUTHOR HAS GRANTED AN IRREVOCABLE NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENCE ALLOWING THE NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA TO REPRODUCE, LOAN, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL COPIES OF HIS/HER THESIS BY ANY MEANS AND IN ANY FORM OR FORMAT, MAKING THIS THESIS AVAILABLE TO INTERESTED PERSONS.

L'AUTEUR A ACCORDE UNE LICENCE IRREVOCABLE ET NON EXCLUSIVE PERMETTANT A LA BIBLIOTHEQUE NATIONALE DU CANADA DE REPRODUIRE, PRETER, DISTRIBUER OU VENDRE DES COPIES DE SA THESE DE QUELQUE MANIERE ET SOUS QUELQUE FORME QUE CE SOIT POUR METTRE DES EXEMPLAIRES DE CETTE THESE A LA DISPOSITION DES PERSONNE INTERESSEES.

THE AUTHOR RETAINS OWNERSHIP OF THE COPYRIGHT IN HIS/HER THESIS. NEITHER THE THESIS NOR SUBSTANTIAL EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT HIS/HER PERMISSION.

L'AUTEUR CONSERVE LA PROPRIETE DU DROIT D'AUTEUR QUI PROTEGE SA THESE. NI LA THESE NI DES EXTRAITS SUBSTANTIELS DE CELLE-CÍ NE DOIVENT ETRE IMPRIMES OU AUTREMENT REPRODUITS SANS SON AUTORISATION.

ISBN 0-612-06548-0



University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Mark Anthony Uguccioni

Title of Thesis: Moisture Movement Through Municipal Solid Waste

Degree: Master of Science

Year this Degree Granted: 1995

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

208 Tanguay Avenue Sudbury, Ontario P3C 5G6

Date: (11) (11) (11)

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled **Moisture Movement Through Municipal Solid Waste** submitted by **Mark Anthony Uguccioni** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master** of Science in Environmental Engineering.

Dr. C. A. Zeiss - Supervisor

an Anav

Dr. T. Y. Gan

Iendoza

Date: July 6, 1993

To my Family and Friends...

Who make me who I am.

ABSTRACT

An experiment was performed to determine if channeling through municipal solid waste (MSW) occurs on a pilot scale, and to determine if infiltration intensity, waste compaction, and density affect moisture movement through MSW. Also, the HELP model (Schroeder et. al., 1994) and a two-domain fractured - porous media model, PREFLO (Workman and Skaggs, 1990), were used to simulate the experimental leachate discharge.

The results show that channeling is a significant flow mechanism, and that infiltration intensity and waste density significantly affect moisture movement. The HELP model was shown to be more capable of predicting moisture movement than PREFLO when input parameters were adjusted to account for channeling. However breakthrough time is predicted better by PREFLO.

The effects of channeling should be considered when modeling leachate discharge from landfills, and a two-domain model should be developed to model moisture movement. Also, more research into MSW properties such as moisture content - capillary pressure characteristic is needed.

ACKNOWELDGEMENT

I would like to thank the members of my advisory committee, Dr. Carl Mendoza, and Dr. Thian Yew Gan for their valuable suggestions for refining my work. I would especially like to thank my supervisor, Chris Zeiss, for challenging me to make something out of nothing, thereby giving me the confidence to do anything.

I also wish to thank Dr. Steve Workman, formally of the USDA-ARS, Soil Drainage Research Unit, for his guidance and advice during my modification of his PREFLO model, and Dr. Paul Schroeder of the U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, for his guidance on the HELP model, and for his time in reviewing this document.

My thanks also go out to Mr. Peter Zyrmiak, Ms. Patricia Sawka, Mr. Wayne Arbour and the staff at Waste Management Incorporated's West Edmonton Landfill and Recycle Facility. I could not have completed this project without their assistance.

Mr. Garry Solonynko and Mr. Nick Chernuka of the Civil Engineering Department of the University of Alberta also deserve many thanks for giving me technical and moral support throughout my graduate student career.

Finally, I wish to thank my special friend, Vicky, for supporting me and making my life happier in the past two years, as well as my family and friends who gave me the support to finish this project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 PROBLEM STATEMENT AND RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	
1.2 SIGNIFICANCE	
1.3 SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS	2
1.4 OVERVIEW OF THESIS	
2 LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORY DEVELOPMENT	
2.1 MOISTURE MOVEMENT THROUGH MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE	4
2.1.1 Water Balance	
2.1.2 Flow Through Porous Media	
2.1.3 Flow Through Fractured Media	
2.1.4 Flow Through Fractured - Porous Media	20
2.2 FACTORS INFLUENCING MOISTURE MOVEMENT	
2.2.1 Municipal South Maste Composition and Properties	23
2.2.2 Environmented and Landfill Operating Conditions	26
2.3 EVALUATED MODELS	29
2.4 SUMMARY AND HYPOTHESES	
3 METHOD	
3.1 MOISTURE MOVEMENT EXPERIMENT	
3.1.1 Experimental Design	
3.1.2 Experimental Setup	
3.1.3 Statistical Methods	
3.2 MOISTURE MOVEMENT MODELING	
3.2.1 Evaluation of Models	43
3.2.2 Comparison of Model Results	
3.3 SUPPLEMENTARY EXPERIMENTS	
4 RESULTS AND ANALYSIS	
4.1 MOISTURE MOVEMENT EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS	54
4.1.1 Experimental Cell Results	
4.1.2 fensiometer Results	
4.1.3 Flow-Cup Grid Results	
4.1.4 Factorial Analysis of Environmental and Operational Condition Hypotheses	
4.2 MOISTURE MOVEMENT MODELING RESULTS	
4.2.1 HELP Model Results	
4.2.2 PREFLO Model Results	
5 SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND FURTHER RESEARCH	
5.1 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
5.2 SIGNIFICANCE AND FURTHER RESEARCH	147
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Defined Range of Macropore Sizes for Soil	6
Table 2.2: Differences Between Matrix and Channeled Flow	
Table 2.3: Typical Values of Physical and Hydraulic Properties of MSW Found in the Literature	23
Table 3.1 Settings of Experimental Cells	
Table 3.2: Settings of Main Factors for Factorial Analyses	
Table 3.3: Checklist Parameters	44
Table 3.4: Scores of the Top Models Evaluated	
Table 3.5: Overall Model Rankings	46
Table 3.6: Physical Properties of Channels Determined from Supplementary Experiment	50
Table 3.7: Flow Area Estimated from Tracer Test	51
Table 4.1: Experimental Cell Data	55
Table 4.2: Values of Moisture Movement Variables	77
Table 4.3: Calculated Pore Diameters Using Critical Reynolds Number.	78
Table 4.4: Summary Statistics of Tensiometer Data	90
Table 4.5: Percentage Number of Flow-Cups Discharging During Water Addition	91
Table 4.6: Number of Significant Cases from ANOVA Analysis (Sub-hypothesis A)	92
Table 4.7: Number of Significant Cases from Difference of Means Test (Sub-hypothesis B)	93
Table 4.8: Table of Main Effects and Probability of Infiltration Intensity, Compaction, and Waste De on Moisture Movement Variables	ensity 95
Table 4.9: Table of Interactions and Probability for Infiltration Intensity-Compaction, and Infiltration Intensity-Waste Density on Moisture Movement Variables	n 96
Table 4.10: Summary Table of Significance of Main Effects on Moisture Movement Variables	
Table 4.11: Input Parameters for HELP Simulations	101
Table 4.12: Summary Table of Measured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for Low Infiltration Intensity Compaction Cells 1 and 3	, Low 121
Table 4.13: Summary Table of Measured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for Low Infiltration Intensity High Compaction Cells 2 and 4	, 122
Table 4.14: Summary Table of Measured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for High Infiltration Intensity Low Compaction Cells 5 and 7	, ,123
Table 4.15: Summary Table of Measured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for High Infiltration Intensity High Compaction Cells 6 and 8	γ.
Table 4.16: Input Parameters for PREFLO Simulations	
Table 4.17: Summary Table of Predictive Ability of HELP and PREFLO to Model Moisture Moveme Through MSW	ent

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Uniform Wetting Front	9
Figure 2.2: Water Balance	. 11
Figure 2.3: Hydraulic Head Determination	. 16
Figure 2.4: Flow Through Fractured Media	. 19
Figure 2.5: Flow Through Fractured - Porous Media	. 22
Figure 2.6: Cause-Effect Diagram of Factors Influencing Moisture Movement	. 28
Figure 3.1: Experimental Cell	. 36
Figure 3.2: Flow-cup Grid	. 37
Figure 3.3: Data From Moisture Content - Capillary Pressure Curve Supplementary Experiment Fitted the Brooks-Corey Equation	
Figure 3.4: Sample Cross-Section for Supplementary Channel Flow Experiment	. 53
Figure 4.1: Change in Waste Bulk Density Over Time for Low Compaction Cells	. 56
Figure 4.2: Change in Waste Bulk Density Over Time for High Compaction Cells	57
Figure 4.3: Change in Waste Height Over Time for Low Compaction Cells	58
Figure 4.4: Change in Waste Height Over Time for High Compaction Cells	59
Figure 4.5: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 1	
Figure 4.6: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 3	
Figure 4.7: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compactio Cell 2	
Figure 4.8: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compactio Cell 4	
Figure 4.9: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 5	
Figure 4.10: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compacti Cell 7	
Figure 4.11: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compact Cell 6	tion 67
Figure 4.12: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compact Cell 8	
Figure 4.13: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 1	69
Figure 4.14: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 3	70
Figure 4.15: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 2	71

Figure 4.16: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 4
Figure 4.17: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 5
Figure 4.18: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 7
Figure 4.19: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 6
Figure 4.20: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 8
Figure 4.21: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 1 - Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.22: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 3 - Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.23: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 2 - Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.24: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 4 - Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.25: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 5 - High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.26: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 7 - High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.27: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 6 - High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.28: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 8 - High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)
Figure 4.29: Sample of Discrete and Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Default HELP Simulations - Cell 1
Figure 4.30: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)
Figure 4.31: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)
Figure 4.32: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)
Figure 4.33: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)
Figure 4.34: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)
Figure 4.35: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)
Figure 4.36: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)

Figure 4.37: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)	110
Figure 4.38: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for Low Infiltrat Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)	
Figure 4.39: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for Low Infiltrat Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cclls 2 and 4)	
Figure 4.40: Piscrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)	.115
Figure 4.4 1: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compacting Cells (Cells 6 and 8)	.116
Figure 4.42: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)	.117
Figure 4.43: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)	.118
Figure 4.44: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)	.119
Figure 4.45: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)	.120
Figure 4.46: Sample of Discrete and Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Default PREFLO Simulations - Cell 1	.127
Figure 4.47: Sample of Discrete and Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated PREFLO Simulations - Cell 1	
Figure 4.48: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)	.131
Figure 4.49: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)	.132
Figure 4.50: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)	.133
Figure 4.51: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)	.134
Figure 4.52: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)	.135
Figure 4.53: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)	.136
Figure 4.54: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)	137
Figure 4.55: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)	138

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 PROBLEM STATEMENT AND RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

Moisture movement through solid waste has a significant effect on the quantity of leachate generated from municipal solid waste (MSW) landfills (Korfiatis et. al., 1984). Moisture movement is affected by various environmental and operational factors such as infiltration intensity and compaction (Rovers and Farquhar, 1973; Jasper, et. al., 1985). The mechanisms and patterns of moisture movement through MSW, and the factors affecting it, are, therefore, important in accurately predicting leachate quantity. Models commonly used to predict leachate quantity, such as HELP (Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance, Schroeder et. al., 1994), represent moisture movement through MSW as onedimensional Darcian flow through homogeneous porous media. However, previous studies have shown that due to the heterogeneity of waste, water flow through conduits between adjacent waste particles, or channeling, is also a significant flow mechanism (Zeiss and Major, 1993). Moisture movement may be more accurately represented by a model which accounts for both Darcian flow and channeling. More accurate prediction of moisture movement through municipal solid waste leads to greater accuracy in the prediction of leachate quantity.

The goals of this research, then, are to determine if channeling is significant on a larger scale then was previously used to study moisture movement, to determine which environmental and operating conditions affect moisture movement through MSW, and to determine if accounting for channeling to predict moisture movement yields better results than not considering channeling. The problem stated above may be resolved by satisfying various research objectives. These objectives are:

- Collect models used to describe moisture flow through municipal solid waste as well as other models
 describing flow through porous, fractured, and fractured porous media which could be applied to
 solid waste based on a literature review.
- 2. Perform literature review to determine environmental and operational factors which affect the mechanisms of moisture movement through municipal solid waste.
- 3. Rank the models according to their applicability of modeling moisture movement through MSW based on how each accounts for waste and flow characteristics, environmental and landfill operating conditions such as infiltration intensity and waste compaction, and the type of information the model provides. Applicability is determined through the use of a checklist developed from previous experimental results and a literature review.
- 4. Perform an experiment to determine if channeling occurs on a larger scale system than has been previously tested, and, test the effects of the environmental and operational conditions identified in the literature on moisture movement through solid waste (see objective 2).

- 5. Calibrate both the HELP model and the highest ranking model collection from the literature using previous and supplementary experimental results and literature values.
- 6. Test both models using pilot-scale experimental results and determine which model more accurately predicts moisture movement through MSW (with respect to leachate discharge).
- Analyze and discuss further areas of research and model modifications to enable more accurate prediction of moisture flow through municipal solid waste.

1.2 SIGNIFICANCE

Previous moisture movement studies focusing on channeling were performed on bench-scale cells. These cells may have biased the results towards channeling due to wall effects (Major, 1993). Therefore, it is important to determine the presence of channeling on a pilot-scale because this would show that wall effects are not the main cause of channeling. Should channeling occur on a pilot-scale system, it is likely to occur on larger scale systems, such as MSW landfills, which experience similar environmental and operating conditions.

Also, channeling implies that the moisture content of the waste varies over a landfill. If channeling occurs, then, it would affect methane generation and biodegradation in the landfill because moisture significantly affects both of these processes (Klink and Ham, 1982; Hartz and Ham, 1983). Controls to optimize the effects of infiltration intensity, compaction, and waste density on leachate generation could be implemented in landfill operations should these factors significantly affect moisture movement. For example, if compaction is found to increase the storage capacity of MSW, the compactive effort applied to the waste before landfilling may be increased to raise the storage capacity and limit leachate generation. Furthermore, legislation (such as the United States' Subtitle D of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act - RCRA; U.S. EPA, 1991) limits maximum leachate head on a liner to 30 cm, it is therefore necessary to evaluate the HELP model which is commonly used to design and monitor landfills to determine if it accurately predicts moisture flow through the landfill, thus, accurately predicting leachate head on a liner. Also, in the design of leachate collection systems it is necessary to know the peak and average leachate volumes, as well as the time of peak flow and the duration of the leachate event (Korfiatis and Demetracopoulos, 1986; Demetracopoulos, 1988; McEnroe, 1988, Peyton and Schroeder, 1990; Tchobanoglous, et. al., 1993). It is therefore necessary to evaluate how, and how well existing models predict these quantities.

1.3 SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS

The term moisture, used in this study, refers to water in a liquid state. Both precipitation and leachate are referred to as moisture. The gas phase of water is not included in this definition.

In addition to leachate quantify, moisture affects leachate quality and methane generation rates. However, the scope of this study is limited to the effects of moisture movement on leachate quantity only. Also, the municipal solid waste used for the experimental portion of the study was collected from residential areas of Edmonton, in mid-October, and early November, 1994. The characteristics of the waste, listed in the results section, should be noted before the results of this study are applied to other waste streams (e.g., commercial waste, or municipal waste generated in the summer) to ensure these results are applicable. Finally, the experiment was performed to examine unsaturated moisture movement in pilot-scale cells. The scale of the experiment should be considered before applying the information stated in this thesis to full scale landfills.

1.4 OVERVIEW OF THESIS

The thesis is structured so existing theory on moisture movement can be discussed, followed by the experimental and statistical methods used to investigate moisture movement through municipal solid waste. The experimental results and analysis are then presented, followed by a summary and a list of conclusions and areas of further study. Each chapter first considers the process of channeling, followed by the effects of environmental and operational factors on moisture movement, and finishes with the modeling of moisture movement through waste.

The next chapter, Chapter 2, presents a review of previous studies of moisture movement through solid waste. Also, various methods of representing moisture flow through solid waste are discussed. These include the water balance method, as well as flow through porous media, flow through fractured media and flow through fractured - porous media. Environmental and operating conditions which affect moisture movement are discussed, as is the nature and characteristics of solid waste. Models representing the various methods of representing moisture movement are also listed. Finally, the theory is synthesized into hypothesis which are tested using experimental results.

Chapter 3 presents the experimental methods and the evaluation of the models collected from the literature review. The statistical methods used to analyze these results are also presented in this chapter.

Chapter 4 presents and discusses the experimental results with respect to channeling, environmental and operating conditions, and modeling of unsisture movement through the waste. Raw data in the form of figures and tables, followed by summary tables and the discussion of the analysis is presented for each hypothesis.

Chapter 5 summarizes the study, and presents conclusions based on the analysis of chapter 4. Also, the significance and implications of the study and areas for further research are discussed in this chapter.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORY DEVELOPMENT

This chapter presents a review of previous studies of moisture movement through municipal solid waste (MSW). Various methods used by experimenters to represen. 'vis movement are also discussed. Environmental and landfill operating conditions affecting moisture movement are presented. Models developed to represent moisture flow through subsurface media, which may be applicable to municipal solid waste are also listed. Finally, the theory is synthesized into hypotheses which are tested using experimental results.

2.1 MOISTURE MOVEMENT THROUGH MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE

Moisture movement through municipal solid waste has been investigated in a number of studies. Many of these focused mainly on the chemistry of landfills (Qasim and Burchinal, 1970; Fungaroli and Steiner, 1971; Rovers and Farquhar, 1973; Raveh and Avnimelech, 1979; Robinson and Lucas, 1985; Cancelli et. al., 1988; Huber et. al, 1994). However, moisture movement has been the main focus of some researchers (Gee, 1981; Straub and Lynch, 1982; Korfiatis, 1984; Demetracopoulos, et. al., 1986; Noble and Arnold, 1991; Ahmed et. al., 1992, Connell et. al., 1993; Zeiss and Major, 1993; Khanbilvardi et. al., 1995; Chen and Canter, in-press; Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995). Most investigators have assumed and observed that moisture flow through unsaturated MSW is well represented as a uniform wetting front or "plug flow" (Qasim and Burchinal, 1970; Fungaroli and Steiner, 1971; Rovers and Farquhar, 1973; Raveh and Avnimelech, 1979; Straub and Lynch, 1982; Korfiatis, 1984; Noble and Arnold, 1991; Ahmed et. al., 1992; Khanbilvardi et. al., 1995). The waste above the horizontal front is at a higher moisture content than the waste below, and the moisture content of all waste above the front is equal (see Figure 2.1).

The assumption of a horizontal, uniform, moisture front implies that the medium, waste in this case, is homogeneous (the value of properties of the medium, such as saturated hydraulic conductivity, and hydraulic gradient are independent of position; Freeze and Cherry, 1979), and the medium consists of a porous matrix through which water flows (De Wiest, 1965). The water flows through the pore space between the particles which make up the matrix. Because of their size (less than 10 μ m in diameter for fine grained soils; Luxmoore, 1981) these pores are called micropores (Vermeul et. al., 1993). Flow is driven through the pores by a hydraulic gradient which is made up of a capillary pressure and elevation head (see section 2.1.2, figure 2.3). Because pores are oriented in all directions water flows horizontally and vertically through the waste, so the capillary pressure acts to distribute water over the entire crosssection of a medium. Also, as moisture is added, the pores fill with water, and the moisture content of the waste increases. The researchers mentioned above have observed water moving downward through the waste because water was added to the top of the waste column. Therefore, the capillary pressure, and the elevation, at the top of the column were greater than in the porous matrix below. Since water flows from

higher to lower pressure the flow was directed towards the bottom of the column. Homogeneous porous media contain a range of pore diameters with smaller pores exerting greater capillary forces, therefore, water may move though the pores at different rates, on a microscopic scale (e.g., micrometres to millimetres, Freeze and Cherry, 1979). However, MSW research, specifically this study, is based on the flow of water on a macroscopic scale (on the order of centimetres to metres) where the differences in flow rates of different size micropores are indistinguishable (Freeze and Cherry, 1979). Therefore, an average velocity can be used to represent the velocity of flow through all pores, thus the flow of water through a homogeneous porous media, is represented as a horizontal, uniform moisture front. This type of moisture movement has been mathematically expressed by using a one-dimensional Darcian-type equation, which will be discussed further in section 2.1.2.

Some researchers, while assuming a uniform moisture front, have noticed that water often flows through channels separating waste particles in addition to flowing through the porous matrix of the waste (Fungaroli and Steiner, 1971; Rovers and Farquhar, 1973; Raveh and Avnimelech, 1979; Korfiatis et. al., 1984; Oweis and Khera, 1990; Noble and Arnold, 1991; Roberson et. al., 1991). The flow of water through these channels, or macropores, is called channeling, and, like matrix flow, also depends on pore diameter. For micropores, capillary pressure, along with elevation, is an important driving force for flow, however, capillary pressure is not as important as elevation in driving the flow through macropores because of their larger pore diameter (Chen and Wagenet, 1992). Therefore, the amount of flow conveyed through macropores is diameter dependent, with larger macropores conveying more water than smaller macropores (section 2.1.4).

Flow through macropores may be laminar of turbulent (Chen and Wagenet, 1992), however, matrix flow is laminar (Price, 1985). Laminar flow through macropores can be represented by the Hagan-Poiseuille equation, while turbulent channeled flow can be modeled using, for example, Manning's equation (see section 2.1.4). As mentioned, matrix flow is represented by Darcy's Law. It should be noted that Darcy's Law is a special case of the Hagen-Poiseuille pipe flow equation, that gives a macroscopic average flow rate through a porous media which acts like a number of individual pipes (this averaging is accounted for with the hydraulic conductivity term which is a function of the packing, size and shape factor of the pores of a medium; De Wiest, 1965).

Also, unlike matrix flow, channeled flow does not spread over the entire cross-section of a porous matrix, instead, water flows only through the channels, although some absorption of water by the matrix through the channel walls may occur. Therefore, a uniform moisture front is not an accurate representation of channeled flow because flow is faster through the macropores than the matrix and the front is not horizontal. Rather this type of flow is better represented as small areas around the macropores at greater moisture contents than areas further from the pores (assuming a porous matrix exists, otherwise, water will flow only through the macropores and the moisture content of the material around these channels will remain the same). The size which distinguishes channels from micropores is media specific

(Beven and Germann, 1982). Table 2.1 lists the sizes and capillary pressures which researchers have used to distinguish micropores from macropores for soil.

Table 2.1: Defined Range of Macropore Sizes for Soil

After Chen and Wagenet, 1992

REFERENCE	CAPILLARY PRESSURE (KPa)	EQUIVALENT DIAMETER
		(µm)
Nelson and Baver (1940)	> -3.0	-
Marshall (1959)	> -10.0	> 30
Brewer (1964)	-	75 - 5000
McDonald (1967)	> -6.0	•
Dullien (1979)	> 0.5 - 1	-
Bouma and Wosten (1979)	-	>30
Bullock and Thomasson (1979)	> -5.0	> 60
Luxmoore (1981)	> -3.0	> 1000
Beven and Germann (1981)	> -0.1	> 3000
Radulovich et. al., (1989)	> -5.0	> 200

The iable shows that macropores are not uniquely defined, and, as mentioned the characteristic size is media specific. Research to determine macropore size for MSW has not yet been conducted. However, in this study, any flow through pores which is gravity or elevation driven (not influenced by capillary forces) is considered channeled flow (unlike some researchers listed in the table who assume flow through macropores is also affected by capillary pressure). It is difficult to determine which driving force acts on an individual pore, due to the size of the pores; however, the difference between matrix and channeled flow can be distinguished by the effect each type of flow has on moisture movement. Macropore flow usually occurs for soil when infiltration intensity is greater than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of a porous matrix (Beven and Germann, 1982). However, it also occurs at infiltration rates less than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of MSW (Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995). Water will flow faster through the macropores than the micropores because the diameter of the macropores is larger and provides less resistance to flow, also, water is not held up in the macropore by capillary forces (assuming capillary forces are negligible). As a result, leachate generation rates are significantly affected by channeling as it causes leachate to be discharged sooner than would be expected if only matrix flow was occurring (Schroeder et. al., 1994). Table 2.2 summarizes the differences between matrix and channeled flow.

Table 2.2: Differences Between Matrix and Channeled Flow

PROPERTY	MATRIX FLOW	CHANDLED ET OW
	WATKIA FLOW	CHANNELED FLOW
Driving Force for Flow Under	Elevation (positive pressure head)	Elevation (positive pressure head)
Unsaturated Conditions	and Capillary Pressure (negative	
	pressure head)	
Pore Size		
	< 10 µm	> 30 µm
Type of Flow	Laminar	Laminar or Turbulent
Representation of Flow	uniform, horizontal, moisture	moisture front is non-uniform,
	front; moisture content above the	non-horizontal; moisture content
	front is greater than the moisture	of fractures and waste around
	content below the front (assuming	fractures greater than moisture
	a homogeneous matrix)	content of entire volume
Equations used to Represent	Darcy's Equation (section 2.1.2)	Hagen-Poiseuille Equation or
Flow		Manning Equation (section 2.1.4)
Impact of Flow on Moisture	1) moisture spreads out over the	1) moisture confined to channels
Movement Through MSW	cross-section of the medium	and area around channels
	2) leachate discharge rate	2) leachate discharge rate
	governed by hydraulic gradient	governed by hydraulic gradient
	and hydraulic conductivity of	and size of channel
	medium (which accounts for the	3) negligible storage in channels
	size differences between individual	_
	pores)	
	3)moisture stored in micropores of	
	porous matrix	

Note: $30 \mu m$ represents smallest macropore size defined in the literature, in this study macropores or . channels are defined as pores which drain at 0 KPa of pressure

Two moisture movement studies specifically intended to study the effects of channeling concluded that channeling is a significant flow mechanism during imbibition, so a one-dimensional Darcian representation of moisture movement that ignores channeling may be inappropriate to describe flow through MSW (Zeiss and Major, 1993; Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995). It should be noted, however, that a number of experiments in which channeling was observed were performed on a relatively small scale (Raveh and Avnimelech, 1979; Korfiatis et. al., 1984; Noble and Arnold, 1991). The experimental cells used by Zeiss and Major, for example, were 1.8 m high with a cross-sectional area of 0.26 m² and a diameter of 0.55m. The cell diameter was approximately six times the average particle size diameter for MSW (Hasselriis, 1984). This small difference between cell and particle diameter encourages channeling because flow between the particles and the cell walls becomes significant (Wall, 1993). Though channeling has been observed in larger scale systems (Fungaroli and Steiner, 1971; Rovers and Farquhar, 1973) its effects on moisture movement have not been studied. If channeling is significant in larger scale systems, it is more likely to be significant to moisture movement over an entire landfill. Both channeling and matrix flow occur in MSW (Zeiss and Major, 1993), and the various methods used to represent moisture movement through solid waste are described in the following section. The first method discussed, the water balance method does not explicitly consider the mechanisms by which moisture is transported through MSW. The other three methods discussed (one-dimensional Darcian flow, flow through fractured media, and flow through fractured - porous media) explicitly consider the moisture movement mechanisms.

Figure 2.1: Uniform Wetting Front



2.1.1 Water Balance

Moisture, that comes in contact with municipal solid waste is called leachate (Dass et. al., 1977; Stegmann, 1983; Baccini et. al., 1987; Farquhar, 1989; Radnoff et. al., 1992). The movement of moisture through the waste controls the rate of leachate flow. The water balance method may be used to provide an indirect estimate of leachate percolation through solid waste (Baetz and Byer, 1989). A water balance is performed by setting water inputs into the waste equal to the sum of all water outputs and the change in water storage of the waste (see Figure 2.2). The result provides the magnitude and direction of the component in question (Gee, 1981). For example, the amount of leachate percolating through a solid waste column can be indirectly calculated if all other water inputs, outputs, and storage of the column are known. The amount of leachate is set equal to the sum of precipitation and surface run-on, from which is subtracted the sum of evapotranspiration, runoff, and storage capacity of the waste, referring to Figure 2.2; Perc. = $P + O - R - ET - \Delta S$, or Perc. = $I - \Delta S$. A positive result indicates that leachate is generated from the column.

A water balance can be an efficient method to determine the amount of leachate generated from solid waste (Jasper et. al., 1985). The accuracy of the method depends on how well the components of the water balance are estimated. For instance, if the amount of runoff is estimated instead of directly measured, the error in leachate generation will be equal to the error between actual and estimated runoff, provided all other inputs and outputs are exactly known (Gee, 1981). The balance provides less accurate results if many of the inputs and outputs are estimated. This is particularly true of performing the method over small time steps, such as minute intervals, where the change of some parameters such as storage may be difficult to measure directly. The averaging of parameters over long periods, such as months or years, may produce more accurate long term water balance results (Blight et. al., 1992). Since hydrologic components are simply added or subtracted, the actual mechanisms of leachate movement through the waste are not considered in the water balance method (Gee, 1981). Therefore, leachate is assumed to flow through the waste as a uniform horizontal moisture front (see Figure 2.1), and is only generated when the sum of all inputs is greater than all outputs and storage (e.g., $I > \Delta S$). The water balance is not an extremely accurate tool for predicting leachate discharge because these assumptions lead to an underestimation of breakthrough time and total volume of leachate generated (Zeiss and Major, 1993; Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995). However, other methods of representing moisture movement through MSW exist which explicitly consider the mechanisms of flow through the media. One of these methods, onedimensional Darcian flow, is described in the following section.



P: precipitation O: run-on ET: evapotranspiration R: runoff Δ S: change in storage I: infiltration Perc.: percolation through the waste

2.1.2 Flow Through Porous Media

As mentioned is section 2.1, moisture movement is commonly represented as flow through a homogeneous porous media. In this representation moisture flows as a horizontal front through the waste, uniformly wetting the media as it passes through. The equation used to describe this movement, called Darcy's Law (Bear, 1972; Freeze and Cherry, 1979), expresses the flow rate of water through a media as a function of both the permeability of the media, and the driving force of the fluid. It can be used to describe both saturated and unsaturated flow conditions. Darcy's law, for saturated flow, is written as:

 $\mathbf{Q} = -\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{s}} * \mathbf{A} * (\mathbf{dh} / \mathbf{di}) \tag{1}$

where:

Q = the volumetric flow rate (L³/T)

 K_s = the saturated hydraulic conductivity; a function of the media as well as the fluid (L/T)

A = the cross-sectional area through which fluid flows (L^2)

dh/dl = the hydraulic gradient, or driving force caused by a change in pressure or elevation of the fluid over a length of media (L/L)

As mentioned Darcy's Law can only be used if the flow is laminar because it assumes a linear relationship between head loss and velocity (the exponent of dh/dl in equation 1 is one, if the flow was turbulent this value would be less than one). Therefore, laminar flow through a porous media is called Darcian flow (Bouwer, 1978). The Reynolds number is used to determine if the flow is laminar or turbulent. For pore flow it is represented as:

$$\mathbf{Re} = (\rho^* \mathbf{q}^* \mathbf{d})/\mu \tag{2}$$

where:

 ρ = the density of the fluid flowing through the pore (M/L³)

q = the specific discharge; flow rate per unit area, or flux (L/T)

d = the diameter of the pore (L)

 μ = the absolute viscosity of the fluid (M/L/T)

Flow is considered laminar in a porous matrix if the Reynolds number is below 10 (Bear, 1972). If the Reynolds number is above this value Darcy's Law can not be used to represent the flow, and the flow cannot be considered Darcian (Bouwer, 1978). In this study all matrix flow is assumed laminar, and, therefore, Darcian.

Darcy's law was originally developed for flow in saturated zones, which consists of two phases; solid and liquid (water). It can be modified for unsaturated conditions where air (or gas) is present. The

presence of air in the pore spaces of the media changes the driving forces for flow (Fetter, 1993). Water flow through porous media, under both saturated and unsaturated conditions, is dependent on the hydraulic head of the fluid. The hydraulic head (h) is the sum of the elevation head of the fluid (z) and the pressure head (ψ) (see Figure 2.3). Under unsaturated conditions the pressure head is often referred to as the suction head (Fetter, 1993). As mentioned in section 2.1, in the unsaturated flow regime the pressure head is negative (suction head is positive), indicating that water is held under capillary tension in the pores of the porous media (Jury et. al., 1991). Also, unlike the saturated zone where the hydraulic conductivity, K₄, and the moisture content of the media, θ_4 , are constants, these properties are functions of the pressure head in the unsaturated zone. The unsaturated hydraulic conductivity, and the unsaturated moisture content are always less than K₄ and θ_4 , except when the pressure head (or tension head) is zero (Freeze and Cherry, 1979). To represent water movement through unsaturated media as Darcian flow, these characteristics of the unsaturated zone must be taken into account. The Buckingham Flux Law, in which the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is expressed as a function of the suction head of the media, is used to describe Darcian flow through the unsaturated zone (Fetter, 1993). In vector form it may be expressed as:

$$\mathbf{q} = -\mathbf{K}(\mathbf{\psi})\nabla(\mathbf{h}) \tag{3}$$

where:

 $K(\psi)$ = the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity as a function of the suction head of the media (L/T)

 ∇ (h) = the hydraulic gradient (L/L)

This equation may be combined with the continuity equation to express the change in moisture content with time as a function of the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity and the hydraulic gradient. This equation is known as the Richard's equation (Fetter, 1993), and is written in vector form as:

$$\partial \Theta / \partial \mathbf{t} = \nabla \left(-\mathbf{K}(\mathbf{\psi}) \nabla(\mathbf{h}) \right)$$
 (4)

where:

 θ = the volumetric moisture content of the media at a given capillary pressure ψ (L³/L³) t = time (T)

As this equation is derived from the Buckingham Flux Law, the change in moisture content is represented as a uniform, horizontal front through the media (Van der Ploeg and Benecke, 1974; Korfiatis, 1984; Milly, 1985, and Ross, 1990).

The moisture content - capillary pressure relationship, and the relationship between unsaturated hydraulic conductivity and capillary pressure of the media are needed to use equations 2 and 3. While field methods exist to obtain this data (Marshall and Holmes, 1979; Reynolds and Elrick, 1986; Ankeny

et. al., 1989; Daniel, 1989; Elrick et. al., 1989; Shan and Stephens, 1993; Tseng and Jury, 1993), often these relationships are not known for MSW. Many models exist to represent these relationships in soils, however. Commonly, the moisture content - capillary pressure relationship is modeled using the Brooks -Corey equation (Brooks and Corey, 1966), though other expressions do exist (Farrell and Larson, 1972; Arya and Paris, 1981; Tyler and Wheatcraft, 1990). The Brooks - Corey equation is written as:

$$(\theta - \theta_{\rm r})/({\bf n} - \theta_{\rm r}) = (\psi_{\rm b} / \psi)^{\lambda}$$
(5)

where:

 θ_r = the residual soil moisture content (L³/L³) n = the porosity of the media, also equal to θ_s (L³/L³) ψ_b = the bubbling pressure, or air entry pressure of the media (ML⁻³T⁻²) ψ = the capillary pressure (ML⁻³T⁻²) λ = the pore size distribution index of the media (-)

A common expression relating the unsaturated and saturated hydraulic conductivities of a media is the Campbell equation (Campbell, 1974). Again, many other relationships between these two parameters have been developed for soils (Mualem, 1976; Clapp and Hornberger, 1978; Mualem, 1978; van Genuchten, 1980; Russo, 1988). The Campbell equation is written as:

$$\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{K}_{s} * (\theta / \theta_{s})^{3+2/\lambda}$$
(6)

where:

E: K = the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity at a given moisture content θ (L/T) θ_s - the moisture content at saturation, also equal to n (L³/L³)

By combining equations 5 and 6, an expression for the unsaturated flow rate can be developed, derived from the Darcy and Buckingham Flux Laws. This equation, used in the HELP model to describe moisture movement through solid waste (Schroeger et. al., 1988; Schroeger et. al., 1994), is written as:

$$\mathbf{q} = -\mathbf{K}_{s} \cdot \left((\theta - \theta_{r}) / (\mathbf{n} - \theta_{r}) \right)^{3+2/\lambda} \star \mathbf{dh} / \mathbf{dl}$$
(7)

where all parameters have been defined in previous equations.

Both Darcy's Law and the Buckingham Flux Law (and all of the above forms) were originally developed for homogeneous, isotropic porous media. However, they have also been used to describe flow through heterogeneous, anisotropic media (Freeze and Cherry, 1979). Flow through both heterogeneous soil (Yeh, 1989; Selker et. al., 1992; El-Kadi, 1993), and fractured rock (Long et. al., 1982; Phillips, 1991) may be modeled using Darcy's law if the value of the saturated hydraulic conductivity is corrected for the heterogeneities of the media, such as the presence of large pores, or very slightly permeable material. When applying either model to heterogeneous media, or media with channels or macropores, a large enough representative elementary volume (REV) must be used in order to account for the variability in the matrix and the macropores (Beven and Germann, 1982; Huyakorn and Pinder, 1986; Mantoglou, 1992). Also, these models are invalid for media with large fractures or channels if flow through these macropores is turbulent, since Darcy's Law is only valid for laminar flow (Chen et. al., 1993). Therefore, the composition of MSW, as well as the characteristic size of channels in the waste should be determined to ensure that a one-dimensional Darcian flow model is valid for *r*epresenting flow through MSW. Due to the limitations of this model, it may be necessary to model moisture movement another way. Fractured media models are discussed in the next section.

Figure 2.3: Hydraulic Head Determination



After Freeze and Cherry, 1979

2.1.3 Flow Through Fractured Media

Municipal solid waste is composed of a large amount of impermeable material such as plastic (approximately 10% of municipal solid waste, excluding recycled material is plastic; Tchobanoglous et. al., 1993). Water cannot flow through plastic but must flow around the plastic waste particles. Therefore, moisture movement through the waste as flow through a porous medium may not accurately represent the flow mechanism, instead flow may be better represented as flow through fractured rock (see Figure 2.4). This type of flow model assumes water only flows through channels or fractures in the rock, and no flow through the rock matrix occurs (Evans and Huang, 1983; Fogg, 1986, Tsang and Tsang, 1987; Tsang et. al., 1988; Desbarats, 1990; Nordqvist et. al, 1992). The fractures are idealized as parallel flow plates of constant aperture (Evans and Huang, 1983), or a range of apertures (Neuzil and Tracy, 1981).

Laminar flow in the fractures is also assumed, which is expressed mathematically as (Evans and Huang, 1983):

$$Q = (\gamma/12\mu) LJ \int b^3 f(b) db \qquad (8)$$

where:

Q = volume flux of water (L^3/T)

 γ = specific weight of water (M/L²T²)

 μ = dynamic viscosity of water (M/LT)

L = segment length normal to flow, or width (L)

J = potential hydraulic gradient (L/L)

b = aperture (L)

f(b) = aperture distribution usually represented by a lognormal distribution

This equation may also be used to describe unsaturated flow through a fracture by substituting a maximum saturated aperture size for infinity, in the evaluation of the integral. This implies that under unsaturated conditions fractures greater than the maximum saturated aperture will not contribute to liquid flow because they do not contain liquid.

The accuracy of these models depends on the how well aperture size is estimated or measured (Evans and Huang, 1983). However, this data has not been previously determined for MSW. The variability in the composition of MSW may make it difficult to determine a representative aperture size, or select a distribution of aperture sizes which will accurately represent the waste (section 2.1). The shape of the channel is also important in determining flow rate; the shape is usually assumed to be a rectangular

crack (parallel plates) or cylinder. Again, the characteristic shape of channels in MSW has not been determined. Also, flow through the channels may be laminar or turbulent (Gerhart and Gross, 1985; Fotter and Wiggert, 1991). However, because a characteristic size of channel for MSW has not been determined, the type of flow through the channel is not known. In the above equation (equation 7) flow is assumed to be laminar. Though experimental methods exist for determining the channel diameter and shape for fractured, and fractured - porous media (Long et al., 1982; Vermeul et. al., 1993), they have not been applied to MSW. Therefore, the determination of channel diameter and shape for solid waste may be difficult if the experimental methods used by other experimenters (e.g., filling fractures with paraffin wax to facilitate the determination of the characteristic diameter; Vermeul et. al., 1993) are not applicable.

Also, as mentioned, matrix flow has been observed through MSW, yet fractured rock models assume flow occurs only through fractures. Therefore, though these models may provide a good estimation of parameters which characterize leachate generation, such as breakthrough time, they do not realistically model the actual flow of water because no matrix flow occurs. For example, breakthrough time may be predicted accurately by a fractured rock model because water is quickly conveyed through the fractures of the system. However, the total volume of leachate discharged may be overestimated because the only storage capacity which exists in the system is the cumulative pore volume, whereas the storage capacity of waste is made up of the channels and the micropores (Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995). In order to account for this additional storage capacity, matrix flow should be considered. The next section describes the fractured - porous representation of moisture movement. This method accounts for both channeled and matrix flow.

18



Figure 2.4: Flow Through Fractured Media

P: precipitationI: infiltration into channelPerc.: percolation through channel

2.1.4 Flow Through Fractured - Porous Media

In addition to porous and fractured media representations, moisture movement through MSW may be modeled as flow through fractured - porous media. As the title implies, this is a combination of both porous and fractured media and flow characteristics. Fractured - porous media models have been developed for both soil (Germann and Beven, 1981; van Genuchten and Dalton, 1986; Bronswijk, 1988; Jarvis et. al, 1991; Rowe and Booker, 1991; Booltink et. al., 1993; Chen et. al., 1993) and rock (Duguid and Lee, 1977; Wang and Narasimhan, 1985; Dykhuizen, 1992; Rubin and Dveyrin, 1993). These models characterize the flow through the media as being either one or two-domain (Beven and Germann, 1982). One-domain flow models are similar to porous media models, with hydraulic parameters adjusted to account for fractures. The saturated hydraulic conductivity is increased to reflect the greater velocity of flow through the fractures, yet moisture movement is represented by the Darcy equation (El-Kadi, 1993). These models represent flow as a uniform moisture front and share the same limitations as porous media models such as the assumption of laminar flow.

Two-domain models route flow through both the fractures or channels and the porous matrix (see Figure 2.5). Channeled flow is often modeled using the same equation developed for fractured media (equation 8), or if turbulent flow occurs Manning's equation can be used (Chen and Wagenet, 1992). This equation is expressed as:

$$U = 1/n * (R^{2/3} * S_p^{1/2})$$
(9)

where:

U = average flow velocity in the channel (L/T) n = coefficient of roughness (-) R = hydraulic radius of the channel (L/L) S_p = slope of the energy grade line or gradient(L/L)

Also, the flow through the matrix is modeled using, for example, the Buckingham Flux Law (equation 3):

$$\mathbf{q} = -\mathbf{K}(\mathbf{\psi})\nabla(\mathbf{h}) \tag{3}$$

where:

q = the flow rate per unit area, or flux (L/T) K(w) = the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity as a function of

 $K(\psi)$ = the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity as a function of the suction head of the media (L/T)

h = the hydraulic gradient (L/L)

Because moisture flows through the two domains at different rates, a uniform moisture front does not occur. Flow may quickly be conveyed through channels while a slower moving wetting front passes through the matrix (Beven and Germann, 1981). Note that the amount of flow through channels is dependent on the loading rate of water applied to the media because at low infiltration intensity and unsaturated conditions, more of the water falling on the surface flows through the matrix than through the channels. This is due to the relatively high tension head associated with the unsaturated zone (Banerjee and Watson, 1984; Woods, 1992). Water is pulled through the matrix by capillary forces, and any flow through the channel is likely to adhere to the walls and be absorbed into the matrix. At high loading rates greater or equal to the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the matrix, the matrix will saturate and ponding will occur (Beven and Germann, 1982). Water will take the path of least resistance to reach the water table and will flow through the channels (assuming that they reach to the surface of the media). Since saturated conditions exist, the flow in the channels cannot be absorbed by the matrix. Flow through the channels is much greater than the matrix flow since it is not limited by the saturated hydraulic conductivity (Booth and Price, 1989). Only the cross-sectional area of channels limit the flow rate through them, since channel flow velocity is always much greater than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the matrix (Beven and Germann, 1982).

The fractured - porous media approach allows for flow through both fractures and the porous matrix to be considered. Therefore, it may be more representative of flow through MSW than the previous methods discussed. However, it is not without limitations. As mentioned, the characteristic macropore diameter is media specific, and has not been uniquely defined (see Table 2.1). Therefore, it is difficult to define which pore size separates a channel from a micropore which is part of the matrix. Another challenge in applying this type of model is to accurately represent the flow distribution. As water flows through both the channels and the matrix, it may seep into or out of either domain at any time. Additional water in either will affect hydraulic properties such as moisture content and may change the flow rate through that domain. Also, the conservation of mass must apply to both domains; however, mass may be transferred between both the channels and matrix. This has proven difficult to represent (Chen et. al., 1993).

Before attempting to model moisture movement through MSW, flow and other physical characteristics of waste must be determined. These characteristics are discussed in the following section.

21





P: precipitation

- It: infiltration into channels
- I2: infiltration into matrix
- S: storage

Perc. 1: percolation through channels Perc. 2: percolation through matrix
2.2 FACTORS INFLUENCING MOISTURE MOVEMENT

2.2.1 Municipal Solid Waste Composition and Properties

Generally, solid waste is defined as all solid or semi-solid materials that the possessor no longer considers to be of sufficient value to retain (Tchobanoglous et. al., 1993). Municipal solid waste generated by the residential, commercial, institutional and municipal sectors, is a subset of the total solid waste stream. Typically, MSW consists of food wastes, yard wastes, plastic, paper, metal, textiles, lumber and white goods (Britton, 1972; Klee, 1993; Tchobanoglous et. al., 1993). The composition varies by location and by season (Klee and Carruth, 1970; Brunner and Ernst, 1986).

The variable composition of the waste leads to variability of physical properties such as initial moisture content and particle size, and hydraulic characteristics such as field capacity, porosity, and saturated hydraulic conductivity (Carpenter, et. al., 1990). Table 2.3 lists the literature values found for these physical and hydraulic properties. Since these parameters are not uniquely defined in the literature they are defined here.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE
MOISTURE CONTENT	2 to 6	Bagchi (1990)
(% by volume)	10 to 20	Oweis et. al. (1990)
	9 to 24	Tchobanoglous et. al. (1993)
PARTICLE SIZE (cm)	8.9 to 17.8	Hasselriis (1984)
Rosin-Rammler X.	3.9 to 33.7	Zeiss and Major (1993)
FIELD CAPACITY	12 to 13.7	Bagchi (1990)
(% by volume)	20 to 35	Oweis et. al. (1990)
	30 to 36	Tchobanoglous et. al. (1993)
POROSITY	40 to 50	(Oweis et. al., 1990)
(% by volume)	47 to 58	(Zeiss and Major, 1993)
SATURATED HYDRAULIC	1.76E-3	Ahmed et. al. (1991)
CONDUCTIVITY (cm/s)	1.6E-3 to 3.8E-3	Blight et. al. (1992)
	5.9E-3 to 2.5E-1	Ettala (1987)
	3.2E-3 to 5.1E-3	Korfiatis (1984)
	1E-3	Oweis et. al. (1990)

Table 2.3: Typical Values of Physical and Hydraulic Properties of MSW Found in the Literature

Initial moisture content is defined as the amount of water initially stored in a media before any input or output of water occurs. It is determined by drying a known mass of media to a constant mass by evaporating the water from the media. The moisture content can be represented on a wet or dry basis, and

expressed as a mass or volume ratio. All initial moisture contents listed here are expressed as a wet volume retio.

In the literature, particle size is defined using a variety of measures, including the Rosin-Rammler particle size (Hasselriis, 1984). Particle sizes listed here will refer to the Rosin-Rammler characteristic particle size (X_o). This quantity is expressed in cm.

Field capacity is usually defined as the moisture content at which free drainage of an initially saturated media ceases (Schroeder et. al., 1988). It is a point on the drainage curve, and is also defined as the moisture content of a porous media to which a pressure of 0.33 bars has been applied (Freeze and Cherry, 1979; Schroeder et. al., 1994).

Porosity is defined as the moisture content at which all pores of the media are filled with water, or saturated (Schroeder et. al., 1994). This quantity is also referred to as the saturation moisture content (Korfiatis et. al., 1984).

Saturated hydraulic conductivity is a measure of the ability of a porous media to transmit water (Fetter, 1993). This parameter will be expressed in cm/s.

In addition to the physical and hydraulic properties listed in Table 2.3, other parameters have been introduced by various researchers which may also be used to characterize waste. Zeiss and Major (1993), and Zeiss and Uguccioni (1995), have described parameters which they used to illustrate the difference between matrix and matrix-channeled flow. These parameters include practical field capacity, effective storage, breakthrough time, time to reach effective storage, initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity, and ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity. These parameters, derivatives of those shown in Table 2.3, are defined below.

Practical field capacity, a parameter analogous to field capacity expresses the moisture content at which leachate is first discharged after water application to initially unsaturated waste. This parameter, unlike field capacity, corresponds to the point of first drainage on the imbibition curve of the waste (Zeiss and Major, 1993).

Effective storage is defined as the moisture content at which water output from the waste equals the water input (e.g., the volume of leachate discharging from the waste is equal to the volume of water applied as infiltration). In other words effective storage is the moisture content of waste at steady state. Effective storage is usually less than the porosity of the waste, and is greater than the practical field capacity (Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995). As with the other moisture contents defined here, effective storage is expressed as a wet volume ratio.

Breakthrough time is the time taken to reach practical field capacity. It is determined here (and in studies by Zeiss and Major, 1993, and Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995) by measuring the time from first application of moisture to first percolation of leachate out of the waste. Breakthrough time is also used to determine the initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity of the waste (which is defined below). It is expressed in this study in minutes.

Time to effective storage is the time for the waste to reach steady state from the first application of moisture. It is larger than breakthrough time because practical field capacity is reached before effective storage occurs. Time to effective storage usually occurs days after moisture loading commences (Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995), therefore, it is expressed here in days.

Initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is the apparent hydraulic conductivity of the waste at practical field capacity. It is calculated with the following equation (Zeiss and Major, 1993)

$$K_{us} \text{ initial} = (h * n)/(t_{bt})$$
(10)
where:
$$K_{us} \text{ initial} = \text{ initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (L/T)}$$
$$h = \text{height of waste column (L)}$$
$$n = \text{porosity of waste (L3/L3)}$$
$$t_{bt} = \text{breakthrough time (T)}$$

Initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is greater than the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity that would be calculated using, for example, the Campbell equation (equation 6) with the practical field capacity moisture content. The initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (expressed in cm/s) indicates the effect of channeling on flow rates through the waste.

Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is the apparent hydraulic conductivity of the was e at effective storage. This parameter is calculated as (Zeiss and Major, 1993):

$$K_{us}$$
 ultimate = Q / A (11)

where:K_{us} ultimate = ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (L/T)Q = flow rate of leachate percolating from the waste at steady state (effective storage)(L³/T)A = cross sectional area of the waste through which water flows (L²)

Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity can be less than the initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity, particularly if breakthrough time is small. Also, at steady state leachate is percolating through the waste matrix and the channels. The velocity of flow through the matrix is smaller than the channel flow velocity. Therefore, the average velocity of the total flow through the waste is smaller at effective storage than at practical field capacity where more flow is conveyed through the channels resulting in a larger flow velocity. Based on the Campbell equation, for example, actual unsaturated hydraulic conductivities increase with increasing moisture content, so it should be noted again that initial and ultimate K_{us} are apparent hydraulic conductivities which are used to show the effects of channeling on moisture movement through MSW. Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is also expressed in cm/s.

Unlike the parameters listed in Table 2.3 the parameters defined above are used specifically to indicate the effects of channeling on matrix flow. (Zeiss and Major, 1993; Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995)

The waste characteristics listed in Table 2.3 are typical of the range of values expected for MSW. These characteristics of the waste influence leachate flow since they reflect the initial volume of water stored in the waste, the maximum amount of water the waste can hold, and how easily water can flow through MSW. It should be noted that these characteristics and those variables defined above (e.g., practical field capacity), are influenced by environmental factors and landfilling operation. For example, saturated hydraulic conductivity is influenced by compaction of MSW (Ettala, 1987). Increased compaction can decrease the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the waste, therefore, landfills with poor compaction and low waste densities will have saturated hydraulic conductivities nearer to 2.5E-1 cm/s (the largest value given by Ettala, in Table 2.3). Also, initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is influenced by moisture loading intensity with higher intensities resulting in shorter breakthrough times (Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995). Compaction, and moisture loading intensities, as well as other external factors influence movement, in addition to influencing waste characteristics. Their affects on moisture movement are discussed in the following section.

2.2.2 Environmental and Landfill Operating Conditions

A number of environmental and operating conditions influence moisture movement in municipal solid waste landfills (Wall and Zeiss, 1995). Weather and climate are examples of environmental conditions. More specifically, environmental conditions can be divided into precipitation intensity and frequency, temperature, and biodegradation of the refuse in the landfill. Precipitation contributes to the amount of water absorbed by the waste (see Figure 2.2). Therefore, the more precipitation falling on a landfill and infiltrating the waste, either due to increased intensity or frequency, the more leachate generated (Chian et. al., 1985). Precipitation intensity also influences the amount of channeling which may occur (section 2.1), therefore, it may be a more important factor than precipitation frequency. Because the precipitation falling on a landfill must infiltrate the waste in order to affect leachate generation, infiltration intensity is the actual parameters of interest in determining the effects of precipitation on moisture movement. Temperature affects the amount of evapotranspiration that will occur. Higher temperatures lead to greater evapotranspiration. An increase in evapotranspiration decreases the amount of leachate percolating out of a landfill (Jasper et. al., 1985). Biodegradation also affects the leachate generation in a landfill. Water is used by microorganisms to metabolize the waste, thereby increasing the storage capacity of the waste (Mao and Pohland, 1973). The water is converted to end-products such as methane and carbon dioxide and biomass, and is prevented from actively flowing through the waste. Therefore, an actively biodegrading landfill may generate less leachate than a dormant one because water is immobilized during anaerobic biodegradation. In terms of moisture flow through

municipal solid waste infiltration intensity has the most influence on leachate generation (Chian et. al., 1985).

Operational conditions also affect leachate generation. These include types of waste accepted by the facility, waste processing such as shredding, and compaction of the waste (Wall, 1993). The waste accepted by the facility influences the amount of leachate generated because certain types of waste, such as food wastes, have high moisture contents. Therefore, the addition of these wastes, as well as liquid wastes decrease storage capacity (Figure 2.2). Shredding affects the particle sizes of the waste (Hasselriis, 1984; Tchobanoglous et. al., 1993), and causes the opening of plastic bags exposing the waste inside. These actions may decrease the amount of leachate generated as more pore volume (micropores of the porous matrix of the waste inside the plastic bags) is available for storage (Zeiss and Major, 1993). Finally, compaction affects the amount of leachate generated because it acts to open plastic bags, exposing more pore volume to flow, and increase the density of the waste, decreasing the hydraulic conductivity of the waste (section 2.2.1). Compaction should be considered the most important operational condition listed here because it performs the above functions. Also, compaction of the waste by heavy equipment flattens and orients waste particles in a horizontal direction (Zeiss and Major, 1993). This affects the size range, length and orientation of the channels formed in the waste, with more horizontal channels of smaller diameter resulting from greater compaction. Therefore, leachate cannot move as quickly through the waste because the channels are smaller (more water may then infiltrate into the porous matrix because channeled flow is reduced). Compaction may be expressed as bulk density; however, it must be recalled that an increase in density is only one effect of compaction on MSW. In this study, compaction refers to the act of compacting the waste with heavy equipment, which opens plastic bags and flattens waste particles.

The environmental and operational conditions discussed above influence moisture movement through MSW because they affect the magnitude of the components of the water balance (e.g., compaction acts to increase the storage of the waste). The conditions which have the most influence on moisture movement are infiltration intensity and compaction. As noted, compaction also affects waste properties, such as saturated hydraulic conductivity. Waste characteristics, such as the physical and hydraulic properties of waste listed in Table 2.3, also affect moisture movement by influencing water balance components such as storage, and influencing the mechanisms of moisture movement (e.g., saturated hydraulic conductivity affects the flow rate of leachate through the matrix). Figure 2.6 summarizes the factors discussed in this section and their affect on moisture movement. The following section discusses the models considered for simulating moisture movement through MSW. Figure 2.6: Cause-Effect Diagram of Factors Influencing Moisture Movement

ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

INCREASE Infiltration Intensity	INCREASE Volume of Water Infiltrating Waste	INCREASE Amount of Leachate Generated
INCREASE Temperature	INCREASE Evapotranspiration \Rightarrow	DECREASE Amount of Leachate Generated
INCREASE Biodegradation →	INCREASE Storage Capacity of Waste (immobilize water in biomass) ⇒	DECREASE Amount of Leachate Generated
	OPERATIONAL CONDITIONS	
INCREASE Amount of Liquid Waste Accepted By The Facility	DECREASE Storage Capacity of Waste (increase moisture content of waste)	INCREASE Amount of Leachate Generated
INCREASE Shredding	INCREASE Storage Capacity of Waste (expose more pore volume to flow)	DECREASE Amount of Leachate Generated
INCREASE Compaction	INCREASE Storage Capacity of Waste (expose more pore volume, decrease channel size)	DECREASE Amount of Leachate Generated
INCREASE Waste Density	DECREASE Diameter and length of channels	DECREASE Amount of Leachate Generated

.

2.3 EVALUATED MODELS

The purpose of selecting moisture movement models is to determine their applicability for use with MSW. Therefore, representative models found in the literature review are examined. The HELP model version 3.03 (Schroeder et. al., 1994) was used for simulations and results were compared with a model chosen from the literature. The HELP model is used as the basis of comparison because it is considered the most commonly used of all moisture movement models for MSW, and has been developed as a management and design tool for landfills (Peyton and Schroeder, 1988).

The models examined include one water balance model, four porous media models, two fractured media models, and eleven fractured - porous media models. The water balance model reviewed is the model reported by Gee, 1981. Porous media models include the model proposed by Straub and Lynch, 1982, the model of Korfiatis et. al., 1984 (LANDFIL), Noble and Arnold's 1991 model (FULFIL), and the model of Connell and Bell, 1993. Fractured media models evaluated are the model of Evans and Huang, 1983, and the model of Nordqvist et. al., 1992. Finally, the fractured-porous media models include the model of Edwards et. al. 1979, Hoogmoed and Bouma's 1980 model, the model of Beven and Germann, 1981, Davidson's 1985 model, the model of Germann and Beven, 1985, Peters and Klavetter's model from 1988, Miller and Mishra's model, presented in 1988, PREFLO (Workman and Skaggs, 1990), and LASOMS (Chen and Wagenet, 1992). Also, two other fractured-porous media models are evaluated, the model of Gerke and van Genuchten, 1993, and MACRO by Jarvis, 1994. The evaluation of these models is presented in chapter 3.

The chosen model is used to predict experimental moisture movement in terms of leachate discharge (percolation through waste). The model results are compared to the results simulated by HELP to determine which model best predicts measured moisture movement. Direct comparison of leachate discharge between models is difficult because discharge is a continuous process. Discrete variables characterizing leachate discharge are examined to facilitate comparison. These parameters are: breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak leachate discharge, time to peak, total leachate volume discharged, and duration of the leachate event. These parameters allow the leachate percolation to be characterized by discrete parameters which provide information on the event, similar to hydrograph analysis (Ponce, 1989), as well as providing important information for the design of landfill systems (e.g., peak volume is an important design parameter for leachate collection systems, Ettala, 1986). Breakthrough time, defined previously, is the lag time between moisture loading and first discharge (the time to reach practical field capacity) and indicates the responsiveness of the system. Time to effective storage gives an indication of how quickly the system can discharge an equal amount of infiltration. 'These parameters are also chosen to compare model results as they are used in the analysis of environmental and operational conditions on moisture movement through MSW (see chapter 3: Methods).

The other parameters, peak leachate discharge, time to peak, total leachate volume discharged, and duration of the event are defined below.

Peak leachate discharge is the peak volume of leachate percolating through the waste. This parameter gives information on the maximum amount of leachate the system can discharge (Ettala, 1986). In some cases peak leachate volume equals the percolation volume at steady state. However, these parameters are not always equal since the loading rate of some cells varied over time. If the loading rate is decreased before effective storage is reached, the peak discharge out of the system may be larger than the volume discharged at effective storage. As noted, peak leachate discharge is a volume and expressed in litres.

Time to peak is the time between practical field capacity and the maximum discrete discharge, and is a measure of the response time of the system. This parameter is used in addition to time to effective storage because the peak volume discharged by the low intensity cells was not equal to the volume discharged at steady state. Again, this is due to the variable loading rate of the low infiltration intensity cells (because the loading rate decreased in low infiltration intensity cells before effective storage was reached, the discrete leachate volume discharged by these cells before steady state was greater than the volume discharged when steady state was reached). Time to peak also gives information about the shape of the leachate discharge curve. Knowing the **durat**ion of the event and the time to peak, the general shape of the curve can be determined (again, this parameter describes the response of the system). Like time to reach effective storage, time to peak is expressed in days.

Total leachate discharged is the total amount of leachate which percolates through the waste. This parameter is measured by summing up the daily percolation from the time of first discharge until discrete leachate volumes are less than 50 ml (this is 2% of the lowest daily volume of moisture applied to the experimental cells). The total leachate discharge gives an indication of the storage volume of the waste, and is also one of the parameters most used by solid waste professionals in the design and management of landfills (Zeiss and Major, 1993). This parameter is expressed in litres.

Lastly, duration of the leachate event is also used to characterize leachate discharge. This parameter is measured as the time from first discharge to the time that daily percolation reaches 50 ml (or the time for total leachate discharge). Duration of the event indicates the responsiveness of the system to both wetting and drying cycles since it covers periods of moisture loading as well as the period when loading ceases. This parameter is an increment of time and is expressed in days.

These six parameters, then, are used to characterize leachate discharge and facilitate the comparison of model results. Along with this modeling comparison other experimental results are analyzed according to the objectives presented in Chapter 1. The experimental results are used to test hypotheses developed from the objectives. These hypotheses are discussed in the following section.

2.4 SUMMARY AND HYPOTHESES

Moisture flow through municipal solid waste (MSW) has been previously investigated by a number of researchers. While most have assumed moisture flow to move uniformly through waste, a number have also noted channeling of flow through the waste. This channeling is defined as the flow of moisture through large channels separating waste particles. The effects of channeling have been studied in detail only on a small scale (e.g., the cell diameter was only 6 times the average particle diameter). However, channeling may be significant over entire landfills if it is proven to be an important flow mechanism in larger scale systems.

Leachate percolation through MSW can be indirectly estimated using a water balance. However, this method of predicting moisture movement is limited because it does not consider the actual mechanisms of flow. Modeling moisture movement by assuming one-dimensional Darcian flow through the waste matrix, as HELP does, is one way of explicitly including the mechanisms of moisture movement. However, because the effects of channeling are neglected this model may not predict moisture movement as well as models which include the effects of channeling, with respect to the six parameters discussed in the previous section used to characterize assistance. Fractured media flow models include the effects of channeling, however, they represent the media as being impermeable, so matrix flow is not considered. Parameters such as breakthrough time should be well predicted by these models because water is quickly conveyed through the channels, however, total leachate volume may be overestimated because no matrix storage occurs. Lastly, moisture movement may also be represented by fractured - porous media models. These models, specifically two-domain models, consider both matrix and channeled flow. However, the exchange between channels and matrix is difficult to simulate and may limit the use of this type of model. As with fractured media models, fractured - porous media have not yet been used to predict moisture movement through MSW.

Modeling may be further complicated by the heterogeneous nature of the media. The composition of municipal solid waste is extremely variable. This variability leads to a wide range in the values of physical and hydrologic properties found in the literature. These waste characteristics, along with others defined by researchers to better represent channeled flow, are influenced by environmental and operational conditions expected at MSW landfills. The two conditions which have the greatest effect on waste characteristics are infiltration intensity and compaction.

Models are evaluated to determine their ability to predict moisture movement through MSW, which is influenced by various environmental and operating conditions, as well as channeling. These models represent water balance, porous media, fractured media, and fractured - porous media methods of determining moisture movement. The results of the model chosen to predict experimental results are compared with the HELP model. The models are compared in terms of their ability to predict

experimental leachate discharge. Since leachate discharge is continuous it is characterized by discrete parameters which are used to facilitate model comparison.

The literature review enables six hypotheses to be developed regarding channeling, factors affecting moisture movement, and modeling of flow through municipal solid waste. The experimentation used in this study will be directed by these hypotheses. The six hypotheses are: Hypothesis 1:

Channeling of moisture through MSW occurs in pilot scale experimental cells. Null Hypothesis 1: Channeling of moisture through MSW does not occur in pilot scale experimental cells Hypothesis 2:

Increased infiltration intensity decreases the 1) practical field capacity, 2) effective storage, 3) breakthrough time, and 4) time to reach effective storage. Also, increased infiltration intensity increases 5) initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity, and 6) ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity.

Null Hypothesis 2: Increased infiltration intensity does not decrease practical field capacity, effective storage, breakthrough time and time to reach effective storage. Also, increased infiltration intensity does not increase initial or ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity Hypothesis 3:

Increased compaction increases the 1) practical field capacity, 2) effective storage, 3)

breakthrough time, and 4) time to reach effective storage. Also, increased compaction decreases 5) initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity, and 6) ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity. Null Hypothesis 3: Increased compaction does not increase practical field capacity, effective storage, breakthrough time and time to reach effective storage. Also, increased compaction does not decrease initial or ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity

Hypothesis 4:

Increased density increases the 1) practical field capacity, 2) effective storage, 3) breakthrough time, and 4) time to reach effective storage. Also, increased density decreases 5) initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity, and 6) ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity. Null Hypothesis 4: Increased density does not increase practical field capacity, effective storage, breakthrough time and time to reach effective storage. Also, increased density does not decrease initial or ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity

Hypothesis 5:

Implicitly accounting for channeling when modeling moisture movement through MSW as onedomain homogeneous Darcian flow allows for better prediction of moisture movement than if channeling is not considered. Moisture movement, represented by leachate discharge, is characterized by breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak volume, time to peak, total leachate discharged, and duration of the leachate event. The HELP model is used for these simulations.

Null Hypothesis 5: Implicitly accounting for channeling as one-domain homogeneous Darcian flow does not enable better prediction of breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak volume, time to peak, total leachate discharged, and duration of the leachate event, than ignoring channeling. Hypothesis 6:

Accounting for channeling as a two-domain process allows for better prediction of moisture movement than by implicitly considering it by adjusting flow parameters in the one-domain, homogeneous, Darcian flow model. Moisture movement is characterized by breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak volume, time to peak, total leachate discharged, and duration of the leachate event. Both the HELP model and a two-domain model chosen in evaluation are used for comparison.

Null Hypothesis 6: Accounting for channeling as a two-domain process does not allow better prediction of breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak volume, time to peak, total leachate discharged, and duration of the leachate event, than considering it by adjusting flow parameters in the one-dimensional, homogeneous, Darcian flow model.

3 METHOD

The experimental and statistical methods used to generate and evaluate data to test the six hypotheses are described in this chapter. The experimental design, setup and analysis of the moisture movement experiment are explained, as is the evaluation of the models chosen in the literature, and the choice of the two-domain model (PREFLO). The setup and use of the models (HELP and PREFLO) to predict moisture movement is discussed, as is the method used to compare model results. Finally the setup of supplementary experiments used to generate calibration data for the models is described.

3.1 MOISTURE MOVEMENT EXPERIMENT

The moisture movement experiment is performed to satisfy the research objectives (Chapter 1). The data generated by this experiment serves a threefold purpose. First, the data is analyzed to determine if channeling occurs in pilot-scale cells (hypothesis 1). Second, statistical analysis is performed to determine the effects of infiltration intensity, compaction and density on moisture movement through MSW (hypotheses 2, 3, and 4). Third, the data from the experiment is used to determine the ability of the HELP and PREFLO models to predict moisture movement (hypotheses 5 and 6). The experimental design is presented in the following section.

3.1.1 Experimental Design

Two 2^2 factorial designs are used in this study. The factors used are infiltration intensity, waste compaction and waste bulk density. Since density is varied through compaction these factors can be examined separately in the same cell. Therefore, this design allows the effects of three factors on moisture movement to be studied. The interaction between the factors may be investigated as well. Each factor is initially set at two levels, high and low. The high level of infiltration intensity is set to 30 mm/hr., while the low level is set to 7 mm/hr. These values are chosen because they correspond to precipitation intensities experienced in the Edmonton area (30 mm/hr. corresponds to the 10 - 15 yr. 1 hr. storm event, while 7 mm/hr. is less than the two year 1 hr. storm event; Hogg and Carr, 1985). Experimental cells compacted with a hydraulic ram are set to the high level of compaction, while cells which are not compacted with the ram are set to the low level of compaction. The amount of compaction directly affects the density of the MSW. The wet bulk density (total mass of waste before water addition divided by the total volume) of uncompacted cells averaged approximately 300 kg/m³. This value was set as the low level for density, and corresponds with the low range of densities expected at landfills where minimal compaction is experienced (Oweis and Khera, 1990). The high level of density is set to 600 kg/m³. This value corresponds with good landfill compaction (Tchobanoglous et. al., 1993), and is often achieved at large, modern landfills (Zyrmiak, 1994). Unfortunately, the density of the high compaction experimental cells averaged approximately 500 kg/m³. This necessitated the use of a botched factorial analysis to

determine the effects of these parameters on moisture movement (Box et. al., 1978). Table 3.1 summarizes the experimental settings of the eight cells used in the factorial experiments.

Cell #	Infiltration Intensity	Compaction / Density
1	Low	Low
3	Low	Low
2	Low	High
4	Low	High
5	High	Low
7	High	Low
6	High	High
8	High	High

Table 3.1 Settings of Experimental Cells

The pilot scale rectangular steel cells averaged 1.8 m long by 1.6 m wide by 1.5 m high (see Figure 3.1). They have an equivalent diameter greater than 10 times the average Rosin-Rammler particle size listed in Table 2.3 (the actual ratio is 12:1), therefore wall effects are minimized (Wall, 1993). Drainage holes were drilled in the cells to allow drainage of leachate and the placement of the instrumentation. The complete set-up of each cell is described in section 3.1.2. The instrumentation used to collect the data for the analysis is described below.

Channeling is investigated using data from tensiometers and flow-cup grids. Tensiometers ("Jet Fill" series 2725, SoilMoisture Equipment Corp.) measure the suction head in the waste, as well as indirectly measuring moisture content. If a tensiometer reads zero suction head, the medium surrounding the instrument is saturated. The flow-cup grid (Figure 3.2) measures the flow of leachate from specific portions of the cross-sectional area of the waste cell. It also provides an indirect measure of the change in moisture movement patterns over time. The flow-cup grid consists of twelve 10 cm diameter metal cans. A 1.5 m long, 0.65 cm diameter tube is connected to the side of each can, flush with the bottom. The complete can and tube assembly is referred to as a flow-cup. Leachate draining into a cup is conveyed out of the cell through the tube. The volume collected from each cup, along with the capillary pressure readings from the tensiometers are used to determine the presence of channeling (statistical analysis methods are presented in section 3.1.3). Flow-cup data along with the total volume of leachate collected in the experiment are used to determine the effects of infiltration intensity, compaction and density on moisture movement variables and this data is also used to compare the predictive abilities of the HELP and PREFLO models. The experimental setup from which this data was gathered is presented in the next section.

Figure 3.1: Experimental Cell





3.1.2 Experimental Setup

Each cell was loaded from bottom to top with 1) a PVC liner, 2) a flow cup grid, 3) municipal solid waste, 4) nine tensiometer sheaths, 6) one irrigation hose, and 7) a PVC cover. The purpose of the liner was to prevent leakage of leachate out of the cell except through the drain holes and flow-cup grid tubes.

The first instrument placed in the cell was the flow-cup grid. One grid was placed at the bottom of each cell. The tubes were threaded through the holes drilled in the cell wall. No crimping of the tubes was observed. The grid was centered so that each side was approximately 30 cm from the adjacent cell wall. All tubes sloped downward from the cans to the holes in the cell wall, so drainage was not retarded. To further ensure free drainage, fine wire screen was used to line the inside of each can, and placed over the top of each can. The screen prevented any fine particles from migrating into the can and prevented large particles from plugging the can. Drainage from each cup was collected in a two litre PET container.

With the flow-cup grid in place municipal solid waste was added. The MSW used for the main experiment was collected in two standard compactor trucks from a residential area in West Edmonton during the second week of October, 1994. The waste was tipped onto the truck garage floor at Waste Management Inc.'s West Edmonton Landfill and Recycle Facility, where the experiment was conducted. Each cell was then filled using a small front end loader. Approximately 5 kg of the waste was set aside for the determination of moisture content and particle size.

The heterogeneous nature of the waste leads to many surface irregularities. The surface of each cell was smoothed using a ten kg tamper. Tensiometer sheaths were then put in place. Only three tensiometers per cell were used. In order to collect more representative suction head data, it was necessary to move the tensiometers to different locations in the cell during the experiment. The nine tensiometer sheaths placed in each cell facilitated this movement and protected the tensiometers from damage. The sheaths were constructed from 25 mm diameter, hollow, PVC tubing, cut into three different lengths of 30, 60 and 100 cm. Clusters of three sheaths of different heights were driven into the waste at three different locations in the cell. The middle cluster was located at the center of the cell, while the end clusters were approximately 40 cm from the cell walls. The distance between sheaths in each cluster was limited to a maximum of 10 cm. The placement of the sheaths in this manner allowed for a suction head profile of the waste to be determined at three separate locations in the cell. To prevent channeling of water down the side of the sheaths, plastic bags were placed around the sheaths.

Three tensiometers were placed in each cell, in the cluster furthest from the drain holes. Tensiometer readings were taken before water addition as the tensiometers were moved from cluster to cluster. Sheaths not containing tensiometers were covered with Styrofoam cups to prevent water from entering the open sheath. Water was supplied to the cells through a network of hoses attached to a municipal water supply. A main hose, connected to the supply, was attached to a series of adjustable y-valves which allowed the water to be distributed to the eight cells. The valves allowed the moisture loading intensity for each cell to be adjusted (four cells were set to the high moisture loading rate, and four were set to the low level). Water was distributed over the surface area of the waste by conveying it through an irrigation hose laid on the surface of each cell. The spray from the hose uniformly wetted the surface of the cell. To further ensure uniform wetting, the irrigation hose was re-laid weekly. Water was added daily for 30 minutes. The 30 minute addition period is fairly representative of storms in this area (Hogg and Carr, 1985).

To prevent evaporation, a sheet of polyethylene was made over each cell after loading was complete. This covered the entire surface of the cell and was draped over the tensiometers. The sheet was only removed when tensiometer readings were taken, which amounted to less than five minutes a day for each cell. After the experimental setup was completed, the cells were tipped to ensure adequate drainage. Wooden blocks supported the cells on a five percent slope. The first addition of water occurred ten days after the setup was completed. This allowed for all instrumentation to equilibrate and the waste in the cells to settle.

Before daily water addition, tensiometer data, flow-cup grid data and total leachate discharge volume was recorded. The flow-cup grid data and leachate volume were recorded both before and after water addition. This was necessary because leachate discharged continued between the periods of water addition. The main experiment ran from October 24, 1994 until January 15, 1995, a period of 104 days. The data gathered during that time is statistically analyzed using the methods discussed in the following section.

3.1.3 Statistical Methods

The instrumentation used for the main experiment provides both a direct and indirect measure of channeling in the cells (section 3.1.1). The statistical methods used to analyze tensiometer data are discussed below.

Tensiometers provide an indirect measure of channeling because they record suction head and not a volume of water flowing through channels. However, the data can be used to test the channeling hypothesis by testing if moisture flows through the waste as a uniform, horizontal moisture front, as would be expected if homogeneous matrix flow occurs (section 2.1). However, the actual flow mechanism (e.g., Darcian or channel flow) cannot be tested with this data because it is an indirect method of measuring channeling. To test if the moisture front is uniform the readings of tensiometers at the same level in the waste are compared. If one or two of the three tensiometers at the same level read zero and the remaining do not the null hypothesis can be rejected. This is valid for any time after the start of water addition. The one sided t-distribution is used to compare the number of times all tensiometers on one level read zero with the number of times they are non-zero for the entire period of water addition. The null hypothesis, that the moisture front is uniform, is rejected if the number of times all tensiometers are saturated is not significant compared to the number of times all are not saturated. This is evaluated at the 95% confidence interval. The random variable in this analysis is the proportion of number of days all tensiometers at the same level are not saturated to the number of days all are saturated. The t-test may be used with the following assumptions: 1) the random variable is normally distributed, 2)random variables are independent, and 3) the variance of the populations are equal.

Though there may be some correlation in the random variable (i.e. all tensiometers are likely to be saturated if all were saturated on the previous day, assuming uniform moisture movement), independence is assumed to simplify calculations. The normality of the random variable may be verified using histograms and normal probability plots, however, because the t-distribution is fairly robust the results are insensitive to the assumption (Box et. al., 1978).

Flow-cup grid data is also used to test the channeling hypothesis. The hypothesis can be divided into two sub-hypotheses which test if moisture moves uniformly through the waste, and test the actual flow mechanism. These sub-hypotheses are:

A) Moisture does not flow as a uniform, horizontal, moisture front

B) Darcian flow is not the only flow mechanism occurring in the cells

The statistical methods used to analyze the flow-cup grid data are described below.

Sub-hypothesis A is tested using the discrete volume of leachate discharged from each flow cup as the random variable. If the discrete discharge from the flow cups do not equal one another at any time after water addition the null hypothesis (moisture flows through waste as a uniform front) can be rejected.

A one-way analysis of variance test (ANOVA) is used to test the hypothesis. The null hypothesis is rejected if the spatial variation in leachate discharge from the flow cups is greater than the temporal variation. This is evaluated at the 95% confidence interval. Since the discrete leachate discharge from any flow cup is independent of the other cups in the cell, independence of the random variable can be assumed. This assumption is valid since ANOVA is fairly robust and relatively insensitive to violations of the assumption of normality and equal variance (Miller and Free at, 1985). Also, the assumptions of ANOVA can be approximately justified if the experiment is randomized (Box et. al., 1978), as is the case for the moisture movement and supplementary experiments conducted. Therefore, one-way ANOVA is used to test this hypothesis.

Sub-hypothesis B is tested using the mean discrete volume of leachate discharged by each cup in the grid over time. If the mean of the discharge does not increase over time the null hypothesis can be rejected. As mentioned in section 2.1.2, in the Darcian flow representation of moisture movement the flow rate through the waste increases as the moisture content of a porous matrix increases and capillary pressure is reduced (this is described mathematically by equation 3). Therefore, the flow rate out of the cells should increase with time as more water is added.

This sub-hypothesis is tested using a difference of means test. If the means of the discharge of each flow cup do not increase significantly over time at the 95% confidence level the null hypothesis can be rejected. Differences of mean volumes of less than 1 ml between consecutive time periods are considered insignificant. This value is chosen because it is the smallest reading of leachate volume to occur, and the small value biases the analysis against rejecting the null hypothesis. The random variable must be normally distributed to use the difference of means test (Beyer, 1968). Though the distribution of discrete leachate discharge is not normal, the means of the discrete readings, taken over a four day time period, can be assumed to be normally distributed due to the Central Limit Theorem. Because the leachate volumes may be influenced by the loading :ate, this test is only tested on cells with a constant loading rate. This includes all the high infiltration intensity cells (cells 5 through 8). Also, flow-cups which read zero for the entire duration of water addition are not included in the analysis.

The results of the flow-cup grid data analysis and the tensiometer data analysis are used together to confirm the presence of channeling in the experimental cells, and thus both are used to confirm the main channeling hypothesis. The statistical tests, limitations and assumptions used to test hypotheses 2, 3, and 4, are discussed below.

As mentioned, the first factorial analysis tests the effects and interactions of infiltration intensity and compaction, while the second examines intensity and waste density. The loading rates and density changed with time and deviated from the high and low level settings and a botched factorial analysis was used (Box et. al., 1978). Table 3.2 shows the settings of both factorial analyses.

41

INFILTRATION INT	ENSITY AND COMPACTION	[
Setting	Setting Value (cod	led parameter)
	INFILTRATION	COMPACTION
	INTENSITY	
HIGH	30 mm/hr. (1)	Compacted (1)
LOW	7 mm/hr. (-1)	Uncompacted (-1)
Low Intensity, Low Compaction Cells	10.8 mm/hr. (-0.67)	Uncompacted (-1)
Low Intensity, High Compaction Cells	11.1 mm/hr. (-0.64)	Compacted (1)
High Intensity, Low Compaction Cells	18.9 mm/hr. (0.03)	Uncompacted (-1)
High Intensity, High Compaction Cells	22.4 mm/hr. (0.39)	Compacted (1)
INFILTRATION I	NTENSITY AND DENSITY	
Setting	Setting Value (coo	led parameter)
	INFILTRATION	DENSITY
	INTENSITY	
HIGH	30 mm/hr. (1)	600 kg/m^3 (1)
LOW	7 mm/hr. (-1)	300 kg/m ³ (-1)
Low Intensity, Low Compaction Cells	10.8 mm/hr. (-0.67)	405 kg/m ³ (-0.30)
Low Intensity, High Compaction Cells	11.1 mm/hr. (-0.64)	478 kg/m ³ (0.18)
High Intensity, Low Compaction Cells	18.9 mm/hr. (0.03)	403 kg/m ³ (-0.32)
High Intensity, High Compaction Cells	22.4 mm/hr. (0.39)	478 kg/m ³ (0.18)

The settings shown in the table take into account the variable moisture loading rate and the change in density over the duration of the experiment. The only parameter which does not vary is compaction. As mentioned, a cell is considered compacted if it was packed with a hydraulic ram before the start of the experiment. No further compaction was applied when the experiment started, therefore, compaction does not vary over the duration of the experiment.

The use of a factorial design allows the effects and interactions of the factors on moisture movement to be quantified. The analysis is facilitated by characterizing moisture movement by discrete measurable quantities which include: 1) practical field capacity moisture content, 2) effective storage moisture effective storage field capacity, 4) water added to reach effective storage, 5) breakthrough time, 6) time to reach steady state, 7) initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity, and 8) ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity were examined. Water added to reach practical field capacity and water added to reach effective storage are included as supplementary variables which link the moisture contents with times but are not actual moisture movement variables (e.g., water added to reach practical field capacity is the amount of water added from the start of moisture loading to breakthrough time, increasing the initial moisture content of the waste to practical field capacity). All of the variables were chosen because they have been developed to illustrate the difference between matrix and a combination of matrix-channeled flow in previous studies (section 2.2.2). Therefore, it is possible to compare the values found in this experiment with other moisture movement studies.

3.2 MOISTURE MOVEMENT MODELING

The modeling component of the study involves the evaluation of existing models to predict moisture movement, as well as comparing the results generated by the highest ranking model to actual experimental results. Finally these model results are compared to the HELP model to determine which approach more accurately predicts measured moisture movement. The following section presents the method used for model evaluation.

3.2.1 Evaluation of Models

The models listed in section 2.3 were evaluated using a check list of important parameters developed from the literature review (Table 3.3). Their ability to model moisture movement through MSW depended on how they accounted for the parameters shown in Table 3.3. The parameters are subdivided into waste and flow characteristics, environmental conditions, operational conditions, and model output. Each parameter is equally rated, independent of category, because each is needed to either realistically represent the physical system (e.g., initial moisture content) or provide relevant information to a solid waste professional (e.g., head on liner). Therefore, the more checklist parameters accounted for by a model the higher the model ranked. Several different scoring methods were applied to the models. Table 3.4 shows the scores of the top seven models (fractured - porous media, and porous media models), as well as, the top ranking fractured media, and water balance model evaluated according to the checklist. The final rankings of all models are shown in Table 3.5.

Table 3.3: Checklist Parameters

1. WASTE AND FLOW CHARACTERISTICS

- 1.1 models both saturated and unsaturated conditions
- 1.2 models both imbibition and drying conditions
- 1.3 models heterogeneous media
- 1.4 accounts for channeled flow
- 1.5 accounts for matrix flow

2. ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

- 2.1 models variable infiltration intensity
- 2.2 accounts for antecedent moisture conditions
- 2.3 accounts for temperature effects (e.g., evaporation)
- 2.4 accounts for biological effects (e.g., biodegradation, transpiration)

3. OPERATIONAL CONDITIONS

- 3.1 accounts for initial moisture content
- 3.2 accounts for varying particle size
- 3.3 accounts for porosity
- 3.4 accounts for channel orientation, diameter and length
- 3.5 models both free drainage and pressure flow

4. MODEL OUTPUT

- 4.1 gives average and peak leachate volume
- 4.2 gives average and peak leachate flow rate
- 4.3 gives breakthrough time
- 4.4 gives duration of event
- 4.5 gives leachate quality
- 4.6 gives head on liner
- 4.7 gives moisture profile of the waste
- 4.8 gives leachate migration from the landfill
- 4.9 gives water balance on landfill
- 4.10 applicable for use over the entire landfill

Tadow	*E	Waste and Flow		記	Characteristics	2. Emv	ironmental Condit) ja	2. Environmental Conditions 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4	3 Operational Conditions 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	32 3	d Conditi 3.3 3	1110015 3.4 3.5	Ļ	4. Moc	4. Model Output 4.1 4.2 4.	42 4.3	4.4	\$	46	41	81	4.0 4.10		TUTAL
Fractured-Porous Media Model PREFLO (Wortman and Stagge, 1990)	7	7		~	۲	٢	~	~	4	~			1 1		1		7	~		7	Ŷ	_	7	~	19
Fractured-Porous Media Model MACRO (Jarvis, 1904)	7	7		~	1	۲	7	~	7	~		-	7 7		7		۲	۲	7		7		7	~	=
Fractured-Porous Modia Model (Gerke and varGenuchten, 1903)	7	7		~	7		7			~	~	~	7		7	1	۲	*	*	7	7			~	=
Porous Media Model (Cornell and Bell, 1993)	~	~			د	4	7	~		~	7		~		7	4	7	7		7	7		7	~	1
Frechwed-Porous Media Model (Hoogmoed and Rouma, 1980)	7	~		~	۲		7		7	7			7 7		7		7	7		7	7		7	1	16
Fractured-Porous Media Model (Beven and Germann, 1981)	7			~	7	7	~			~			7		7	~	7	7		7	7		7	7	s.
Fractured-Porous Media Model LASOMS (Chen and Wagenet, 1992)	~			~	4		~				~	$\frac{1}{2}$	7		>	2	7	7		۲	~			7	15
Fractured Modia Model (Nordgrist et. al., 1992)			~	~				~		 		~	1		7		7		7					~	6
Weter Balance Model (Gee, 1981)	7	~					~			 		~			~								~	~	

Table 3.4: Scores of the Top Models Evaluated

CRITERIA (Refer to Checklist, Table 3.2, For Criteria Listing)

Table 3.5: Overall Model Rankings

MODEL TYPE AND AUTHOR	OVERALL RANK
Enclosed Descended to the state	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	1
Workman and Skaggs, 1990 - PREFLO	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	1
Jarvis, 1994 - MACRO	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	2
Gerke and van Genuchten, 1993	
Porous Media Model	3
Connell and Bell, 1993	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	4
Hoogmoed and Bouma, 1980	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	5
Beven and Germann, 1981	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	5
Chen and Wagenet, 1992 - LASOMS	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	6
Miller and Mishra, 1988	
Porous Media Model	7
Straub and Lynch, 1982	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	8
Edwards et. al., 1979	
Porous Media Model	9
Korfiatis et. al., 1984 - LANDFIL	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	10
Germann and Beven, 1985	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	11
Peters and Klavetter, 1988	
Fractured - Porous Media Model	12
Davidson, 1985	
Fractured Media Model	13
Nordqvist et. al., 1992	
Porous Media Model	14
Noble and Arnold, 1991 - FULFIL	
Water Balance Model	15
Gee, 1981 a	15
Fractured Media Model	16
	10
Fractured Media Model Evans and Huang, 1983	16

The PREFLO model by Workman and Skaggs and the MACRO model by Jarvis ranked highest overall (see Table 3.4 and 3.5). The PREFLO model was chosen for comparison to the HELP model instead of MACRO because 1) it explicitly considers the physical properties of the channels (e.g., diameter), 2) it does not model channeled flow as modified Darcian flow, and, 3) fewer estimates of empirical parameters need to be made for the use of this model (for example, no estimate of a macropore hydraulic conductivity is required). The PREFLO and HELP models are used to predict experimental results. The methods of comparison are described in the next section.

3.2.2 Comparison of Model Results

In order to determine how well both models predict moisture movement through MSW, the results are evaluated with respect to 6 discrete parameters which characterize continuous leachate discharge. These parameters, defined in the literature review, are breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak leachate volume, time to peak, total leachate volume discharged, and duration of the leachate event. Model results are compared to each other and to measured results. These comparisons are used to test the modeling hypothesis. Hypothesis 5 is tested by comparing two sets of HELP model results to experimental results. The first set of results is generated by using HELP default input parameters. These values do not account for channeling. The second set of results is generated from input parameters developed to account for channeling. These parameters are obtained from the literature and experimental results (see section 3.3 on the experimental methods used to determine the input parameters). Hypothesis 6 is tested by comparing the results of both the HELP and PREFLO model to experimental results. The input parameters used for the PREFLO model are obtained from the literature and results of the moisture movement and supplementary experiments conducted because no default values exist for this model.

3.3 SUPPLEMENTARY EXPERIMENTS

In order to obtain data to calibrate the HELP and PREFLO models supplementary MSW experiments were conducted. These tests included initial moisture content determinations, Rosin-Rammler particle size analysis, moisture content - capillary pressure relationship, and channel size and flow pattern analysis.

The initial moisture content data is used as input into both flow models. Initial moisture contents are determined with the same method used in previous studies (Carter, 1993; Zeiss and Major, 1993). Grab samples were taken from each cell used in the main experiment and weighed. They were then dried to constant weight at 103°C. The sample masses ranged between 1 and 3 kg. In order to get a representative moisture content the average from all grab samples was used as model input.

Rosin-Rammler particle size is used to verify that the waste used in the experiment is typical of waste used in other studies by comparing it to literature values. The analysis was conducted according to the method described by Hasselriis (1984). Like initial moisture content determinations, 1 - 3 kg grab samples from each cell used in the main experiment were analyzed.

The moisture content - capillary pressure relationship is used as input into the PREFLO model. This relationship was determined by following the method described by Carter, (1993) for determining the relationship in soil. However, the heterogeneity of the waste required a much larger scale setup. In order to obtain a representative sample of waste 90 to 120 kg must be used (Klee, 1993). Therefore, the experiment was conducted in sealed, 1.8 m high, 0.55 m diameter steel cylinders. Tensiometers were placed at three different levels in the waste to record capillary pressure. Water drained out of the cell through a drain spout at the bottom of the cell. With the initial moisture content recorded, water was added to the waste in the cell until saturation occurred. This saturation volume was recorded. The waste was then allowed to drain freely. The amount of water drained was recorded and subtracted from the saturation volume to determine the volumetric moisture content of the waste. Once free drainage had ceased, the tensiometers were read, and the average value recorded. The moisture content of the waste after free drainage has ceased is referred to as the field capacity. It corresponds to a capillary pressure of 0.33 bars. Negative pressure was then applied to the column with a peristaltic pump. Once drainage at the first pressure applied ceased, and the capillary pressure and moisture content were recorded, the suction was increased.

The range of negative pressures applied by the peristaltic pump was small; however, it was possible to supplement the data with data from moisture content determinations (both air dry and initial). This allowed for a curve to be completed. Although the data was unsuitable to use as model input because of the limited range of pressures used the curve created was compared to similar data from Korfiatis, 1984. The two data for the curves was fitted to the Brooks - Corey equation (see Figure 3.3). The large values of the r^2 parameters of the regression ($r^2 = 0.92$ for Korfiatis data, and $r^2 = 0.76$ for the experimental data), showed that Brooks - Corey could well represent the moisture content - capillary pressure relationship in MSW. Therefore, the Brooks - Corey equation, along with parameters found from previous moisture movement studies (e.g., Zeiss and Major, 1993) were used as input into the model.



Figure 3.3: Data From Moisture Content - Capillary Pressure Curve Supplementary Experiment Fitted to the Brooks-Corey Equation

Channel diameter and length are required as input into the PREFLO model. Therefore, these parameters were determined through supplementary experiments. Also, the pattern of moisture flow through these channels was also examined to show the actual patterns of channeling in pilot scale cells.

The first channeling experiment was performed in 1.8 m by 0.55 m diameter steel cells with cross-sectional areas of 0.26 m². Approximately 35 kg of waste was loaded into each of the two cells used for the experiment. The diameter and shape of the channels was found by filling up the channels with plaster of Paris, similar to the method given in Vermeul et. al., 1993. Plaster of Paris was poured over the top of the waste in the cell as well as introduced through a 25 mm hollow PVC tube which had been driven into the waste. The plaster of Paris was diluted sufficiently so that it had a consistency similar to water, and flowed through the waste much like water. The plaster was allowed to cure for one month. Waste was peeled off the plaster in layers, and casts of the channels were formed. The number, diameter and length of each channel cast was recorded and the average equivalent diameter, and percentage pore area vs. total area were calculated (results shown in Table 3.6). These parameters were used as input into PREFLO.

Layer	Number of	Average Pore	Average	Average	Pore Filled Area
Number	Pores in Layer	Depth (cm)	Equivalent Pore	Pore Area	
		(St. Dev.)	Radius (cm)	(cm ²)	
			(St. Dev.)	(St. Dev.)	
1	10	4.5	1.8	16.9	6.6%
		(6.8)	(1.5)	(28.3)	
2	13	3.3	1.8	10.7	4.7%
		(1.8)	(0.4)	(5.5)	
3	20	3.6	2.0	13.4	10.5%
		(1.4)	(0.7)	(10.1)	
4	22	3.5	1.7	10.3	8.9%
		(1.6)	(0.6)	(7.6)	
5	5	4.8	3.6	45.8	8.9% ·
		(1.3)	(1.4)	(32.2)	
AVERAGE	14	3.7	1.9	14.8	8.0%
	(7)	(2.9)	(1.0)	(17.2)	

Table 3.6: Physical Properties of Channels Determined from Supplementary Experiment

Through the use of plaster of Paris typical channel shape, diameter and length are found. However, the experiment does not indicate how moisture moves through the waste, and, specifically what pattern and through what cross-sectional area flow occurs. This information is needed to estimate the number of channels which actively convey flow and are not simply "dead end" pores (Freeze and Cherry, 1979). Therefore, a tracer test was performed. White latex primer, with a consistency more similar to water than plaster of Paris, was used to trace the flow path. One pilot scale cell (cell 2, low infiltration intensity, high compaction) was used for this experiment. A one metre square was marked off in the middle of the cell. The waste in the square was removed in 10 to 20 cm lifts, ten minutes after primer addition. The areas of the cross-section marked by the tracer were recorded (Table 3.7), as well as their approximate location in the 1 m square. This data, which was supplemented by pictures of each layer (see Figure 3.4), is used to correct the percentage pore area listed in Table 3.6 to reflect only the area taken up by *a*ctive pores. Therefore, the dead end pore area is neglected. The average pore area (8.0%) is maltiplied by the average area marked by the tracer (26%) to estimate the average active pore area. This value (2.0%) is used as input into the PREFLO model.

LAYER NUMBER	TRACER MARKED AREA NUMBER	AREA (m ²)	TOTAL TRACER MARKED AREA
1 (surface of cell)	1	1	100%
2	1	0.08	33%
	2	0.20	-
	3	0.05	1
3	1	0.2	38%
	2	0.06	
	3	0.12	
4	1	0.03	3%
5	1	0.08	15%
	2	0.07	- ·
6	1	0.23	
	2	0.20	43%
AVERAGE (ex	cluding top layer)	0.20	26%

Table 3.7: Flow	Area	Estimated from	m Tracer	Fest
-----------------	------	----------------	----------	-------------

Note: Top level is excluded in average because it does not reflect pore area through which tracer flows because tracer is applied evenly over this layer

The experimental methods for the supplementary experiments allow the experimentally derived input parameters for both models to be determined. The models are calibrated with these parameters, and the predictions generated are used to test the modeling hypotheses (hypotheses 5 and 6). In addition to these methods, the experimental methods used in the setup and design of the moisture movement experiment have been discussed, as well as the statistical methods used to analyze the data generated from this experiment. The results of the statistical analysis is used to test the hypotheses.

Figure 3.4: Sample Cross-Section for Supplementary Channel Flow Experiment



4 RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

In order to test each hypothesis all experimental and simulation results are analyzed according to the methods previously described. The results of all experiments and simulations, as well as analysis are presented in this chapter.

4.1 MOISTURE MOVEMENT EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

Data and summary statistical results are presented in this section. First, the waste characteristics such as initial moisture content, particle size, and density are presented. The experimental results, including the moisture movement figures are also shown. Tensiometer and flow-cup grid data are presented and used to evaluate the channeling hypothesis. Lastly, the results from the main moisture movement experiment are used in a factorial analysis to evaluate cach operational condition hypotheses (hypotheses 2, 3, and 4).

4.1.1 Experimental Cell Results

Initial moisture contents, Rosin-Rammler particle size, and initial and final heights and densities are presented in Table 4.1 for the eight experimental cells. The initial moisture contents and Rosin-Rammler parameters are similar to those found in the literature (Table 2.3). Table 4.1 shows large changes in density and height over time. It is interesting to note that a low compaction cell, cell 3, has the highest density at the end of the experiment. In fact, at the end of the experiment cells 3 and 5 had densities comparable to the high compaction cells. Figures 4.1 to 4.4 show the density increases and height decreases rapidly after the waste is initially placed in the cell. The change in density and height is greater in the low compaction cells. The density of the low compaction cells increases approximately 60% over the test, while the density of the high compaction cells increases by only 17%. This may indicate the effectiveness of the compaction applied to the high compaction cells, as there was little void space into which the waste could settle because the waste was packed more tightly.

	I	.ow Inter	sity Cell	S	H	ligh Inter	nsity Cell	S	All	Cells
PARAMETER	Comp	ow action ells		gh action Ells	Comp	ow action ells	Сотр	gh action ells	Avg.	St. Dev.
	Cell 1	Cell 3	Cell 2	Cell 4	Cell 5	Cell 7	Cell 6	Cell 8		
Initial Moisture Content (v/v)	0.069	0.091	0.114	0.111	0.083	0.076	0.108	0.117	0.096	0.019
Rosin-Rammler Xo (cm)	7.0	4.5	7.0	9.0	8.0	7.0	9.0	7.0	7.3	1.4
Rosin-Rammler n (-)	1.28	1.30	1.31	1.31	1.27	1.29	1.31	1.30	1.30	0.02
Initial Height (m)	1.05	1.10	1.05	1.05	1.05	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.04	0.04
Final Height (m)	0.68	0.64	0.95	0.90	0.65	0.62	0.78	0.86	0.76	0.13
Initial Density (kg/m ³)	267	353	445	432	323	298	420	458	375	73
Final Density (kg/m ³)	413	607	492	504	522	484	539	532	512	55

Table 4.1: Experimental Cell Data



Figure 4.1: Change in Waste Bulk Density Over Time for Low Compaction Cells



Figure 4.2: Change in Waste Bulk Density Over Time for High Compaction Cells



Figure 4.3: Change in Waste Height Over Time for Low Compaction Cells


Figure 4.4: Change in Waste Height Over Time for High Compaction Cells

Discrete infiltration, storage and discharge curves for the main moisture movement experiment are given in Figures 4.5 to 4.12. Cumulative curves are shown in Figures 4.13 to 4.20. These figures show that leachate is discharged soon after water is first added to the cells (a total of 100 ml of leachate is discharged from cells 2 to 5 and 7 and 8 in the days before water is added, due to settlement of the waste squeezing out moisture). Generally, these curves show that high infiltration intensity cells discharge a greater amound of leachate more quickly than low infiltration intensity cells. Also, high compaction cells store more moisture than low compaction cells. This is also shown in Table 4.2 which presents the moisture movement variables: practical field capacity (PFC), effective storage (ES), water added to reach practical field capacity (W_{PFC}) and effective storage (W_{ES}), breakthrough time (t_{br}), time to effective storage (t_{ES}), and initial and ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (K_{un} initial and K_{un} ultimate).

O-Discharge • 8 8 DISCRETE INFILTRATION, DISCHARGE AND STORAGE VS. TIME 8 2 3 · CELL 1 Time (days) 50 \$ ÷ 1 R Ŀ -0 23 1: 2 999999 0 2 ę, 2 ò ង 2 2 2 ŝ ÷, ġ Volume (L)





Figure 4.6: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 3



Figure 4.7: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 2





O-Discharge • • 🖛 • • Storage 8 6 DISCRETE INFILTRATION, DISCHARGE AND STORAGE VS. TIME 80 <u> Ne On Oreanne e Onnie com De le come certres</u> 2 8 CELL 5 Time (days) 8 4 2 1 -2 ام O 1 a C 23 L Ì 8 1 d 2 999 0 6 ŝ 8 ò - 01-25 ຊ 2 2 Ś ý Volume (L)

Discrete

Figure 4.9: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 5

Figure 4.10: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 7



-Infiltration -O-Discharge · · - · Storage 8 8 DISCRETE INFILTRATION, DISCHARGE AND STORAGE VS. TIME • CELL 6 80 20 99 Time (days) 30 ş ę. - 6 • 1- = : : -----23 Ī 4 o o 2 c \$ 33 ġ 22 Ξ 8 15 Ś ò ý . 0 Volume (L)

Figure 4.11: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 6



Figure 4.12: Discrete Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 8

Figure 4.13: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 1





Figure 4.14: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cell 3

Figure 4.15: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 2



Figure 4.16: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 4



- Infiltration -O-Discharge · · - · · Storage 8 8 80 CURIULATIVE INFILTRATION, DISCHARGE 2 AND STORAGE VS. TIME 8 - CELL S ÷. Time (di ç, **6** 9 Ż 3 g **CI** 2 **3000000**1 () c 500 0 450 400 350 250 202 150 30 Volume (L)







Figure 4.19: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 6





Figure 4.20: Cumulative Infiltration, Discharge and Storage for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cell 8



	Low Intensity Cells			High Intensity Cells			All Cells			
PARAMETER	Comp	ow action ells	Comp	gh action ells	Comp	ow Paction ells	Сотр	gh action ells	Avg.	St. Dev.
	Cell 1	Cell 3	Cell 2	Cell 4	Cell 5	Cell 7	Cell 6	Cell 8		
PFC (v/v)	0.090	0.130	0.133	0.132	0.113	0.105	0.126	0.133	0.120	0.016
ES (v/v)	0.146	0.287	0.238	0.200	0.144	0.107	0.195	0.171	0.186	0.057
W _{PFC} (L)	14.9	6.7	8.2	14.0	18.1	19.6	25.6	19.2	15.8	6.2
W _{ES} (L)	285	285	333	246	183	86	398	302	265	95
t _{bt} (minutes)	15	1484	2880	30	15	15	20	15	559	1069
1 ₂₅ (days)	23	54	53	18	9	2	15	15	24	19
K., initial (cm/s)	4.84 E-2	4.77 E-4	2.99 E-4	2.70 E-2	4.67 E-2	4.47 E-2	4.00 E-2	5.29 E-2	3.26 E-2	2.12 E-2
K _{us} ultimate (cm/s)	2.∂9 E-6	2.43 E-6	4.42 E-6	1.98 E-6	1.05 E-5	1.13 E-5	1.48 E-5	1.11 E-5	7.33 E-6	5.13 E-5

Table 4.2: Values of Moisture Movement Variables

The results in Table 4.2 also indicate the nature of the flow through the cells. As stated, Darcy's Law is used to describe laminar flow through a porous media (section 2.1.2). The media can be either heterogeneous or homogeneous, however, flow is not Darcian if the flow regime is turbulent (Bouwer, 1978). If the flow through the experimental cells is turbulent, Darcian flow is not the only moisture movement mechanism at work in the cells, therefore, channeled flow must be occurring. The flow regime occurring in the cells can be determined from the values of initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (K_{us} initial) shown in Table 4.2 by calculating the Reynolds number (equation 2). If the Reynolds number is greater than 10 the flow is not laminar, therefore, not Darcian.

Recall from section 2.1.2 the Reynolds number is calculated from the following equation:

$$\mathbf{Re} = (\rho^* \mathbf{q}^* \mathbf{d}) / \mu \tag{2}$$

where:

```
\rho = the density of the fluid flowing through the pore (M/L<sup>3</sup>)
```

q = the specific discharge; flow rate per unit area, or flux (L/T)

 $\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{the \ diameter \ of \ the \ pore \ (L)}$

 μ = the absolute viscosity of the fluid (M/L/T)

All variables of this equation are known or can be estimated for the experimental cells. Water is assumed to be at 10°C (this was the average temperature of the room in which the experiment was performed), therefore, the density (ρ) and the absolute viscosity (μ) can be set to correspond to this temperature. The value of q is set to K_{us} initial. Recall from equation 3 (section 2.1.2) that these values are equal if the hydraulic gradient is unity. The hydraulic gradient in the cells is greater than unity because the suction head in the waste is greater than zero (unsaturated conditions). Therefore, K_{us} initial is an underestimate of q. By setting the value of Re to 10, which is the limit of Darcian flow, the diameter of the pore can be calculated. If the calculated pore diameter is less than the average pore diameter found from the supplementary experiment (Table 3.6) the flow is turbulent, so channeled flow must occur. Table 4.3 shows the values of the diameters calculated using equation 2.

Average Pore Diameter Found From Supplementary Experiment (cm)			3.8			
Water Density at 10°C (kg/m ³)			1000			
Dynamic Viscosity of Water at 10°C (Ns/m ²)			1.31E-3			
Crit	Critical Reynolds Nember			10		
Cell Number	Cell Number K _{us} initial		Critical	Flow Regime	Darcian Flow	
	(cm/s)	Diameter (cm)	Diameter (cm)			
1	4.84E-2	2.7	3.8	Turbulent	No	
2	4.77E-4	275	3.8	Laninz	i es	
3	2.99E-4	438	3.8	Laminar	Yes	
4	2.70E-2	4.9	3.8	Laminar	Yes	
5	4.67E-2	2.8	3.8	Turbulent	No	
6	4.47E-2	2.9	3.8	Turbuient	No	
7	4.00E-2	3.3	3.8	Turte	No	
8	5.29E-2	2.5	3.8	Turbulent	No	
Average	3.26E-2	4.0	3.8	Laminar	Yes	

Table 4.3: Calculated Pore Diameters Using Critical Reynolds Number

Table 4.3 shows that for cells 1 and 5 through 8 the calculated pore diameter is smaller than the experimental diameter, and therefore, flow through these cells is turbulent. It should be noted that this analysis is based on the assumption that moisture is moving through only one pore. In reality there are a great number of pores which make up the porous matrix, as well as a number of macropores. The diameters, both calculated and critical, would have to be increased to show that moisture moves through more than one pore. However, this analysis does show that turbulent flow is possible, and that Darcian flow may not be the only flow mechanism in the cells.

Also, Table 4.2 shows that the average K_{uu} initial is 3.86E-2 cm/s. This value is in the range of saturated hydraulic conductivities found in the literature (Table 2.3). However, the moisture contents at practical field capacity are much smaller than the porosity values listed in Table 2.3 (the average of practical field capacities listed in Table 4.2 is 0.12, while the average porosity of the values listed in Table 2.3 is 0.49). This shows that the waste in the cells is unsaturated, yet, the rate at which leachate is flowing through the waste is comparable to the saturated hydraulic conductivity determined for MSW by other experimenters. However, the initial moisture content, and Rosin-Rammler particle size of the waste in the cells (Table 4.1) is consistent with the literature values, so the waste used in the experiment is comparable to the waste examined by others. This indicates that flow through the waste may not be Darcian alone, because the leachate flow rate is greater than would be calculated if Darcy's Law (equation 3). were used, and the apparent unsaturated hydraulic conductivity at practical field capacity (K_{uu} initial), is in the same range as the saturated hydraulic conductivity values found in the literature, where Darcian flow was assumed.

Furthermore, the results of the tracer test (Table 3.7) show that, on average, only 26% of the cross-sectional area of the waste conveys flow. Also, the areas marked by the tracer were not adjacent to each other but on opposite sides of the area (Figure 3.4). However, if the media were homogeneous and the flow was Darcian, a more uniform distribution of the tracer would be expected as tracer would flow evenly through the waste. As Zeiss and Major conclude, the small cross-sectional area of flow, and the unconnected active flow areas indicate channeled flow and contradict vertical one-dimensional Darcian flow (Zeiss and Major, 1993).

These results show the waste and flow characteristics observed in the cells used for the main experiment. The examination of these results shows that chan-eled flow may occur in the experimental cells. The channeling hypothesis can also be tested using the tensiometer and flow-cup grid data. The analysis of this data is presented below.

4.1.2 Tensiometer Results

The analysis of the tensiometer data is used to test the channeling hypothesis (hypothesis 1). Tensiometer data is shown for all cells in Figures 4.21 through 4.28. As noted on the figures the first tensiometer readings occur on day 12, which is when moisture loading for each cell started (twelve days after loading). Water addition was discontinued at different times for each cell, and steady state was reached at different times as well. The discussion below highlights general tensiometer trends for each cell. This is followed by summary statistics for each channeling sub-hypothesis, as well as a discussion of the analysis.

First the low infiltration intensity, low compaction cells (cells 1 and 3) are considered (Figures 4.21 and 4.22). The figures show the tensiometer readings in centibars. Some general patterns are seen in the figures. For cell 1 water addition is stopped on day 48. For both the tensiometer readings are few occasions where all tensiometers are reading zero simultaneously. The tensiometer readings generally decrease as water is added, indicating that the area around the tensiometer is becoming wetter, however, for the most part the tensiometers for the top and middle level remain consistently unsaturated. Steady state is reached on day 35, and except for the bottom level, not all tensiometers read zero at that time.

Cell 3 is a replicate of cell 1, however, steady state occurred later than cell 1. Water addition was discontinued on day 64. Numerous non-zero readings are evident on all levels over the entire test duration, with few occasions of simultaneous saturation of tensiometers on the same level. This indicates that the moisture front is not uniform. As with cell 1, there is a general wetting of the tensiometers with time.

The low infiltration intensity, high compaction cells are cells 2 and 4. The tensiometer data for these cells is presented in Figure 4.23 and 4.24. Some differences between replicates can be observed by examining the figures. Water addition for cell 2 continued until day 69. For the duration of water addition all tensiometers on each level read zero simultaneously on numerous occasions. Most tensiometers, on all levels, read zero for the entire test duration except for certain days when non-zero values were read. Therefore, the moisture front may not be uniform, although it is difficult to observe this from the figure.

Water addition for cell 4, the replicate of cell 2, was discontinued on day 48. Unlike cell 2, numerous non-zero readings are evident, specifically for the middle and bottom level of the waste. Also, there are few occasions of simultaneous zero readings, specifically for the middle level tensiometers. This indicates that the moisture front is not uniform.

80





TOP LEVEL TENSIOMETER READINGS VS. TIME - CELL 3



Figure 4.22: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 3 - Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)



Figure 4.23: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 2 - Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)







Figure 4.25: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 5 - High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)



Figure 4.26: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 7 - High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)



Figure 4.27: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 6 - High AstAration Intensity. High Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)



Figure 4.28: Tensiometer Readings for Cell 8 - High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction ((a) top level, (b) middle level, (c) bottom level)

The tensiometer data for the high infiltration intensity, low compaction cells (cells 5 and 7) is shown in Figures 4.25 and 4.26. More similarities may be found between these cells than between replicate low infiltration intensity cases. For cell 5 water addition ceased on day 28. At all levels, especially the top and bottom levels, numerous non-zero readings occur during the period of water addition. In fact, few simultaneous zero readings for tensiometers on the same level occur. This indicates that the moisture front is not uniform. The tensiometer data of cell 5, therefore, is a good illustration of the effects of channeling on moisture movement through MSW with respect to the capillary pressure of the waste column.

Water addition for cell 7 was also discontinued on day 28. The middle level tensiometer data show numerous non-zero readings during moisture loading, with simultaneous non-zero readings occurring. However, few non-zero readings are shown in the other two levels. Therefore, the data of the middle level, shows a non-uniform moisture front, however, it is more difficult to determine this from the data at the other levels.

The tensiometer data for high infiltration intensity, high compaction cells (cell 6 and 8) are shown in Figures 4.27 and 4.28. As the figures highlight, the behavior of the tensiometers of these cells is similar. First, cell 6 was loaded with moisture for 16 days, with water addition being discontinued on day 28. Only the bottom level tensiometers show consistent non-zero readings during water addition, with few occasions of simultaneous zero readings. Again, this data shows the wetting front is non-uniform, and indicates that channeling may occur.

Moisture loading for cell 8 also ceased on day 28. The tensiometer data of cell 8 shows that numerous non-zero readings occur at the bottom level. Again, there are few occasions during moisture loading where all tensiometers read zero simultaneously. As with cell 6 this indicates a non-uniform wetting front and suggests that channeling may occur.

The examination of the tensiometer data shows that the moisture front moving through the cells is non-uniform. This indicates that the waste cannot be considered homogeneous, and flow through channels may occur. Again, channeled flow cannot be confirmed with this data because it gives an indirect measure of channeled flow (section 3.1.3). In addition to the graphs, statistical tests of tensiometer data indicate that the moisture front is non uniform and channeling may take place in pilot scale cells. The number of days in which tensiometers read non-zero capillary pressures are compared with the total number of days that all read zero to determine if the moisture front is non uniform. If the number of days is not significantly different (see section 3.1.3 for significance criteria), the null hypothesis, that moisture flows uniformly through the waste can be rejected. Table 4.4 show, the number of significant cases listed by level. The number of cases is equal to the number of cells, except where tensiometers on a level in one cell all equaled zero, or all equaled non-zero. These cases were not included in the analysis.

Table 4.4: Summary Statistics of Tensiometer Data

Cases are significant if the total number of days when some tensiometers at the same level read non-zero is significantly greater than the number of days where all tensiometers at the same level read zero

CONDITION	NUMBER OF SIGNIFICANT CASES BY TENSIOMETER LEVEL			TOTAL NUMBER SIGNIFICANT	PERCENT SIGNIFICANT
	TOP	MIDDLE	BOTTOM		
Low Intensity Low Compaction (Cells 1 and 3)	2 of 2	2 of 2	1 of 2	5 of 6	83%
Low Intensity High Compaction (Cells 2 and 4)	0 of 2	1 of 2	1 of 2	2 of 6	33%
High Intensity Low Compaction (Cells 5 and 7)	l of l	1 of 1	1 of 2	3 of 4	75%
High Intensity High Compaction (Cells 6 and 8)	1 of 1	1 of 1	0 of 1	2 of 3	67%
Low Intensity (Cells 1,3,2, and 4)	2 of 4	3 of 4	2 of 4	7 of 12	58%
High Intensity (Cells 5,7,6, and 8)	2 of 2	2 of 2	1 of 3	5 of 7	71%
Low Compaction (Cells 1,3,5, and 7)	3 of 3	3 of 3	2 of 4	8 of 10	80%
High Compaction (Cells 2,4,6, and 8)	1 of 3	2 of 3	1 of 3	4 of 9	44%

Cases are significant at the 95% level, evaluated using a one sided t-test

In approximately 63% of the cases, shown above, the null hypothesis can be rejected. Therefore, in more than half of the cases statistical tests show that moisture moves non-uniformly through the waste. This is consistent with the heterogeneous composition of MSW discussed in the literature review (section 2.2.2). As mentioned, a non-uniform moisture front shows that waste is heterogeneous, and it may also indicate that channeling occurs, because channeled flow also results in a non-uniform moisture front through the waste. The table also shows that more non-zero cases occur in high infiltration intensity and low compaction cells, which would suggest channeling may be more prevalent in these cells (cells 5 and 7). This is consistent with the figures which show numerous tensiometers reading non-zero for the duration of water addition, specifically for cells 5 and 7 (also cells 1 and 3). This also agrees with existing theory discussed in the literature review (section 2.1), which states that channeling is likely to occur with high intensity loading. The effect of compaction on moisture movement is shown in the table, as 80% of the cases in low compaction cells are significant. Once again this is consistent with theory as

less densely compacted material should have larger pore spaces which could act as channels to convey flow. The statistical analysis, therefore, agrees well with both the experimental data shown in Figures 4.21 to 4.28, and shows that moisture moves non-uniformly through municipal solid waste. Flow-cup grid data is also used to examine moisture movement. The data and summary results of the statistical tests for the flow-cup data are presented in the following section.

4.1.3 Flow-Cup Grid Results

Flow-cup grid data is shown in Table 4.5. The average, and maximum number of flow-cups discharging during water addition is given in this table, as is the number discharging at steady state. Any volume of leachate collected in the flow-cup container is considered discharge.

CONDITION	CELL	PERCENTAGE NUMBER OF FLOW-CUPS				
	NUMBER	DISCHARGING				
		AVERAGE	MAXIMUM	EFFECTIVE		
				STORAGE		
Low Intensity	Cell 1	40	83	50		
Low Compaction	Cell 3	12	83	50		
Low Intensity	Cell 2	31	67	· 67		
High Compaction	Cell 4	26	58	0		
High Intensity	Cell 5	26	83	33		
Low Compaction	Cell 6	12	50	8		
High Intensity	Cell 7	17	42	0		
High Compaction	Cell 8	11	42	8		

Table 4.5: Percentage Number of Flow-Cups Discharging During Water Addition

This table shows that the average number of flow-cups discharging is less than 50% of the number of flow-cups in each cell. Also, the maximum number discharging for each cell is less than 100%, so at no time during water addition do all flow-cups discharge at the same time. This is also true at effective storage (steady state).

In addition to Table 4.5, statistical tests on flow-cup data also support the presence of channeling. The first channeling sub-hypothesis is tested using ANOVA to determine if more spatial variability exists in the discharge of each flow-cup in a cell than temporal variability. The summary statistics for this test are presented in Table 4.6. Table 4.6: Number of Significant Cases from ANOVA Analysis (Sub-hypothesis A)

Cases are Significant if the variation in leachate discharge between flow-cups is greater than the variation in leachate discharge of each flow-cup over time (e.g., significant if spatial variation greater than temporal variation)

CONDITION	NUMBER OF SIGNIFICANT CASES	RANGE OF PROBABILITY (Psignificant = 5%)
Low Intensity	2 of 2	< 1%
Low Compaction		
(Cells 1 and 3)		
Low Intensity	2 of 2	< 1%
High Compaction		
(Cells 2 and 4)		
High Intensity	2 of 2	2.5% to < 1%
Low Compaction		
(Cells 5 and 7)		
High Intensity	1 of 2	12% to < 1%
High Compaction		
(Cells 6 and 8)		
Low Intensity	4 of 4	< 1%
(Cells 1,3,2 and 4)		
High Intensity	3 of 4	12% to < 1%
(Cells 5,7, 6 and 8)		
Low Compaction	4 of 4	2.5% to < 1%
(Cells 1,3,5 and 7)		
High Compaction	3 of 4	12% to < 1%
(Cells 2,4,6, and 8)		

Generally, the null hypothesis, that moisture moves uniformly through waste, can be rejected in seven of the eight cells. These results clearly indicate that moisture is not moving uniformly through the waste since the difference in discharge between flow-cups is greater than the difference in discharge over time of each flow-cup.

If moisture moved uniformly through the waste the spatial difference in leachate discharge would be less than the temporal discharge. This agrees well with the tensiometer data. Also, the table shows that the one non-significant case occurs under high infiltration intensity, high compaction conditions. Though high compaction conditions would be expected to encourage more uniform moisture movement, high infiltration intensity should increase channeling, and therefore, lead to less uniform moisture movement. This unexpected result may be due to the nature of the testing method. The ANOVA analysis compares the temporal variance with the spatial variance. The value of the temporal variance depends on the range of leachate discharge volumes as well as the number of readings taken, with smaller values of variance resulting from more readings. The leachate discharge volumes were similar for each cell, typically ranging from 0 to 800 ml per flow-cup. However, the duration of water addition was different between high intensity and low intensity cells. Since the high intensity cells had shorter moisture loading periods, fewer readings were taken, so the temporal variance for these cells was larger than the temporal variance of the low intensity cells. The larger temporal variance was similar to the spatial variance, and as a result the difference between the two was non-significant. This is also shown by examining the range of probabilities listed in the table. The low intensity cases have much smaller probabilities than the high intensity cases. Again, this is a result of the analysis and should not be interpreted as more uniform moisture movement occurs in here softiltration intensity cells. Other than this occurrence, the results show that moisture movement ibrogen solid waste does not move as a uniform front. Therefore, channeling sub-hypothesis A is supported.

The second channeling sub-hypothesis was tested using a difference of means test similar to that used for tensiometer data (section 3.1.3). A summary of the statistical analysis is presented in Table 4.7. As mentioned, only cells with constant loading rate are analyzed using this test, so only high infiltration intensity cells are examined. Also, flow-cups which remained zero for the duration of the moisture loading period were not used in the analysis. The number of significant cases refers to the cases where the null hypothesis is rejected.

Table 4.7: Number of Significant Cases from Difference of Means Test (Sub-hypothesis B) Cases are significant if flow-cup discharges do not significantly increase with time Significance evaluated at the 95% level

CONDITION CELL NUMBER		NUMBER OF	AVERAGE	
		SIGNIFICANT CASES	SIGNIFICANT (%)	
High Intensity	Cell 5	10 of 12	83%	
Low Compaction	Cell 7	5 of 6*	83%	
High Intensity	Cell 6	5 of 6	83%	
High Compaction	Cell 8	6 of 6	100%	

Note: * Two out of 6 flow-cups discharge significantly less leachate over the duration of water addition

These results clearly show that micropore flow is not the only flow mechanism in the cells. Again, it should be noted that only high infiltration intensity cells are used in the analysis because the moisture loading rate of these cells did not vary with time. As a result the occurrence of channeling may be greater than would be expected if low intensity cells were used. The number of times the null hypothesis is rejected is similar for both high and low compaction cells, with a greater rejection rate occurring in the high compaction cells. This counters the literature which states that less channeling should occur in highly compacted waste (Schroeder et. al., 1994). However, the number of significant cases to the total number of cases is high for all cells so this is probably coincidental. The summary table (Table 4.7) clearly show that channeling is a dominant mechanism in the pilot scale cells, and therefore, channeling sub-hypothesis B is supported by this analysis.

The flow-cup data and summary tables presented above, support each of the channeling subhypotheses, and thus, the main hypothesis that channeling occurs in pilot scale cells. The tensiometer results also support the channeling hypothesis. Therefore, it can be confidently stated that channeling occurs and is a significant mechanism in the pilot scale experimental cells. With the first hypothesis proven the environmental and operational condition hypotheses may be examined. This discussion is presented in the following section.

4.1.4 Factorial Analysis of Environmental and Operational Condition Hypotheses

The environmental and operational condition hypotheses (hypotheses 2, 3 and 4) states that infiltration intensity, compaction, and waste density affect practical field capacity, effective storage, breakthrough time, time to steady state, and initial and ultimate hydraulic conductivity at the conditions tested. The statistics for the analysis are shown in Table 4.8 through Table 4.10.

94
Table 4.8: Table of Main Effects and Probability of Infiltration Intensity, Compaction, and Waste Density on Moisture Movement Variables

 $(P_{significant} = 5.0\%)$

Significant Cases Underlined

VARIABLE	INFILTI INTEN		COMPA	ACTION	WASTE DENSITY	
	Main Effect	P (%)	Main Effect	P (%)	Main Effect	P (%)
Practical Field Capacity (v/v) st.dev.= 0.0103	-0.0040	76%	0.0211	16%	0.0816	<u>0.2%</u>
Effective Storage (v/v) st.dev.= 0.0381	-0.1403	<u>2.5%</u>	0.0668	17%	0.2233	<u>0.4%</u>
Water added to reach Practical Field Capacity (L) st.dev.= 4.9	-8	18%	8	18%	32	<u>0.3%</u>
Water added to reach Effective Storage (L) st.dev.= 40.5	-123	<u>3.9%</u>	199	<u>0.8%</u>	667	<u>< 0.1%</u>
Breakthrough Time (minutes) st.dev.= 802	-2475	<u>3.8%</u>	458	61%	1773	9.1%
Time to Effective Storage (days) st.dev.= 11.8	-57.5	<u>0.8%</u>	14.8	35%	50.8	<u>1.5%</u>
Initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (cm/s) st.dev.= 0.0141	0.0628	<u>1.6%</u>	-0.0094	55%	-0.0364	7.8%
Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (cm/s) st.dev.= 1.1E-6	1.9E-5	<u><0.01%</u>	-5.3E-7	70%	-2.1E-6	16%

Table 4.9: Table of Interactions and Probability for Infiltration Intensity-Compaction, and Infiltration Intensity-Waste Density on Moisture Movement Variables

 $(P_{\text{significant}} = 5.0\%)$

Significant Cases Underlined

VARIABLE	INFILTRATION COMPAC INTERAC	CTION	INFILTRATION DENSITY IN	
	Interaction	P (%)	Interaction	P (%)
Practical Field Capacity (v/v) st.dev.= 0.0103	-0.0013	80%	-0.0091	80%
Effective Storage (v/v) st.dev.= 0.0381	0.0758	16%	0.2474	<u>0.3%</u>
Water added to reach Practical Field Capacity (L) st.dev.= 4.9	-9	16%	-38	0.2%
Water added to reach Effective Storage (L) st.dev.= 40.5	232	<u>0.4%</u>	781	<u><0.1%</u>
Breakthrough Time (minutes) st.dev.= 802	-416	60%	-1743	9.6%
Time to Effective Storage (days) st.dev.= 11.8	20.7	17%	81.5	<u>0.3%</u>
Initiai unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (cm/s) st.dev.= 0.0141	0.0032	80%	0.0146	32%
Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (cm/s) st.dev.= 1.1E-6	-1.5E-6	29%	-8.1E-6	<u>0.3%</u>

VARIABLE	INTENSITY	COMPACTION	DENSITY	INTENSITY - COMPACTION INTERACTION	INTENSITY - DENSITY INTERACTION
Practical Field Capacity	Not Significant	Not Significant	Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant
Effective Storage	Significant	Not Significant	Significant	Not Significant	Significant
Water added to reach Practical Field Capacity	Not Significant	Not Significant	Significant	Not Significant	Significant
Water added to reach Effective Storage	Significant	Significant	Significant	Significant	Significant
Breakthrough Time	Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant
Time to Effective Storage	Significant	Not Significant	Significant	Not Significant	Significant
Initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity	Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant
Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity	Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant	Not Significant	Significant

Table 4.10: Summary Table of Significance of Main Effects on Moisture Movement Variables

This summary shows that in this analysis infiltration intensity had a significant effect on effective storage, water added to reach effective storage, breakthrough time, time to reach steady state, and initial and unsaturated hydraulic conductivity. This is also reflected in the discrete loading figures (Figures 4.5 to 4.12). Low intensity cells 1 through 4 reach effective storage, much later than the high intensity cells. Also, more water has to be added to these cells to reach effective storage, than the kigh intensity cells (this can also be seen in the cumulative discharge Figures 4.13 to 4.20). Since more water is added, and because there is a similar total volume in the high intensity and low intensity cells, the low intensity cells have a higher effective storage moisture content. The breakthrough time is also affected significantly by the intensity cells this result is not surprising. By examining the discrete loading figures the effect of intensity on breakthrough time is also apparent. Low intensity cells 2 and 3 take three and two days respectively to reach breakthrough. The breakthrough time of the other cells is in the order of minutes (15

to 20 minutes for all other cells). This shows that intensity has a significant effect on breakthrough time. Also, initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is significantly affected by intensity. Recall that this variable depends on the breakthrough of moisture movement through the waste, with larger breakthrough times resulting in smaller conductivities. Since channeling occurs more in higher intensity cells, breakthrough times are smaller, and initial hydraulic conductivities are greater for high intensity cells. Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is dependent on the flow rate through the waste at steady state. Since more channeling occurs in high intensity cells the flow rate through the waste in these cells is greater than through low intensity cells. This is also shown by the moisture movement figures, as the discharge of the high intensity cells is greater than that of the low intensity cells.

The results in Table 4.8 show that compaction has an effect only on the water added to reach effective storage. This is evident by examining the moisture movement figures, in particular, the high infiltration intensity cells (Figures 4.17 to 4.20). The compacted cells (6 and 8) reach effective storage later than the uncompacted cells (5 and 7). Therefore, more water is added to these cells. This is more difficult to observe in the low intensity cells because of the variation in the loading rates and the difference in the time to reach effective storage between replicates. This is consistent with theory, as compaction acts to increase the volume of waste exposed to moisture by opening plastic bags and by flattening particles. Therefore, more water would have to be added to reach effective storage. This implies that compaction should also have a significant effect on the effective storage moisture content. The results in Table 4.8 show that while compaction acts to increase the effective storage moisture content of the waste (the main effect is positive) it is not statistically significant in this analysis.

Table 4.8 shows that density significantly affects practical field capacity, effective storage, water added to reach practical field capacity, water added to reach effective storage, and time to reach effective storage. This agrees with the moisture movement data presented in the figures since a difference in the variables listed above is noticeable between high and low density cells. The density of the waste in the high compaction cells was increased both by compaction and by adding more waste. Therefore, the capacity to store water was greater in these cells because they had more waste. Therefore more water was added to reach the practical field capacity and effective storage moisture contents. The results of the compaction analysis show that the actual ripping of bags and flattening of particles caused by the compaction process had little significant effect on the moisture movement variables. However, the increase in density caused by the addition of more waste is significant on the parameters listed above.

The interaction of infiltration intensity and compaction is significant only for water added to reach effective storage. This is consistent with the previous results because both the main effects of intensity and compaction significantly affect this variable. Theory also supports this result because low infiltration intensity (less channeling) coupled with highly compacted waste (more pore volume exposed to moisture, flatter particles) should require more water added before effective storage is reached.

Unlike the interaction of infiltration intensity and compaction, the intensity-density interaction significantly affects a number of variables. Effective storage is significantly affects by the interaction, as is water added to reach effective storage. This can also be seen in the figures, as less water is added to reach effective storage. This can also be seen in the figures, as less water is added to reach effective storage in high intensity, low compaction cells than low intensity, high compaction cells. The same is true for water added to reach practical field capacity. Time to reach effective storage is also significantly affected by the interaction. Again this is evident from the moisture movement graphs. Ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is significantly affected by the interaction, however, initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity is not. This may be due to the change in density with time. The greater difference in density near the end of the test, combined with infiltration intensity may have had a greater affect on the flow rate at the end of the test, than on the flow at the beginning of the experiment. As a result the intensity-density interaction is only significant with respect to the ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity.

The factorial analysis of the moisture movement data shows that infiltration intensity significantly affects the largest number of moisture movement variables examined. Waste density and the intensity density interaction also affect a number of the variables examined. Compaction, and the intensity-compaction interaction, only significantly affect the volume of water added to reach effective storage. This shows that the operational and environmental conditions tested do affect, to different degrees, moisture movement through municipal solid waste.

The experimental results for moisture movement, and channeling have been presented and discussed, and the hypotheses related to this data have been supported through the data analysis. The two final hypotheses are tested through the use of both moisture movement and modeling results. The modeling results and analysis, as well as the discussion and testing of the hypotheses is presented in the following section.

4.2 MOISTURE MOVEMENT MODELING RESULTS

The results and summary statistics from the HELP and PREFLO model simulations are presented in this section to evaluate the two modeling hypotheses (hypotheses 5 and 6).

4.2.1 HELP Model Results

In order to test the modeling hypothesis which states that simulating channeling allows for more accurate prediction of moisture movement than not considering channeling, HELP model simulations were conducted. The HELP default values were used as model input to neglect the effects of channeling (Table 4.11). It should be noted that the values of saturated hydraulic conductivity used in the channeling simulations are fitting parameters derived by using the Campbell equation (equation 6) and the values for initial unsaturated hydraulic conductivity and practical field capacity moisture content (Table 4.2). The

saturated hydraulic conductivity values (denoted K_s) do not, therefore, have any physical significance, but are used as model input so the apparent hydraulic conductivity found in the experiment (K_{cs} initial) will be used by HELP to determine the leachate flow rate (drainage modeled using equation 7, section 2.1.2).

No leachate discharge was predicted by the simulations which used HELP default input parameters. Graphical results for cell are shown in Figure 4.29 (figures for the other cells are not included because all graphs appear the same with no leachate discharged). This is due to the low initial moisture contents of the cells as well as the high default field capacity moisture content of the HELP model. Obviously, any simulations in which channeling is considered will lead to better prediction of moisture movement provided some leachate is generated.

The data for moisture movement simulations with experimentally derived input parameters are in much better agreement with experimental moisture movement than the results derived from HELP default parameters (Figures 4.30 to 4.37). Simulated discharge does not start with water addition, as is the case of measured discharge, instead a delay of a few days is experienced, particularly in the low infiltration intensity cells. However, unlike the measured leachate discharge the simulated discharge responds rapidly to the moisture loading, and after a short time period the simulated leachate is equal to the infiltration. This results in a greater than measured volume of leachate produced. The exception is the two high intensity, low compaction cells. The simulated discharge for these cells is less than the measured discharge. This is due mainly due to the lag between the start of precipitation and the start of the simulated leachate discharge. This lag is most likely due to the low initial moisture contents of these cells. More moisture must be added to these cells to reach field capacity and, therefore, the start of drainage. The additional moisture loading required delays the start of leachate discharge. Also, unlike the experimental cells, the simulations stop discharging leachate as soon as water addition has ended. This indicates that the simulated cells are at steady state with some moisture content above field capacity, and because of the large hydraulic conductivity, are able to drain to field capacity as soon as moisture loading stops. While the simulation results using experimentally derived input data are a significant improvement over the default data simulations, the input parameters can be "fine tuned" to get a more accurate prediction of moisture movement.

100

Input Parameter	L	ow Infiltrat	ion Intensity	y	High Infiltration Intensity			
ľ	Low Compaction High Compaction			Low Compaction High Compaction				
ľ	INPUT PARAMETERS COMMON							
f	Cell 1	Cell 3	Cell 2	Cell 4	Cell 5	Cell 7	Cell 6	Cell 8
Layer	84	82	99	94	81	77	92	92
Thickness							į	
(cm)								
Initial	0.077	0.091	0.114	0.111	0.083	0.077	0.108	0.117
Moisture								
Content (v/v)								
		HELP	DEFAULT	VALUES	FOR INPU	FPARAME	TERS	
Porosity (v/v)	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67
Field	0.292	0.292	0.292	0.292	0.292	0.292	0.292	0.292
Capacity (v/v)				_	_			
Willing Point	0.077	0.077	0.077	0.077	0.077	0.077	0.077	0.077
(v/v)								
Saturated	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3
Hydraulic								
Conductivity								
K, ' (cm/s)								
	EX	PERIMENT	ALLY DE	RIVED INP	UT PARAN	AETERS (C	ALIBRATI	ON)
Porosity*	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52
(v/v)								
Field	0.090	0.130	0.133	0.132	0.113	0.105	0.126	0.133
Capacity (v/v)								
Wilting Point	0.016	0.022	0.023	0.023	0.020	0.018	0.022	0.023
** (v/v)					ļ			
Saturated	5.2E+3	4.1E+1	2.2E+1	2.1E+2	1.0E+3	2.0E+3	4.2E+2	2.3E+2
Hydraulic					1			
Conductivity				1	1			
^ K_s' (cm/s)	1							
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	INP	UT PARAN	ETERS OF	TIMIZED	THROUGH	SENSITIV	ITY ANAL	YSIS
Porosity (v/v)	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67
Field	0.136	0.195	0.199	0.198	0.097	0.089	0.189	0.200
Capacity (v/v)					[Į		
Wilting Point	0.024	0.034	0.035	0.034	0.017	0.015	0.033	0.035
** (v/v)				•	ł			
Saturated	1.0E+5	8.2E+1	4.4E+1	4.2E+2	2.0E+3	4.0E+3	8.4E+2	4.6E+2
Hydraulic		1					1	
Conductivity		-		1]		
^ K,' (cm/s)		1		1				

Table 4.11: Input Parameters for HELP Simulations

* previous experimental value from Zeiss and Uguccioni (1995)

** wilting point #sed to ensure a pore size distribution index of 0.65 (previous experimental value from Zeiss and Uguccioni, 1995)

^ obtained from backcalculating using the Brooks-Corey equation and experimental values of K_{u} initial and practical field capacity

Figure 4.29: Sample of Discrete and Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Default HELP Simulations - Cell 1



DISCRETE INFILTRATION AND DISCHARGE VS. TIME

Figure 4.30: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)



DISCRETE INFILTRATION AND DISCHARGE VS. TIME - CELL 1

Figure 4.31: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)



DISCRETE INFILTRATION AND DISCHARGE VS. TIME

Figure 4.32: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)



Figure 4.33: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 0 and 8)



DISCRETE INFILTRATION AND DISCHARGE VS. TIME















Figure 4.37: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)

From the results of the simulations with experimental input parameters it is evident that some parameters should be adjusted to better predict measured leachate discharge. In order to determine how much adjustment of a parameter was necessary a sensitivity analysis was performed. This analysis tested the effects of the input parameters porosity, field capacity, wilting point, initial moisture content, saturated hydraulic conductivity, and waste layer depth, on leachate discharge. Specifically, the effects of the above input parameters on six dependent variables characterizing leachate generation were examined. These variables were breakthrough time, time to steady state, peak leachate volume, time to reach peak, total leachate volume, and duration of the leachate event.

The results of the analysis showed that only breakthrough time and time to reach peak leachate discharge were significantly affected by a change in the above input parameters. Breakthrough time is sensitive to porosity, saturated hydraulic conductivity, and initial moisture content. Time to peak is also sensitive to porosity, hydraulic conductivity, and initial moisture content. An increase in porosity, or a decrease in hydraulic conductivity or initial moisture content results in an increase in both breakthrough time and time to peak. Also, though not shown in the sensitivity analysis, field capacity also has an effect on moisture movement. This is due to the drainage calculation used in the model. Drainage does not proceed until the layer has reached field capacity. The greater the field capacity moisture content, the more water is needed, and thus more time is taken before leachate is first discharged. Since the initial moisture content of the waste in each cell is used to more closely represent the experimental conditions, this parameter was not changed. However, porosity, field capacity and saturated hydraulic conductivity were varied to optimize the predictive ability of the model.

As discussed, the results of the simulations with experimentally derived input variables could be optimized because breakthrough time and volume of leachate generated were not predicted as well as the other parameters. Unfortunately, due to the nature of the model, which does not accurately represent the physical system, it is difficult to decrease the breakthrough time as well as decreasing the volume discharged while still having the leachate generation follow the precipitation event (and the measured leachate discharge). The greatest over estimation of discharge was in cells 2 and 3. Though these cells discharged shortly after moisture was first added, very little discharge was collected until the loading rate increased (day 54). In order to optimize the simulation results for these cells the field capacity was increased as was the porosity and saturated hydraulic conductivity. This increases the storage capacity of the waste and therefore, delays leachate discharge. However, with an increase in hydraulic conductivity, the leachate discharge will closely follow the changes in moisture loading, and, measured leachate discharge. For all cells except 5 and 7 the field capacity was increased 50%, and the saturated hydraulic conductivity (K₄') was doubled. For the high infiltration intensity, low compaction cells 5 and 7, the field capacity was decreased 15% in order to decrease the breakthrough time of the simulation, and therefore, increase the total amount of leachate discharged. As with the other cells K₄' was doubled to ensure a

rapid response time. This adjustment was derived from the sensitivity analysis, where the effects of these input parameters on breakthrough time and total leachate discharge was tested.

The simulation results of optimized input data are presented in Figures 4.38 to 4.45, and Tables 4.12 to 4.15. An improvement in the prediction of leachate discharge is evident from these figures. Though for the low intensity cells breakthrough time is increased, the simulated discharge matches the measured discharge quite well, as does the total volume of leachate discharged. Though the HELP model with optimized parameters, can quite accurately simulate measured leachate generation the drainage calculations still limit its accuracy (summary data is presented in Table 4.12 through 4.15). For example, because field capacity must be reached before drainage can commence a lag in breakthrough time is noted. Also, if field capacity is decreased, breakthrough time may decrease but a large volume will drain shortly after breakthrough and will continue until moisture loading is stopped. In the experimental cells, particularly, the low intensity cells, leachate broke through immediately, however, most of the leachate volume was discharged later. This suggests that small amounts of leachate may move quickly through the waste, being conveyed by channels, but the main leachate flow occurs when the waste becomes wetter and conveys more flow (e.g., micropore flow). The use of PREFLO, a two-domain model which explicitly accounts for channeled flow, may result in better leachate discharge predictions than using the HELP model. The results and analysis of the PREFLO simulations is discussed in the following section.

112

Figure 4.38: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)



DISCRETE INFILTRATION AND DISCHARGE VS. TIME - CELL 1

Figure 4.39: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)



Figure 4.40: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)



ion intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)

Figure 4.41: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High



Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)





Figure 4.42: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)









Figure 4.44: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)

Figure 4.45: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized HELP Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)



120

CELL 1	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
		(% of measured)	(% of measured)
Breakthrough Time (days)	1	8	4
		(800%)	(400%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	23	9	20
		(39%)	(87%)
Peak Volume (L)	20.9	21.6	18.5
		(103%)	(89%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	5	9	5
		(180%)	(100%)
Total Volume (L)	244	192	289
		(79%)	(118%)
Duration of Event (days)	39	28	79
		(72%)	(203%)
CELL 3	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
		(% of measured)	(% of measured)
Breakthrough Time (days)	2	42	1
		(1400%)	(50%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	50	43	28
		(86%)	(56%)
Peak Volume (L)	9.5	15.0	12.9
		(158%)	(136%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	45	43	45
		(96%)	(100%)
Total Volume (L)	89	83	283
		(93%)	(318%)
Duration of Event (days)	55	11	81
		(20%)	(147%)

Table 4.12: Summary Table of Measured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells 1 and 3

CELL 2	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
		(% of measured)	(% of measured)
Breakthrough Time (days)	3	45	2
		(1500%)	(67%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	51	46	16
		(90%)	(31%)
Peak Volume (L)	10.9	15.0	12.7
		(138%)	(117%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	57	46	40
		(81%)	(70%)
Total Volume (L)	106	113	350
		(107%)	(330%)
Duration of Event (days)	75	14	80
		(19%)	(107%)
CELL 4	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
		(% of measured)	(% of measured)
Breakthrough Time (days)	1	15	4
		(1500%)	(400%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	17	16	13
		(94%)	(76%)
Peak Volume (L)	7.9	4.8	17.8
		(61%)	(225%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	13	16	2
		(123%)	(15%)
Total Volume (L)	101	77	278
		(76%)	(275%)
Duration of Event (days)	39	21	77
		(54%)	(197%)

Table 4.13: Summary Table of Mcasured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells 2 and 4

.

CELL 5	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
Breakthrough Time (days)	1	(% of measured)	(% of measured) 3
	-	(100%)	(300%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	9	3	effective storage
		(33%)	not reached
Peak Volume (L)	26.2	26.2	20.2
		(100%)	(89%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	9	3	10
		(33%)	(111%)
Total Volume (L)	260	273	233
		(105%)	(95%)
Dusation of Event (days)	17	15	68
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		(88%)	(447%)
CELL 7	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
		(% of measured)	(% of measured)
Breakthrough Time (days)	1	1	-3
		(100%)	(-300%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	3	3	effective storage
		(100%)	not reached
Peak Volume (L)	29.0	28.6	19.0
		(99%)	(66%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	4	3	3
		(75%)	(75%)
Total Volume (L)	339	310	254
		(91%)	(75%)
Duration of Event (days)	17	15	65
		(88%)	(394%)

Table 4.14: Summary Table of Measured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells 5 and 7

CELL 6	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
		(% of measured)	(% of measured)
Breakthrough Time (days)	1	7	-12
		(700%)	(-1200%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	15	8	effective storage
		(53%)	not reached
Peak Volume (L)	36.4	34.0	23.0
		(93%)	(63%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	15	10	10
		(67%)	(80%)
Total Volume (L)	243	220	315
		(91%)	(130%)
Duration of Event (days)	17	9	97
		(53%)	(571%)
CELL 8	Measured	HELP	PREFLO
		(% of measured)	(% of measured)
Breakthrough Time (days)	1	9	-5
		(900%)	(-500%)
Time to Effective Storage (days)	15	11	effective storage
		(73%)	not reached
Peak Volume (L)	27.6	27.6	23.0
		(100%)	(83%)
Time to Peak Volume (days)	15	11	.5
		(73%)	(33%)
Total Volume (L)	234	108	296
		(46%)	(126%)
Duration of Event (days)	17	7	99
		(41%)	(582%)

Table 4.15: Summary Table of Measured, HELP, and PREFLO Results for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells 6 and 8

4.2.2 PREFLO Model Results

The second modeling hypothesis states that simulating channeling as a two-domain process results in better prediction of moisture movement than accounting for channeling by adjusting the parameters of a one-domain Darcian flow model. The test of this hypothesis requires that modeling results of the PREFLO model be compared with measured and HELP model results to determine which model better predicts moisture movement. Unlike the HELP model, the PREFLO model was developed for soils, and therefore, no default input values for modeling moisture flow through MSW exist. Three sets of simulations are performed. The first set of simulations use default HELP data, but include experimentally derived percentage pore area data (section 3.3). The second set of simulations used the calibration data with the same pore data used in the first set of runs (see Table 4.16). The final simulations use input data optimized through a sensitivity analysis (Table 4.16)

PREFLO simulations for both default and calibration HELP input parameters predicted no leachate was generated (see sample graphs, Figures 4.46 and 4.47). These results can be explained by reviewing how moisture movement is modeled in PREFLO. Channeled flow can only occur if the infiltration intensity is greater than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the matrix. In both default and calibration cases the saturated hydraulic conductivity is greater than the highest infiltration intensity experienced in any simulation (3.9E-5 cm/s for cell 2). Therefore, no channel flow occurred. However, water did infiltrate the waste, and was conveyed through the matrix. This routing is modeled using the Richards equation. Originally, the drainage determined by the Richards equation was added to a water table at the base of the profile. The model was modified to simulate free drainage conditions and, therefore, drainage, only occurs when the pressure at the bottom of the profile is atmospheric. The program was also modified so that instead of an initial "drained-to-equilibrium" capillary pressure profile the capillary pressure throughout the profile was set to a single value corresponding to the initial moisture content of the waste. Again, the moisture content - capillary pressure relationship was determined using the Brooks-Corey equation with the parameters shown in Table 4.14. Drainage did not occur in both sets of simulations because the amount of water added through infiltration combined with the initial moisture content of the waste, which corresponded to an extremely high capillary pressure, was not enough to saturate the bottom node of the waste layer. Thus the amount of water added was not sufficient to raise the pressure to zero, and drainage did not occur. The initial capillary pressures of the calibration runs were higher than the default runs, however, the porosity was still fairly large (0.52 v/v) compared with the initial moisture contents of the waste. Again, the quantity of water added was not sufficient to raise the moisture content of the bottom node to 0.52 and thus allow drainage.

nput Parameter	L	Low Infiltration Intensity			High Infiltration Intensity			
	Low Con	npaction	High Co	mpaction	Low Cor	npaction	High Co	mpaction
	n	INPUT PARAMETERS COMMON TO ALL PREFLO SIMULATIONS						
	Cell 1	Cell 3	Cell 2	Cell 4	Cell 5	Cell 7	Cell 6	Cell 8
ayer Thickness (cm)	84	82	99	94	81	77	92	92
nitial Moisture Content (v/v)	0.077	0.091	0.114	0.111	0.083	0.077	0.108	0.117
	R	PUT PAR	AMETERS	CORRESP	ONDING T	O DEFAU	LT VALUE	S*
Porosity (v/v)	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67
Pore Size Dist. index (-)	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.47
Percent Pore Area (%)	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00
Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity K,' (cm/s)	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3	1.0E-3
	INPL	JT PARAM	ETERS CO	RRESPON	DING TO	CALIBRAT	ION VALU	JES**
orosity (v/v)	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52
ore Size Dist. Idex (-)	0.65	0.65	0.65	0.65	0.65	0.65	0.65	0.65
Percent Pore Area (%)	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00
Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity K,' (cm/s)	5.2E+3	4.1E+1	2.2E+1	2.1E+2	1.0E+3	2.0E+3	4.2E+2	2.3E+2
	INPU	JT PARAM	ETERS OF	TIMIZED '	THROUGH	SENSITIV		YSIS
Porosity (v/v)	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15;	(0.15 /
Pore Size Dist. ndex (-)	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.21
Percent Pore Area (%)	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00
Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity K,' (cm/s)	1.0E-5	1.0E-5	1.0E-5	1.0E-5	1.0E-5	1.0E-5	1.0E-5	1.0E-5

Table 4.16: Input Parameters for PREFLO Simulations

* These values correspond to the HELP default parameters (Table 4.11)

** These values correspond to the HELP calibration parameters (Table 4.11)



Figure 4.46: Sample of Discrete and Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Default PREFLO Simulations - Cell 1



Figure 4.47: Sample of Discrete and Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Calibrated PREFLO Simulations - Cell 1

A sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the impact of the input variables on the model results. The results of the sensitivity analysis were used to optimize the input parameters and allow better prediction of leachate discharge by PREFLO. Porosity, initial moisture content, saturated hydraulic conductivity, pore area and waste layer depth on leachate discharge were examined. Similar to the sensitivity analysis performed on the HELP model, the dependent variables used to characterize leachate discharge were breakthrough time, time to steady state, peak leachate volume, time to peak, total leachate volume, and duration of the leachate event.

The analysis showed that breakthrough time, total leachate volume, and duration of the event, were the only parameters sensitive to the parameters tested. Breakthrough time is sensitive to porosity, with an increase in porosity resulting in an increase in breakthrough time. Total leachate volume is sensitive to porosity, waste layer depth, and initial moisture content. An increase in porosity or waste layer depth result in a decrease in the total volume of leachate discharged, while an increase in initial moisture content causes an increase in the total discharge. Finally, the duration of the leachate event is sensitive to porosity, waste layer depth, initial moisture content and saturated hydraulic conductivity. An increase in porosity, layer depth, and saturated hydraulic conductivity decrease the duration of the event, while an increase in initial moisture content lengthens the event. Since waste layer depth and initial moisture content are cell specific, experimentally determined parameters, and are used to more closely represent experimental conditions, these parameters were not varied. However, porosity and saturated hydraulic conductivity were adjusted for the optimization runs. Also, though not tested in the sensitivity analysis the pore size distribution index, λ , used to determine the moisture content - capillary pressure relationship was also varied in the optimization runs. This parameter, which is the slope of a log effective saturation - log capillary pressure graph, affects moisture contents and hydraulic conductivity values at given capillary pressures. A small value of the pore size distribution index, corresponding to a flatter slope, results in less change in moisture content over a range of capillary pressure. The pore size distribution index influences the leachate discharge predicted by PREFLO because a range of capillary pressures and corresponding moisture contents are used as input into the model. The capillary pressures are not varied between runs, however, the moisture contents, determined using the Brooks-Corey equation vary according to the value of λ .

Porosity was lowered significantly in order to increase the volume of leachate and the duration of the leachate event. The value chosen is lower than any of the values shown in the literature for solid waste and is more in the range of sandstone (Price, 1985). However, in supplementary PREFLO trials these values ensured leachate generation, with the hydraulic conductivity and the pore size distribution index listed in Table 4.14. The saturated hydraulic conductivity was reduced to one half the value of the same standard in the saturated in the experiment to ensure that channeling would occur. Again, this parameter is used to force PREFLO to route water through the channels, and it is not based on the

actual physical properties of the waste (it is therefore also denoted K_s'). The pore size distribution index was reduced so the initial moisture contents for all simulations would be within a small range of capillary pressures. This is consistent with experimental results as the initial tensiometer readings for all cells are limited to a 20 centibar range (see Figures 4.5 to 4.12). The initial moisture contents used in the simulations varied over a 14 centibar range with the pore size distribution index used. This value of lambda, 0.21, is the same as the default value of version 2 of the HELP model (Schroeder et. al., 1988). Therefore, this value is consistent with literature values, however, like K_s' it is a fitting parameter used to allow better prediction of experimental results. Figures 4.48 through 4.55 show the results of the "optimized" PREFLO simulations.
Figure 4.48: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)



Figure 4.49: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 2 and 4)



Figure 4.50: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 5 and 7)



DISCRETE INFILTRATION AND DISCHARGE VS. TIME

Figure 4.51: Discrete Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for High Infiltration Intensity, High Compaction Cells (Cells 6 and 8)





Figure 4.52: Cumulative Leachate Volume Predicted From Optimized PREFLO Simulations for Low Infiltration Intensity, Low Compaction Cells (Cells 1 and 3)













Unlike the HELP model, the PREFLO model responds immediately to moisture addition, which is consistent with the experimental results, specifically for low infiltration intensity simulations (cells 1 and 4). This is due to the explicit simulation of channeling. The HELP model does not accurately predict breakthrough time because channeling is not considered as a separate flow mechanism. Breakthrough time is underestimated for all the high infiltration intensity simulations, except cell 5 (Figure 4.50). This results from the initial settings of PREFLO, as the initial moisture content was high enough to promote drainage before precipitation began. The model begins to route moisture through the matrix at the start of the simulation using the Richards equation. If the initial moisture content and hydraulic conductivity of the profile is great enough water may saturate the bottom node and drainage will occur. This is the case with the simulations of cell 6, 7, and 8. Though breakthrough time is modeled more accurately by PREFLO for low intensity cases, the model overestimates the total leachate volume discharged for these cells (Figures 4.51 and 4.52). This overestimation is less pronounced in cell 1 because of the high discharge of this cell during the early stage of the experiment. The discharge of cells 2, 3, and 4, however, is grossly overestimated during the early stages of the test. The simulated discharge agrees better with experimental results of these cells from about day 50 until the end of the test. Leachate is also discharged throughout the later stages of the test. This is due to the continuous drainage of the profile after water addition. PREFLO continues to route water through the matrix after moisture loading has stopped, but because drainage out of the profile occurs only when the bottom node is saturated, discrete drainage events occur when the water routed through to the bottom node can drain. These drainage events are less frequent with time as less water exists in the profile, so higher capillary pressures, lower moisture contents and lower hydraulic conductivities are experienced at each node. Therefore, the routing process is slower and the time between events is lengthened. This phenomena is evident in simulations of both high and low infiltration intensity cells. The simulation results for the high infiltration intensity cells are more accurate than for the low intensity cells with respect to volume of leachate generated. Also, the discrete discharge predicted by the model is always lower than the experimental discharge, and the model never reaches steady state. The maximum leachate volume which can be discharged in a time step by the model is equal to the volume of water in the channels plus the hydraulic conductivity of the matrix. The hydraulic conductivity or the pore area must therefore be increased in order to increase the volume of leachate discharged. However, the value of hydraulic conductivity was chosen so channeling would occur, and the pore area, determined experimentally, should provide a clear representation of the experimental system. It is difficult to adjust these parameters to increase the volume discharged while ensuring channeling occurs and the physical system is represented. Also, the model overestimates the discrete volumes of leachate discharged from low intensity cells so any adjustment to better model high infiltration intensity cells may worsen the predictive ability of the model with respect to low moisture loading intensity.

The HELP and PREFLO models can be directly compared by examining their ability to predict breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak volume, time to peak volume, total volume, and duration of the leachate event. Table 4.12 through 4.15 show the six output variables characterizing leachate discharge for the optimization runs for both models as well as the experimental results. Table 4.17 shows a direct comparison of the six variables characterizing leachate discharge for the HELP and PREFLO models. These results clearly show that with respect to breakthrough time the PREFLO model results are closer to the measured results for low infiltration intensity cases, however, this model overestimates breakthrough time for the high intensity cases. As mentioned, this is due to the initial variable settings of the simulation. Based on the overall average, however, PREFLO predicts breakthrough time more accurately that the HELP model.

Time to effective storage is underestimated by both models. The HELP model predicts time to effective storage better for low intensity and high compaction, while PREFLO predicts this parameter best in low intensity, low compaction cases. Effective storage is not reached in all PREFLO high infiltration intensity simulations. As mentioned, this may be due to the drainage condition, which limits the maximum drainage of the profile to the saturated hydraulic conductivity. Generally, the HELP model predicts this parameter more accurately than PREFLO.

The prediction of the peak volume discharged is similar for both models. The HELP model predicts the measured peak volume better in all cases except low infiltration intensity, low compaction cells. In these cells HELP overestimates the peak volume by an average of 130%. PREFLO overestimates the average peak volume in low intensity and high compaction cases, and the range of peak volumes predicted by the model is larger than HELP. PREFLO overestimates the average peak volumes only in low intensity, high compaction simulations. When all simulations are considered, HELP predicts this parameter better.

Time to reach peak volume was overestimated by the HELP model for low intensity cases. However, PREFLO correctly predicts this variable for low intensity, low compaction cases while underestimating all other conditions. Generally, both models underestimate the time to reach peak volume, with the HELP model more closely predicting this parameter with respect to the overall average.

The total amount of leachate discharged from the waste is predicted quite differently by the HELP and PREFLO models. The HELP model under predicts the total volume in all cases (considering replicate averages). However, with the exception of high intensity, high compaction cells, specifically Cell 8 (Figure 4.47), HELP closely predicts the measured total volume discharged. The PREFLO model overestimates the total volume in all cases except high intensity, low compaction cells. However, when the results of all simulations are averaged PREFLO overestimates the total volume discharged (183% of measured). These results clearly show that the HELP model predicts the total volume of leachate better than PREFLO.

HELP FREFIO HELP		PARAMETER Breakthrough Time (% of actual)	L) Time	Time to Fffective Storage (& of actual)	fective of actual)	Peak Volume (R of actual)	19	Time (n Reach Peak Volume (% of actual)	ach Peak (if actual)	Total Volume (% of actual)	ŧa	Duration Event (%	Duration of Leachate Event (% of actual)
Note 13 23 0 72 131 133 93 10 Rase 600-2100 30-60 30-55 5.67 131-13 13-15 131-13 13-16 00-100 Intention. 1 100 20-50 30-56 5.677 131-135 111-135 131-13	w infikration intensity.	HELP		HELP	PREFLO	NELP	PREFLO	HELP	PREFLO	HELP	PREFLO	негр	PREFI.O
Interest. 150 24 9 171 102 61 Name 1500-1500 2-40 9-54 31-56 61-138 117-225 81-123 15-70 Name 1500-1500 7-40 9-54 31-56 51-138 117-225 81-123 15-70 Interest. 160 30-50 51-60 56-73 31-56 51-13 31-723 81-123 15-73 31-73 Interest. 160 30-50 51-73 31-50 56-73 31-55 55-11 Interest. 161 56 MV 96-100 66-73 31-56 51-13 Interest. 161 30-50 51-16 MV 97-16 51-13 51-13 Interest. 1615 23 M 91-16 61-13 91-23 91-23 91-23 Interest. 1615 24 31-36 61-13 91-36 61-33 91-36 91-37 Interest. 1615 31-36	w Compaction Average Range	1450 800 - 2100		(1) 39 - 86	72 56 - 87	131 103 - 158	11.) 89 - 136	1,38 96 - 180	100 100 - 100	86 79-93	218 118 - 318	46 20 - 72	175 147 - 203
Interaction. Interaction Interaction	r lafikration intendity, A Compaction Average Range	1,500 - 1,500	24 0 67-400	92 90 - 94	54 31 - 76	66 19	171 117 - 225	102 81 - 123	43 15 - 70	92 76 - 107	303 275 - 330	37 19 - 54	152 107 - 197
Internet/. No 45 N/V W 73 70 50 Nemes No 450 63 N/V W 73 67 73 56 Nemes No 450 63 N/V W 73 67 73 57 33 67 73 56 Nemes No 23 24 73 64 115 143 67 73 33 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 Nemety 143 31 161 161 161 161 161 161 161 173 161 173 Nemety 160 161 161 161 161 161 161 161 161 161 161 <	jà inflikration Internity. « Compaction Average Range	106 - 100	9 - 300 - 340	67 33 - 100	• 47	401 - 104 56	72 66 - 77	54 11 - 75	93 15-111	98 91 - 105	83 7.5 - 90	88 88 - 88	191 382 - 400
Internaty 143 24 78 64 115 141 123 71 reg see-2250 59-660 39-74 31-87 61-158 89-225 81-180 15-100 ref see-2250 59-660 39-74 31-87 61-158 89-225 81-180 15-100 Internaty 450 423 65 NA* 98 73 62 72 Internation 433 50 53-100 NA 93-100 61-73 55-75 33-111 Internation 430 63 72** 93-100 63-73 53-75 33-111 Internation 430 53-100 NA 93-100 63-73 33-111 Internation 73 53-75 93-100 63-73 33-111 Internation 73 64 73 64 73 Internation 73 66 73 66 73 66 73 Internation <	ja infiktration interakty. ja Compaction Average Range	808 786 - 900	-558- 1200 500	61 57 - ES	• 27	93 - 100	73 63 - 83	70 67 - 73	50 33 - 67	64 - 94 69	126 126 - 130	47 41 - 53	577 571 - 582
Intensity 438 425 65 NA* 96 73 62 72 Nerrige 100 - 900 1200 - 300 33 - 100 NA 93 - 100 63 - 73 35 - 75 33 - 111 Range 100 - 900 1200 - 300 33 - 100 NA 91 - 100 63 - 73 35 - 75 33 - 111 Nerrige 773 39 65 72 - 0 115 93 96 97 Name 100 - 1460 300 - 660 33 - 100 56 - 156 56 - 156 53 - 151 56 111 Name 100 - 1460 300 - 660 33 - 100 56 - 156	e lafilitation lotensity Avenge Range	1475 800 - 2258		E R R	63 31 - 87	115 61 - 158	142 89 - 225	123 81 - 180	72 15 - 100	89 76 - 107	261 118 - 330	42 19-72	164 107 - 203
Average 775 59 65 72** 115 91 96 97 Nearge 100-1460<-300-460	ja ladituration Internety Average Range	454 106 - 900	-425 -1280 - 346	65 33 - 100	• 71	98 91 - 100	73 63-73	62 35-75	72 M - M	95 46 - 105	106 75 - 130	58 58 - 1	484 382 - 582
nerrege 1336 -306 7a 54°° 9a 122 86 47 Nerrege 700-2259-1200-400 53-94 31-76 61-136 63-225 67-123 15-111 Nerrege 700-2259-1200-400 53-91 76 61-136 63-225 67-123 15-111	r Compaction A verage Range	775 100 - 1400	50 - 306 - 400	69 33 - 198	72**	851 - 66 115	93 66 - 136	96 33 - 180	97 75 - 111	92 79 - 105	151 75 - 318	67 20 - 81 8	283 147 - 400
Tage MG MG T 63 T 63 91 72 T T T 63 T 10 83 91 72 T T T T 10 10 10 10 12 T T T T T 10 10 12	h Compaction Aven ge Range	1336 700 - 225 0	-306 -1200 - 408	71 21-22	54** 31 - 76	96 61 - 138	122 61-225	86 67 - 123	47 15 - 111	81 46 - 107	216 75 - 330	42 19.54	365 107 - 582
	Simulations Average Range	943 160 - 210	909 - 9021-	71 33-190	63 31 - 6 7	107 61 - 158	83 63 - 225	91 33 - 160	72 15-111	86 46 - 107	18.) 75 - 3.40	55 19•88	32A 197 - 582

Predicted Moisture Movement Values From HELP and PREFLO, expressed as Percent of Actual

Table 4.17: Summary Table of Predictive Ability of HELP and PREFLO to Model Moisture Movement Through MSW Duration of the leachaste event is predicted poorly by both models. The HELP model consistently underestimates the duration of the event, while the PREFLO model consistently overestimates this parameter. As mentioned, the HELP model quickly responds to precipitation after breakthrough. However, because breakthrough is delayed and drainage ceases immediately after precipitation ends, the duration of the event is underestimated. Water is continuously routed through the profile when the PREFLO model is used. Therefore, drainage will not stop until all water is drained from the profile, though the rate of drainage will decrease. This continuous drainage extends the duration of the event considerably. Examination of the results shows that the HELP model predicts the duration of the event better than PREFLO (55% of measured for HELP, 324% for PREFLO).

The choice of models to predict leachate discharge depends on which parameter is of interest. PREFLO predicts breakthrough time more accurately than the HELP model based on the overall average, while the HELP model predicts the five other parameters better than PREFLO. If an estimate of head on a landfill liner is needed, PREFLO should be used since it more accurately predicts the breakthrough time and should give a better estimate of the amount of water ponding on a liner. However, if, for example, the total volume of leachate generated is needed the HELP model should be used since it gives a more accurate prediction of this moisture movement parameter. Generally, HELP models moisture movement more accurately than PREFLO. However, both models require the use of fitting parameters such as K₁' to reasonably predict experimental results. Therefore, they do not accurately represent the physical system. As mentioned, HELP assumes Darcian flow through homogeneous porous media. The tensiometer and flow-cup results show that channeled flow also occurs, and the waste cannot be considered homogeneous. Also, though PREFLO explicitly accounts for channeling, channeled flow can only occur if infiltration intensity is greater than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the media. As mentioned in section 2.1, previous studies, and the moisture movement experiment conducted here, have noted that channeling occurs at infiltration rates lower than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of MSW. Therefore, PREFLO, which was not developed for MSW, does not accurately represent the true flow mechanism. Also, a number of the parameters needed as input into the PREFLO model are not well known for MSW, such as the moisture content - capillary pressure relationship. Therefore, while HELP and PREFLO are perhaps the best available models, based on their development, and the inform at a first provide (section 3.2) they do not adequately represent observed moisture movement through municipal solid waste.

5 SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND FURTHER RESEARCH

5.1 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Moisture movement through municipal solid waste (MSW) has an effect on leachate quantity generated from landfills. Current modeling techniques represent this moisture movement as onedimensional Darcian flow through homogeneous porous media. However, because previous research has shown that channeling is a significant flow mechanism, the representation of moisture movement should be adjusted to account for channeling. This should lead to better prediction of moisture movement, specifically leachate discharge, through municipal solid waste. Other methods of representing flow through MSW include the water balance method, fractured media models, and fractured - porous media models. Though the water balance method has been used to estimate moisture movement through MSW, fractured and fractured-porous media models have not yet been applied to the problem. The heterogeneity of the media adds to the difficulty of modeling moisture movement through MSW.

More accurate prediction of moisture movement is important because moisture influences biodegradation and methane generation in MSW landfills. If more is known about the mechanisms of moisture movement, operating conditions in landfills may be adjusted to optimize, for example, methane generation. Also, legislation such as the United States Resource Conservation and Recovery Act regulate landfill operation with respect to leachate generation. Therefore, to ensure compliance, an accurate estimation of moisture movement through MSW is critical for proper adjustment of landfill operations.

In order to solve the problem, research objectives were proposed and satisfied. The objectives required that the presence of channeling in pilot scale test cells be confirmed. Previous experimental work which concluded that channeling was a significant flow mechanism was conducted with bench-scale equipment. If channeling was shown to be significant in pilot-scale cells, it is likely that it would also occur in an actual landfill, and, therefore, its effect on moisture movement should be included in any model used to simulate flow through landfills. The presence of channeling was investigated in pilot scale cells of instrumentation which could determine channeled flow both directly and indirectly.

Also, because different environmental and operating conditions affect moisture momentation one research objective was to determine and quantify the effects of the most important factors on mointure movement through municipal solid waste. This was accomplished by using the same pilot-scale experiment used to determine the presence of channeling. The primary environmental and operating factors of concern were identified through a literature review. These factors were infiltration intensity, compaction and waste wet bulk density. Eight discrete variables, which had been used in previous studies to describe the effects of channeling on moisture movement, were used to test the effects of the factors on moisture movement. These variables were practical field capacity, effective storage, water added to reach practical field capacity, water added to reach effective storage, breakthrough time, time to reach effective storage, and initial and ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity. The use of these parameters enabled the effects of infiltration intensity, compaction, and density on moisture movement to be determined.

The most commonly used model for representing moisture movement through MSW is the HELP model. As this model does not explicitly consider the channeling which has been shown to occur in MSW, one research objective stated that this model should be evaluated to determine its ability in predicting moisture movement. This was accomplished by using the model to predict the leachate discharge of the pilot-scale moisture movement experiment. The model results were compared to experimental results to determine the model accuracy. Again, because moisture movement (represented by leachate discharge) is a continuous process, discrete parameters were used so model results could be compared directly to experimental results. The parameters used to characterize moisture movement were breakthrough time, time to effective storage, peak volume of leachate discharged, time to reach peak volume, total volume of leachate discharged, and duration of leachate event. These parameters have been used in previous moisture movement studies and are similar to those used in hydrograph analysis. In addition to comparing HELP model simulations which neglected channeling to experimental results, HELP model simulations accounting for channeling were also used for comparison. As the HELP model can only implicitly account for channeling, one research objective was to test the predictive ability of a two-domain fractured - porous media model which could explicitly model channeled on moisture movement. A model which explicitly accounts for channeling, the PREFLO model, was also used to simulate experimental results. This model was chosen from a number of possible models identified in the literature, based on criteria developed to determine model applicability in representing moisture movement through MSW. The results of the PREFLO model were also compared to the HELP model to determine which model more accurately simulated observed moisture movement.

The research objectives were used to develop ageotheses which were tested with experimental data. The hypotheses along with the conclusions developed by testing them are given below.

Hypothesis 1 was developed to evaluate the presence of channeling. This hypothesis states that channeling occurs in pilot-scale cells. Tensiometer and flow-cup grid data were used to test this hypothesis. The analysis of tensiometer data showed that uniform flow does not occur in 63% of cases tested. Flow-cup data showed that at no time during water addition were all flow-cups discharging on the same day, for all cells. This shows that channeling occurs because if only micropore flow occurred the entire waste cross-section should contribute to flow, and, therefore, all flow-cups would discharge. The statistical analysis of the results also supported the channeling hypothesis. In seven of the eight experimental cells, moisture was shown to move non-uniformly through the waste. Also, it was shown that micropore flow is not the exclusive flow mechanism in the experimental cells (an average of 87% of all cases tested showed this result). Therefore, from the results it is concluded that channeling occurs in pilot-scale cells. Generally, the results showed that channeling is most prevalent in high infiltration intensity and low compaction cases, however, it also occurs in low infiltration intensity and high compaction cells.

Hypotheses 2, 3 and 4 were used to test if infiltration intensity, compaction, and waste density had a significant effect on moisture movement. Infiltration intensity was found to be the most important factor on moisture movement because it significantly affected six moisture movement variables. These variables were effective storage, water added to reach effective storage, breakthrough time, time to reach effective storage, and initial and ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity. Waste density was also found to affect moisture movement as it had a significant effect on five variables including practical field capacity, effective storage, water added to reach practical field capacity and effective storage, and time to reach effective storage. The interaction of waste density with infiltration intensity also affected moisture movement. This interaction significantly affects effective storage, water added to reach practical field capacity and effective storage, as well as time to reach effective storage, and ultimate unsaturated hydraulic conductivity. The main effect of compaction, and the interaction of compaction and infiltration intensity on moisture movement was only significant with respect to water added to reach effective storage. In summary, hypotheses 2 and 4 are supported, while hypothesis 3 is not supported by the experimental results. Therefore it is concluded that infiltration intensity and waste density affect moisture movement through MSW, however, compaction does not (with respect to the variables examined).

Hypothesis 5 states that modeling moisture movement as a one-domain process accounting for channeling leads to better moisture movement prediction than modeling moisture movement as a one-domain process and neglecting channeling effects. This was tested by comparing the results of the HELP model simulations in which default input parameters were used to simulation results with optimized input parameters. Both sets of simulations were then compared to the results of the moisture movement experiment. The optimized input parameters were determined through the use of a sensitivity analysis. The comparison of the simulations shows that no leachate is predicted by HELP model runs neglecting channeling (default input parameters), however, leachate discharge is predicted when channeling is considered (optimized parameters), thus, hypothesis 5 is supported. Therefore, modeling moisture movement through MSW as a one-domain process accounting for channeling allows for better prediction of moisture movement than modeling flow as a one-domain process neglecting channeling.

Though the above conclusion is reached, it should be noted that the HELP model is limited in its ability to model flow through MSW. As mentioned uniform infiltration is routed by HELP through a homogeneous porous matrix. The rate of infiltration and percolation is controlled by the hydraulic conductivity of the layer so channeled flow can only be approximated by increasing the hydraulic conductivity of a layer. Therefore, it is not possible to simulate infiltration conveyed directly through channels and the resulting short breakthrough time as was observed in the moisture movement experiment. Also, the experimental cells show that drainage occurs shortly after moisture addition and increases until steady state is reached as moisture is redistributed into the matrix. Due to the drainage routine of HELP which permits discharge only at moisture contents at and above field capacity, the observed redistribution is not modeled, and longer breakthrough times are predicted. Shorter breakthrough times may be achieved by

145

lowering the field capacity moisture content, however, once field capacity is reached all infiltration is quickly discharged, as redistribution is neglected. Therefore, though accounting for channeling by adjusting the HELP input parameters gives better prediction of moisture movement than using HELP default parameters, the mechanisms of channeled flow are not well represented by the model.

Hypothesis 6 states that modeling moisture movement through MSW as a two-domain process enables better prediction of moisture movement than modeling moisture movement as a one-domain process accounting for channeling. This hypothesis was tested by comparing PREFLO and HELP simulations to experimental results. Both the HELP and PREFLO "optimized" simulations (using input parameters optimized through a sensitivity analysis) were used for comparison. Other PREFLO simulations which were derived from HELP default and calibration parameters predicted no leachate discharge. The comparison of the models showed that the PREFLO model only predicted breakthrough time better than HELP, while HELP predicted time to reach effective storage, peak volume of leachate discharged, time to reach peak volume, total leachate volume discharged, and duration of the leachate event better than PREFLO. These results do not support hypothesis 6. It can therefore be concluded that modeling moisture movement as a two-domain process, using PREFLO, does not allow better prediction of moisture movement than by modeling it as a one-domain process accounting for channeling. As mentioned, both of these models do not accurately represent the actual mechanism of flow through MSW. Therefore, this hypothesis should be tested with a two-domain flow model developed to represent flow through municipal solid waste.

PREFLO could be used to test this hypothesis again if the channeled flow routine were modified. Channeled flow occurs in PREFLO if infiltration intensity is greater than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the homogeneous porous matrix. As mentioned, this is not consistent with experimental results which show channeling occur at low infiltration intensities. In order to simulate channeling when modeling the experimental cells it was necessary to artificially lower saturated hydraulic conductivity to less than the infiltration intensity. Therefore, saturated hydraulic conductivity is a fitting parameter with no real physical significance. PREFLO could more accurately reflect the observed flow mechanism if channeled flow began at infiltration rates lower than the matrix saturated hydraulic conductivity. Also channeled flow is redistributed by the model to the porous matrix, with percolation conveyed through the channels only when the matrix is saturated. However, experimental results suggest that at breakthrough discharge is primarily from channels and not from the waste matrix. PREFLO could more accurately represent this experimental flow mechanism if some channeled flow was allowed to percolate through a layer before the matrix was saturated. With these changes to the channeled flow routine the model would better represent the observed channeled flow mechanisms.

In summary, it is concluded that channeling occurs in pilot scale cells, and infiltration intensity and waste density affect moisture movement through MSW, while compaction has no affect on moisture movement. Also, modeling moisture movement as a one-domain process accounting for channeling allows for better prediction of moisture movement than modeling flow as a one-domain process neglecting

channeling. It is further concluded that modeling moisture movement as a two-domain process using PREFLO does not allow better prediction of moisture movement than by modeling it as a one-domain process accounting for channeling. Through testing the hypothesis developed from the research objectives, the above conclusions were reached, and the original problem was resolved.

5.2 SIGNIFICANCE AND FURTHER RESEARCH

Because channeling is a significant flow mechanism in pilot-scale cells, it is likely that it is significant in an entire landfill. Therefore, modeling of moisture movement must account for channeling to ensure accurate prediction of leachate generation which is necessary to design leachate collection and treatment systems. Another important design consideration is the head on the landfill liner, as existing legislation limits a maximum head build up. The effects of channeling on moisture novement must, therefore, be included in any simulation to accurately predict the head built up on the landfill liner. Also, if a great deal of channeled flow occurs a smaller cross-sectional area is wetted. Since moisture promotes biodegradation and methane generation, the occurrence of channeling may inhibit the rate of these two processes in a landfill, as some parts of the waste may remain dry. Biodegradation and methane generation may be optimized by minimizing channeling through adjusting various operation.

Infiltration intensity encourages channeling. Therefore, based on the experimental results, leachate recirculation rates should be limited to under 7 mm/hr to optimize biodegradation and methane generation. Further research should be conducted to determine the optimum loading rate to minimize channeling and increase the amount of waste exposed to flow. Density is the most important operational condition on moisture movement through MSW, with lower densities encouraging more channeling. In order for biodegradation, and methane generation, to be maximized, waste should be compacted to densities above 500 kg/m³, based on the experimental results. Further research on the optimum setting of this parameter to minimize channeling should also be conducted. Since compaction does not greatly affect moisture movement, standard compaction using heavy equipment should be sufficient to prevent excessive channeling.

The comparison of the models has shown that the HELP model is an adequate tool for the prediction of time to effective storage, peak volume, time to reach peak volume, total leachate volume generated, and duration of a leachate event. However, the two-domain model PREFLO provides more accurate prediction of breakthrough time. The choice of which model to use to predict moisture movement through MSW should depend on what specific parameter needs to be estimated. If an overall prediction is required the HELP model should be used because it has been specifically developed to model flow through M³SW, and has been previously tested. The PREFLO model shows potential, however, as this is the first time it has been modified for use with MSW, further adjustment and testing may be necessary before the model can be used with confidence.

This research has shown that channeling is significant in pilot-scale cells, and that various environmental and operational conditions, specifically infiltration intensity and waste density, affect moisture movement through municipal solid waste. Also, the research has shown and that simulating channeling as a two-domain process allows better prediction of some parameters which characterize leachate generation (e.g., breakthrough time) than simulating channeling as a one-domain process. However, further research should be conducted to ensure even greater predictive ability of moisture movement through MSW. Certainly, better knowledge of the hydraulic properties of MSW are needed. Specifically, moisture content - capillary pressure relationships of the waste matrix and channel-size parameters such as diameter should be further investigated. This would allow for optimization of modified software such as PREFLO to accurately represent municipal solid waste. Also, a two-domain model developed to simulate the actual flow mechanism of moisture movement through solid waste which includes channeled flow at low infiltration rates should be constructed. The input and output parameters should be similar to those used as model criteria (section 3.2). This would allow a user to work with a tool specificall, developed for MSW, and would eliminate the need to modify, for example, a soil model to describe flow through waste. With moisture movement through solid waste better understood, contaminant transfer, and the effects of moisture movement on leachate concentration, and methane generation should be further investigated. The results of this investigation could be incorporated into a model which could then accurately predict both flow and concentration of leachate generated from municipal solid waste, as well as predicting leachate generation rates from landfills.

148

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, S., R. M. Khanbilvardi, J. Fillos, and P. J. Gleason (1992). "Two-dimensional leachate estimation through landfills." <u>ASCE Journal of Environmental Engineering</u> **118**(2): 306.
- Ahmed, S., R. M. Khanbilvardi, and P. J. Gleason (1991). <u>Field Investigation For Leachate Flow In A</u> <u>Landfill</u>. Water Resources: Planning and Management and Urban Water Resources, 18th Annual, New Orleans, Louisiana, American Society of Civil Engineers.
- Aitchison, J. (1955). "On the distribution of a positive random variable having a discrete probability mass at the origin." <u>American Statistical Association Journal</u> 50: 901.
- Aitchison, J. and J. A. C. Brown (1957). <u>The Lognormal Distribution: with special reference to its use in</u> <u>economics</u>. London, Cambridge University Press.
- Ankeny, M. D., M. Ahmed, T. C. Kaspar, and R. Horton (1991). "Simple field method for determining unsaturated hydraulic conductivity." Soil Science Society Of America Journal 55: 467.
- Arya, L. M. and J. F. Paris (1981). "A physicempirical model to predict the soil moisture characteristic from particle-size distribution and bulk density data." <u>Soil Science Society Of America Journal</u> 45: 1023.
- Baccini, P., G. Henseler, R. Figi, and H. Belevi (1987). "Water and element balances of municipal solid waste landfills." <u>Waste Management & Research</u> (5): 483.
- Baetz, B. W. and P. H. Byer (1989). "Moisture control during landfill operation." <u>Waste Management & Research</u> 7: 259.
- Bagchi, A. (1990). <u>Design, Construction and Monitoring of Sanitary Landfill</u>. New York, J. Wiley and Sons.
- Banerjee, M. and K. K. Watson (1984). "Numerical analysis of soil water movement under conditions of rapid intermittency of water application." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 20(1): 119.
- Bear, J. (1972). Dynamics of Fluids in Porous Media. New York, American Elsevier Publishing.
- Beven, K. and P. Germann (1981). "Water flow in macropores. II. A combined flow model." Journal of Soil Science 32: 15.
- Beven, K. and P. Germann (1982). "Macropores and water flow in soils." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 18(5): 1311.
- Beyer, W. H., Ed. (1968). <u>CRC Handbook of tables for Probability and Statistics</u>. CRC Handbooks. Cleveland, The Chemical Rubber Company.
- Blight, G. E., J. M. Ball, and J. J. Blight (1992). "Moisture and suction in sanitary landfills in semiarid areas." ASCE Journal of Environmental Engineering 118(6): 865.
- Booltink, H. W. G., R. Hatano, and J. Bouma (1993). "Measurement and simulation of bypass flow in a structured clay soil: a physico-morphological approach." Journal Of Hydrology 148: 149.
- Booth, C. J. and B. C. Price (1989). "Infiltration, soil moisture, and related measurements at a landfill with a fractured cover, Illinois." Journal Of Hydrology 108: 175.

- Bouma J. and J. H. M. Woosten (1979). "Flow patterns during extended saturated flow in two undisturbed swelling clay soils with different macropores." <u>Soil Science Society of America Journal</u> 43: 261.
- Bouwer, H. (1978). Groundwater Hydrology. New York, McGraw-Hill.
- Box, G. E. P., W. G. Hunter, and J. S. Hunter (1978). <u>Statistics for Experimenters</u>. New York, John Wiley and Sons.
- Brewer, R. (1964). Fabric and Mineral Analysis of Soils. New York, John Wiley and Sons.
- Britton, P. W. (1972). "Improving manual solid waste separation studies." <u>ASCE Journal of the Sanitary</u> Engineering Division 98(SA 5): 717.
- Bronswijk, J. J. B. (1988). "Modeling of water balance, cracking and subsidence of clay soils." Journal Of <u>Hydrology</u> 96: 199.
- Brooks, R. H. and A. T. Corey (1966). "Properties of porous media affecting fluid flow." <u>ASCE Journal</u> of the Irrigation and Drainage Division, 92(IR2): 61.
- Brunner, P. R. and W. R. Ernst (1986). "Alternative methods for the analysis of municipal solid waste." <u>Waste Management & Research</u> (4): 147.
- Bullock, P. and A. J. Thomasson (1979). "Rothamsted studies of soil structure. 2. Measurement and characterization of macroporosity by image analysis and comparison with data from water retention measurement. Journal of Soil Science 30: 391.
- Campbell, G. S. (1974). "A simple method for determining unsaturated conductivity from moisture retention data." <u>Soil Science</u> 117(6): 311.
- Cancelli, A., R. Cossu, F. Malpei, and D. Pessina (1988). <u>Permeability of different materials to landfill</u> <u>leachate</u>. ISWA 88 5th International Solid Wastes Conference, Copenhagen, Academic Press.
- Carpenter, P. J., R. S. Kaufmann, and B. Price (1990). "Use of resistivity soundings to determine landfill structure." <u>Ground Water</u> 28(4): 569.
- Carter, M. R., Ed. (1993). Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis. Boca Raton, Lewis Publishers.
- Chen, C., D. M. Thomas, R. E. Green, and R. J. Wagenet (1993). "Two-domain estimation of hydraulic properties in macropore soils." <u>Soil Science Society Of America Journal</u> 57: 680.
- Chen, C. and R. J. Wagenet (1992). "Simulation of water and chemicals in macropore soils. Part 1. Representation of the equivalent macropore influence and its effect on soilwater flow." <u>Journal</u> <u>Of Hydrology</u> 130: 105.
- Chen, C. and R. J. Wagenet (1992). "Simulations of water and chemicals in macropore soils. Part 2. Application of linear filter theory." Journal Of Hydrology 130: 127.
- Chen, L. Y. and L. W. Canter (in-press). "Hydrologic simulation at a hazardous waste disposal site." <u>Water</u> <u>Resources Bulletin</u>.
- Chian, S. K., F. G. Pohland, K-c. Chang, and S. R. Harper (1985). <u>Leachate generation and control at</u> <u>landfill disposal sites</u>. New Directions and Research in Waste Treatment and Residuals Management, Vancouver, B.C., University of British Columbia.

- Clapp, R. B. and G. M. Hornberger (1978). "Empirical equations for some soil hydraulic properties." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 14(4): 601.
- Connell, L. D., P. R. Bell, and R. Haverkamp (1993). "Modeling moisture movement in revegetating waste heaps, 2, application to oil shale wastes." <u>Water Resources Research</u> **29**(5): 1445.
- Connell, L. D. and P. R. F. Bell (1993). "Modeling moisture movement in revegetating waste heaps, 1, development of a finite element model for liquid and vapour transport." <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Research</u> 29(5): 1435.
- Daniel, D. (1989). "In-situ hydraulic conductivity tests for compacted clay." <u>ASCE Journal of</u> <u>Geotechnical Engineering</u> 115(9): 1205.
- Dass, P., G. R. Tamke, and C. M. Stoffel (1977). "Leachate production at sanitary landfill sites." <u>ASCE</u> <u>Journal of Environmental Engineering</u> 103(EE6): 981.
- Davidson, M. R. (1985). "Numerical calculation of saturated-unsaturated infiltration in a cracked soil." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 21(5): 709.
- Davies, O. L., Ed. (1954). The Design and Analysis of Industrial Experiments. London, Oliver and Boyd.
- Demetracopoulos, A. C. (1988). "Overview of landfill bottom liner hydraulics." <u>Water Resources Bulletin</u> 24(1): 49.
- Demetracopoulos, A. C., G. P. Korfiatis, E. L Bourodimos, and E. G. Nawy (1986). "Unsaturated flow through solid waste landfills: model and sensitivity analysis." <u>Water Resources Bulletin</u> 22(4): 601.
- Desbarats, A. J. (1990). "Macrodispersion is sand-shale sequences." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 26(1): 153.
- Duguid, J. O. and P. C. Y. Lee (1977). "Flow in fractured porous media." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 13(3): 558.
- Dullien, F. A. L. (1979). Porous Media Fluid Transport and Pore Structure. New York. Academic Press.
- Dykhuizen, R. C. (1992). "Diffusive matrix fracture coupling including the effects of flow channeling." Water Resources Research 28(9): 2447.
- Edwards, W. M., R. R. Van der Ploeg, and W. Ehlers (1979). "A numerical study of the effects of noncapillary-sized pores upon infiltration." Soil Science Society Of America Journal 43: 851.
- El-Kadi, A. I. (1993). "Core sampling versus field -measured data for modeling drainage in field soils: validity of the equivalent media approach." <u>Advances in Water Resources</u> 16: 153.
- Elrick, D. E., W. D. Reynolds, and K. A. Tan (1989). "Hydraulic conductivity measurements in the unsaturated zone using improved well analyses." <u>Ground Water Monitoring Review</u> 9(3): 184.
- Ettala, M. (1986). "Snow cover and maximum leachate discharge of a sanitary landfill." <u>Aqua Fennica</u> 16(2): 187.
- Ettala, M. (1987). "Infiltration and hydraulic conductivity at a sanitary landfill." Aqua Fennica 17(2): 231.

- Evans, D. D. and C.-h. Huang (1983). Role of desaturation on transport through fractured rock. <u>Role of the Unsaturated Zone In Radioactive and Hazardous Waste Disposal</u>. Ann Arbour, Ann Arbour Science Publishers. 165.
- Farquhar, G. J. (1989). "Leachate: production and characterization." <u>Canadian Journal of Civil</u> <u>Engineering</u> 16(3): 317.
- Farrell, D. A. and W. E. Larson (1972). "Modeling the pore structure of porous media." <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Research</u> 8(2): 699.
- Fetter, C. W. (1993). Contaminant Hydrogeology. New York, MacMillan.
- Fogg, G. E. (1986). "Groundwater flow and sand body interconnectedness in an thick multiple-aquifer system." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 22(5): 679.
- Freeze, R. A. and J. A. Cherry (1979). Groundwater. Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall.
- Fungaroli, A. A. and R. L. Steiner (1971). "Laboratory study of the behavior of a sanitary landfill." <u>Journal</u> of the Water Pollution Control Federation **43**(2): 252.
- Gee, J. R. (1981). <u>Prediction of leachate accumulation in sanitary landfills</u>. Forth Annual Madison Conference of Applied Research and Practice on Municipal and Industrial Waste, Madison, Wisconsin, University of Wisconsin.
- Gerhart, P. M. and R. J. Gross (1985). Fundamentals of Fluid Mechanics. Don Mills, Addison-Wesley.
- Gerke, H. H. and M. T. van Genuchten (1993). "Evaluation of a first-order water transfer term for variably saturated dual-porosity flow models." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 29(4): 1225.
- Gerke, H. H. and M. T. van Genuchten (1993). "A dual-porosity model for simulating the preferential movement of water and solutes in structured porous media." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 29(2): 305.
- Germann, P. and K. Beven (1981). "Water flow in soil macropores. I. An experimental approach." Journal of Soil Science 32: 1.
- Germann, P. and K. Beven (1981). "Water flow in soil therepores. III. A statistical approach." Journal of Soil Science 32: 31.
- Germann, P. and K. Beven (1985). "Kinematic wave approximation to infiltration into soils with sorbing macropores." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 21(7): 990.
- Hartz, K. E. and R. K. Ham (1983). "Moisture level and movement effects on methane production rates in landfill samples." <u>Waste Management & Research</u> (1): i39.
- Hasselriis, F. (1984). <u>Refuse-Derived Fuel Processing</u>. Boston, Butterworth.
- Hogg, W. D, and D. A. Carr (1985) <u>Rainfall Frequency Atlas For Canada</u>. Ottawa, Environment Canada, Atmospheric Environment Service.
- Hoogmoed, W. B. and J. Bouma (1980). "A simulation model for predicting infiltration into cracked clay soil." <u>Soil Science Society Of America Journal</u> 44: 458.

- Huber, M. S., C. P. Gerba, M. Abbaszadegan, J. A. Robinson, and S. M. Bradford (1994). "Study of persistence of enteric viruses in landfilled disposable diapers." <u>Environmental Science and</u> <u>Technology</u> 28(9): 1767.
- Huyakorn, P. S. and G. F. Pinder (1983). <u>Computational Methods in Subsurface flow</u>. New York, Academic Press.
- Jarvis, N. (1994). The MACRO Model (Version 3.1) Technical Description and Sample Simulations. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Soil Sciences.
- Jarvis, N. J., L. Bergstrom, and P. E. Dik (1991). "Modelling water and solute transport in macroporous soils. II. Chloride breakthrough under nonsteady flow." Journal of Soil Science 42: 71.
- Jarvis, N. J., P.-E. Jansson, P. E. Dik, and I. Messing (1991). "Modelling water and solute transport in macroporous soils. I. Model description and sensitivity analysis." <u>Journal of Soil Science</u> 42: 59.
- Jasper, S. E., J. W. Atwater, and D. S. Mavinic (1985). <u>Leachate production and characteristics as a</u> <u>function of water input and landfill configuration</u>. New Directions and Research in Waste Treatment and Residuals Management, Vancouver, B. C., University of British Columbia.
- Jasper, S. E., J. W. Atwater, and D. S. Mavinic (1985). "Leachate production and characteristics as a function of water input and landfill configuration." <u>Water Pollution Research Journal of Canada</u> 20(3): 43.
- Jury, W. A., W. R. Gardner, W. H. Gardner (1991). Soil Physics. New York, John Wiley & Sons.
- Kahn, H. D. and M. B. Rubin (1989). "Use of statistical methods in industrial water pollution control regulations in the United States." <u>Environmental Monitoring and Assessment</u> 12: 129.
- Khanbilvardi, R. M., S. Ahmed, and P. J. Gleason (1995). "Flow investigation for landfill leachate (FILL)." ASCE Journal of Environmental Engineering 121(1): 45.
- Klee, A. J. (1993). "New approaches to estimation of solid-waste quantity and composition." <u>ASCE</u> <u>Journal of Environmental Engineering</u> 119(2): 248.
- Klee, A. J. and D. Carruth (1970). "Sample weights in solid waste composition studies." <u>ASCE Journal of</u> the Sanitary Engineering Division **96**(SA 4): 945.
- Klink, R. E. and R. K. Ham (1982). "Effects of moisture movement on methane production in solid waste landfill samples." <u>Resource and Conservation</u> (8): 29.
- Korfiatis, G. P. (1984). Modeling the moisture transport through solid waste landfills. Ph.D. Dissertation, Rutgers - The State University of New Jersey.
- Korfiatis, G. P. and A. C. Demetracopoulos (1986). "Flow characteristics of landfill leachate collection systems and liners." <u>ASCE Journal of Environmental Engineering</u> **112**(3): 538.
- Korfiatis, G. P., A. C. Demetracopoulos, E. L. Bourodimos, and E. G. Nawy (1984). "Moisture transport in a solid waste column." <u>ASCE Journal of Environmental Engineering</u> **110**(4): 780.
- Long, J. C. S., J. S. Remer, C. R. Wilson, and P. A. Witherspoon (1982). "Porous media equivalents for networks of discontinuous fractures." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 18(3): 645.

- Luxmoore, R. J. (1981). "Micro-, meso-, and macroporosity of soil." <u>Soil Science Society Of America</u> Journal 45: 671.
- Major, W. (1993). An examination of vertical leachate percolation in municipal solid waste. Technical Report, Department of Civil Engineering, University of Alberta.
- Mantoglou, A. (1992). "A theoretical approach for modeling unsaturated flow in spatially variable soils: effective flow models in finite domains and nonstationarity." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 28(1): 251.
- Mao, M. C., and F. G. Pohland (1973). Continuing Investigations on Landfill Stabilization with Leachate Recirculation, Neutralization and Sludge Seeding. Special Research Report, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta.
- Marshall, T. J. (1959). Relation Between Water and Soil. Technical Communication No. 50. Commonwealth Bureau of Soils, Harpenden.
- Marshall, T. J. and J. W. Holmes (1979). Soil physics. London, Cambridge University Press.
- McDonald, P M (1967). "Disposition of soil moisture held in temporary storage in large pores." <u>Soil</u> <u>Science</u> 103: 139.
- McEnroe, B. (1988). "Drainage of landfill covers and bottom liners: unsteady case." <u>ASCE Journal of</u> <u>Environmental Engineering</u> **115**(6): 1103.
- McEnroe, B. (1988). "Steady drainage of landfill covers and bottom liners." <u>ASCE Journal of</u> <u>Environmental Engineering</u> 115(6): 1114.
- Miller, C. J. and M. Mishra (1989). "Modeling of leakage through cracked clay liners I: state of the art." <u>Water Resources Bulletin</u> 25(3): 551.
- Miller, C. J. and M. Mishra (1989). "Modeling of leakage through cracked clay liners II: a new perspective." <u>Water Resources Bulletin</u> 25(3): 557.
- Miller, I. and J. E. Freund (1985). <u>Probability and Statistics for Engineers</u>. Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Milly, P. C. D. (1985). "A mass-conservative procedure for time-stepping in models of unsaturated flow." Advances in Water Resources 8: 32.
- Mualem, Y. (1976). "A new model for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated porous media." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 12(3): 513.
- Mualem, Y. (1978). "Hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated porous media: generalized macroscopic approach." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 14(2): 325.
- Nelson, W. R., and L. D. Baver (1940). "Movement of water through soils in relation to the nature of the pores". <u>Soil Science Society of America Journal</u> 5: 69.
- Neuzil, C. E. and J. V. Tracy (1981). "Flow through fractures." Water Resources Research 18(1): 191.
- Noble, J. J. and A. E. Arnold (1991). "Experimental and mathematical modeling of moisture transport in landfills." <u>Chemical Engineering Communications</u> 100: 95.

- Nordqvist, A. W., Y. W. Tsang, C. F. Tsang, B. Dverstorp, and J. Andersson (1992). "A variable aperture fracture network model for flow and transport in fractured rocks." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 28(6): 1703.
- Oweis, I. S. and R. P. Khera (1990). Geotechnology of Waste Management. Boston, Butterworth.
- Oweis, I. S., D. A. Smith, R. B. Ellwood, and D. S. Greene (1990). "Hydraulic characteristics of municipal refuse." <u>ASCE Journal of Geotechnical Engineering</u> 116(4): 539.
- Owen, W. J. and T. A. DeRouen (1980). "Estimation of the mean for lognormal data containing zeros and left-censored values, with applications to the measurement of worker exposure to air contaminants." <u>Biometrics</u> 36: 707.
- Peters, R. R. and E. A. Klavetter (1988). "A continuum model for water movement in an unsaturated fractured rock mass." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 24(3): 416.
- Peyton, R. L. and P. R. Schroeder (1988). "Field verification of HELP model for landfills." <u>ASCE Journal</u> of Environmental Engineering 114(2): 247.
- Peyton, R. L. and P. R. Schroeder (1990). "Evaluation of landfill-liner design." <u>ASCE Journal of</u> <u>Environmental Engineering</u> 116(3): 421.
- Phillips, O. M. (1991). Flow and Reactions in Permeable Rocks. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- Ponce, V. M. (1989). Engineering Hydrology: Principles and Practices. Englewood Cliffs, Prentice Hall.
- Potter, M. C. and D. C. Wiggert (1991). Mechanics of Fluids. Englewood Cliffs, Prentice Hall.
- Price, M (1985). Introducing groundwater. London, George Allen & Unwin.
- Qasim, S. R. and J. C. Burchinal (1970). "Leaching from simulated landfills." Journal of the Water <u>Pollution Control Federation</u> 42(3): 371.
- Radnoff, D., S. Hollongshead, and G. Anderson (1992). "What legacy are we leaving with future landfill leachates." <u>Environmental Science & Engineering</u> 58: 60.
- Radulovich, R., E. Solorzano, and P. Sollins (1989). "Soil macropore size distribution from water breakthrough curves." <u>Soil Science Society of America Journal</u> 53: 556.
- Raveh, A. and Y. Avnimelech (1979). "Leaching of pollutants from sanitary landfill models." Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation 51(11): 2705.
- Reynolds, W. D. and D. E. Elrick (1986). "A method for simultaneous in-situ measurement in the vadose zone of field saturated hydraulic conductivity, sorptivity, and the conductivity-pressure head relationship." Ground Water Monitoring Review 6(1): 84.
- Roberson, C., J. A. Ripp, and J. F. Villaume (1991). <u>Leachate flow from an experimental fly ash landfill</u>. ASCE Energy Division Specialty Conference on Energy, Pittsburg, American Society of Civil Engineers.
- Robinson, H. D. and J. L. Lucas (1985). <u>The behaviour and attenuation of leachate from domestic wastes</u> in a landfill with a designed and engineered unsaturated zone. New Directions and Research in Waste Treatment and Residuals Management, Vancouver, B.C., University of British Columbia.

- Ross, P. J. (1990). "Efficient numerical methods for infiltration using Richards' equation." <u>Water</u> <u>Resources Research</u> 26(2): 279.
- Rovers, F. A. and G. J. Farquhar (1973). "Infiltration and landfill behavior." <u>ASCE Journal of</u> <u>Environmental Engineering</u> 99(EE5): 671.
- Rowe, R. K. and J. B. Booker (1991). "Pollutant migration through liner underlain by fractured soil." ASCE Journal of Geotechnical Engineering 117(12): 1902.
- Rubin, H. and D. Dveyrin (1993). "Dispersion of contaminants in fractured permeable media." <u>Water</u> <u>Science and Technology</u> 27(7-8): 165.
- Russo, D. (1988). Determining soil hydraulic properties by parameter estimation: on the selection of a model whe hydraulic properties." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 24(3): 453.
- Schroeder, P. R., T. S. Dozier, J. W. Sjostrom, and B. M. McEnroe (1994). Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance (HELP) Model. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station (WES).
- Schroeder, P. R., C. M. Lloyd, P. A. Zappi, and N. M. Aziz (1994). The Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance (HELP) Model: User's Guide for Version 3. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Risk Reduction Laboratory Cincinnati, Ohio 45268.
- Schroeder, P. R., T. S. Dozier, P. A. Zappi, B. M McEnroe, J. W. Sjostrom, and R. L. Peyton (1994). The Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance (HELP) Model: Engineering Documentation for Version 3. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Risk Reduction Laboratory Cincinnati, Ohio 45268.
- Schroeder, P. R., R. L. Peyton, B. M. McEnroe, and J. W. Sjostrom (1988). The Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance (HELP) Model. Washington, D.C., USEPA.
- Selker, J., P. Leclerq, J.-Y. Parlange, and T. Steenhuis (1992). "Fingered flow in two dimensions, 1, measurement of matric potential." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 28(9): 2513.
- Selker, J., J.-Y. Parlange, and T. Steenhuis (1992). "Fingered flow in two dimensions, 2, predicting finger moisture profile." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 28(9): 2523.
- Shan, C. and D. B. Stephens (1993). "A borehole field method to determine unsaturated hydraulic conductivity." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 29(8): 2763.
- Sharma, A., D. Weatherbe, and C. Inniss (1989). "A proposed MISA approach to setting limits and assessing compliance." <u>Environmental Monitoring and Assessment</u> 12: 113.
- Stegmann, R. (1983). Landfill water balance. Third International Symposium on Anaerobic Digestion, Boston.
- Straub, W. A. and D. R. Lynch (1982). "Models of landfill leaching: moisture flow and inorganic strength." Journal of Environmental Engineering 108(EE2): 231.
- Tchobanoglous, G., H. Theisen, and S. Vigil (1993). <u>Integrated Solid Waste Management: Engineering</u> <u>Principles and Management Issues</u>. Toronto, McGraw-Hill.
- Tsang, Y. W. and C. F. Tsang (1987). "Channel model of flow through fractured media." <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Research</u> 23(3): 467.

- Tsang, Y. W., C. F. Tsang, I. Neretnieks, and L. Moreno (1988). "Flow and tracer transport in fractured media: a variable aperture channel model and its properties." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 24(12): 2049.
- Tseng, P.-H. and W. A. Jury (1993). "Simulation of field measurement of hydraulic conductivity in UDSaturated heterogeneous soil." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 29(7): 2087.
- Tyler, S. W. and S. W. Wheatcraft (1990). "Fractal processes in soil water retention." <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Research</u> 26(5): 1047.
- U.S. EPA (1991). "Solid Waste Disposal Facility Criteria." Federal Register 56(196): 50978.
- Van der Ploeg, R. R. and P. Benecke (1974). "Unsteady, unsaturated, n-dimensional moisture flow in soil: a computer simulation program." <u>Soil Science Society Of America Journal</u> 38: 881.
- van Genuchten, M. T. (1980). "A closed-form equation for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated soils." <u>Soil Science Society Of America Journal</u> 44: 892.
- van Genuchten, M. T. and F. N. Dalton (1986). "Models for simulating salt movement in aggregated field soils." <u>Geoderma</u> 38: 165.
- Vermeul, V. R., J. D. Istok, A. L. Flint, and J. L. Pikul, Jr. (1993). "An improved method for quantifying soil macroporosity." <u>Soil Science Society Of America Journal</u> 57: 809.
- Wall, D. K. (1993). The use of biological enhancement to expedite landfill stabilization and beneficial land use. Master of Science Thesis, University of Alberta.
- Wall, D. K. and C. Zeiss (1995). "Municipal landfill biodegradation and settlement." <u>ASCE Journal of</u> <u>Environmental Engineering</u> 121(3): 214.
- Wang, J. S. Y. and T. N. Narasimhan (1985). "Hydrologic mechanisms governing fluid flow in a partially saturated, fractured, porous medium." <u>Water Resources Research</u> 21(12): 1861.
- Woods, P. H. (1992). "Moisture and suction in sanitary landfills in semiarid areas" Discussion, <u>ASCE</u> Journal of Environmental Engineering 118: 266.
- Workman, S. M. and R. W. Skaggs (1990). "PREFLO: a water management model capable of simulating preferential flow." <u>Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers</u> 33(6): 1939.
- Yeh, J. T. C. (1989). "One-dimensional steady state infiltration in heterogeneous soils." <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Research</u> 25(10): 2149.
- Zeiss, C. and W. Major (1993). "Moisture flow through municipal solid waste: patterns and characteristics." Journal of Environmental Systems 22(3): 211.
- Zeiss, C. and M. Uguccioni (1995). "Mechanisms and patterns of leachate flow in municipal solid waste landfills." Journal of Environmental Systems 23(3): 247.
- Zyrmiak, P. <u>Personal Communication</u>. Waste Management of North America, Inc., Edmonton, Alberta, September 12, 1994.